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PREFACE 

My  friends  have  been  urging  me  for  many  years 

to  write  my  recollections  of  my  work  in  the  Police 

Court  of  Toronto  where  I   have  presided  since  the 

2nd  June,  1877.  I   hesitated  and  delayed  doing  so  « 

feeling  that  it  would  be  premature  to  publish 
them  too  soon. 

My  military  recollections  were  published,  how- 
ever, in  1900,  and  my  political  reminiscences  in 

1909.  I   then  began  leisurely  to  write  this  present 

book,  and  in  a   few  years  had  it  practically  written 

and  laid  aside.  In  May  of  last  year  Mr.  Best 

of  the  Canadian  Magazine  asked  me  to  have  it 

appear  serially  in  that  magazine,  and  it  has  been 

appearing  in  it  each  month  from  July,  1919,  until 

August,  1920. 

While  it  was  going  through  the  magazine  I   was 

often  asked  by  friends  whether  particular  cases, 

in  which  they  were  interested,  or  which  they  re- 

membered, would  appear.  I   had  to  reply  that 

very  few  if  any  would  be  recorded,  and  explained 

that  I   was  not  writing  an  account  of  the  Police 

Court  work,  but  only  recollections  of  a   few  of  the 
V 



VI PEEFACE 

more  interesting  and  amnsing  cases  in  order  to 

give  a   general  idea  of  the  work,  and  the  methods 

which  guided  my  procedure. 

To  show  the  impossibility  of  giving  more  than 

a   very  few  instances,  it  will  be  interesting  to  men- 
tion that  since  I   was  appointed  in  1877  until  the 

end  of  1919,  there  have  been  650,000  cases  dealt 

with  in  the  Police  Court.  The  majority  of  these 

have  been  dealt  with  by  me,  as  for  the  first  twenty 

years  I   had  no  assistant.  A   mere  list  of  the  cases 

giving  only  the  names  of  the  parties  would  fill 

about  forty  octavo  volumes.  This  will  explain 

why  only  a   very  small  proportion  is  all  that  I 

could  possibly  include  in  these  recollections. 

George  T.  Denison. 

Heydon  Villa,  Toronto. 

August,  1920. 



INTRODUCTION 

A   book  from  Colonel  Denison’s  pen  requires  no 
introduction.  The  Canadian  who  won  the  prize  of 

the  Emperor  of  Eussia  for  the  best  History  of 

Cavalry”,  whose  work  on  ‘Alodern  Cavalry”, 
being  translated  into  several  languages,  exerted 

so  marked  an  influence  upon  military  tactics  in 

Europe,  and  whose  book  ̂ ‘The  Struggle  for  Im- 

perial Unity”  aroused  profound  interest  through- 
out the  Empire,  is  too  well  established  in  literary 

reputation  to  need  any  recital  of  his  achievements. 
It  is  the  whole  career  of  Colonel  Denison  whether 

as  military  enthusiast,  as  author,  as  one  of  the 

outstanding  figures  in  the  movement  for  Im- 
perial consolidation,  or  as  a   magistrate  of  unusual 

experience  and  distinction,  which  may  fittingly  be 

summarized  here  for  the  benefit  of  the  younger 
generation.  The  success  of  his  labours  is  one  of 

the  rare  instances  in  which  a   man  has  exerted  in- 

fluence and  achieved  distinction  far  beyond  the 

bounds  of  his  own  country  and  in  matters  of  the 

utmost  moment,  without  the  adventitious  aid  of  a 

political  career. 

Colonel  Denison’s  military  activities  may  per- 
haps have  received  an  impulse  as  much  from 

Vll 
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family  tradition  as  from  personal  leanings.  When 

very  young  he  joined  the  cavalry  corps  which  his 

grandfather  and  father  had  organized,  and  ̂ ^as  on 

active  service  during  the  Fenian  Eaid  of  1866  and 

the  North-West  Kebellion  of  1885.  The  young 
Canadian  officer  was  an  intelligent  student  of  the 

campaigns  of  the  American  Civil  War,  and  was 

thus  enabled,  we  may  be  sure,  to  keep  his  military 
theories  in  close  touch  with  actual  warfare  on  the 

grand  scale.  His  intimacy  with  many  of  the  mili- 
tary chiefs  of  the  South,  some  of  whom  took 

refuge  in  Canada  during  or  after  the  war,  added 

to  his  grasp  of  the  whole  subject  of  war.  Colonel 

Denison’s  relations  with  the  Southern  leaders,  in 
whose  cause  his  sympathies  were  enlisted,  form  a 

romantic  passage  in  his  life.  These  experiences, 

chronicled  in  his  book  ‘‘Soldiering  in  Canada”  are 
vividly  interesting  and  at  times  thrilling.  One  can- 

not recall  any  Canadian  autobiography  with  the 

same  charm  of  variety,  incident  and  exhilarating 
anecdote. 

Circumstances,  however,  shaped  for  the  military 
historian  and  critic  other  roads  to  distinction.  The 

peaceful  profession  of  the  law,  not  war  and  its 

alarms,  was  to  be  his  chief  avocation.  His  mili- 

tary studies  and  his  services  in  1866  and 
1885  were  the  outstanding  events  in  what 

might  have  developed  into  a   military  career. 
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So  ardent  a   temperament  as  Colonel  Deni- 

son’s would  not  content  itself  with  money- 
getting and  strict  devotion  to  selfish  aims. 

Both  by  inheritance  and  conviction  he  was  an  Im- 
perialist. So  were  the  great  men  who  founded 

the  Dominion  in  1867,  being  equally  attached  to 

Canada  and  to  the  Empire.  Colonel  Denison 

shared  the  same  views.  So,  shortly  after  Con- 
federation, he  was  one  of  five  young  men  who 

founded  the  ‘^Canada  First”  party.  By  a   per- 
fectly normal  process,  when  this  organization 

found  itself  confronted  by  designs  tending  to  sever 

the  tie  between  the  young  Dominion  and  the  Em- 
pire, Colonel  Denison  passed  on  to  the  promotion 

of  the  Imperial  Movement.  He  wrote,  spoke,  and 

laboured  with  the  same  vivacity  and  unselfishness 

as  he  had  shown  in  his  military  work.  He  was  a 

man  of  no  party,  ready  to  approve  of  any  effort 

for  the  upbuilding  of  Canada  and  the  Empire 

from  whatever  quarter  it  might  come.  But  the 

issue  has  had  to  be  clearly  defined  along  these 

lines  to  draw  him  from  the  vantage  ground  of 

splendid  isolation.  This  independent  position, 

and  his  indifference  to  titles  and  distinctions, 

which  he  has  always  declined,  increased  his  in- 

fluence in  all  Imperial  movements.  No  one  who 

knew  him  would  suppose  that  he  was  actuated  by 

the  desire  of  personal  advancement.  But  the  re- 
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proach  was  one  commonly  made,  often  unjustly, 

against  the  pioneers  of  Imperialism.  To  keep 

himself  free  from  such  a   suspicion,  as  hampering 

to  effort,  was  characteristic  of  the  prudence  and 

foresight  which  have  always  tempered  the  reso- 
lute courage  of  Colonel  Denison.  As  one  of  the 

chief  supporters  of  the  old  Imperial  Federation 

League,  with  Mr.  D ’Alton  McCarthy,  Mr.  Alex- 
ander McNeill,  Principal  Grant,  and  Sir  George 

Parkin,  he  utilized  that  body  as  a   means  of  draw- 
ing together  all  those  who  favoured  the  closer 

union  of  the  Empire.  The  league  in  England  was 

dissolved,  leaving  the  forces  behind  it  without  a 

leader  and  without  any  etfective  means  of  carry- 
ing on  the  work.  In  1894,  being  chairman  of  a 

committee  of  Canadian  Imperialists  who  were  sent 

to  England  to  discuss  reorganization,  he  helped 

to  found  the  British  Empire  League  and  became 

the  first  President  of  the  Canadian  League.  He 

secured  for  the  Canadian  organization  and  its 

branches  a   freedom  of  action  in  respect  to  com- 
mercial policy  which  was  destined  to  become  a 

poAverful  lever  in  producing  the  most  important 

practical  results,  such  as  Imperial  penny  postage, 

the  West  Indian  sugar  preference,  and  the  abro- 

gation of  the  Belgian-German  treaties  which  had 
retarded  Imperial  union  in  tariff  matters  for  forty 

years.  He  also  supported  giving  Great  Britain 
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a   preferential  tariff.  This  important  body  car- 
ried the  Imperial  cause  throngli  a   trying  period 

in  its  history.  The  story  is  splendidly  told 

in  ‘^The  Struggle  for  Imperial  Unity a   book 
which  will  never  lose  its  influence  as  a   chronicle 

of  development  in  the  history  of  the  British 

Empire.  In  Canada,  Colonel  Denison  drew 

the  statesmen  on  both  sides  of  politics  into 

sympathy,  either  active  or  passive,  with  the  move- 
ment known  as  Imperialism,  and  in  Great  Britain 

he  enlisted  the  co-operation  of  such  statesmen  as 

Lord  Salisbury  and  Joseph  Chamberlain  in  draw- 
ing the  ties  of  Empire  closer  together.  These 

achievements  could  not  be  adequately  set  down 

here.  They  form  in  themselves  a   wonderful  story 

of  v/hat  one  man  of  intense  conviction,  ceaseless 

energy  and  unselfish  aims,  can  do,  and  induce 

others  to  do,  in  carrying  out  great  projects,  the 

effects  of  which  will  be  felt  in  the  generations  to 

come.  Few  Canadians  realize,  and  young  men 
especially  cannot  be  expected  to  know,  how  much 

the  position  of  the  British  Empire,  as  we  see  it  to- 

day, owes  to  the  vigour  and  prescience  of  this 
citizen  of  Toronto. 

The  Reminiscences  embodied  in  the  following 

pages  reveal  a   phase  of  Colonel  Denison’s  life 
work  entirely  different  from  those  to  which  re- 

ference has  been  made.  While  absent  from  Can- 

ada in  1877  on  a   visit  to  Europe  he  was  appointed 
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police  magistrate  of  Toronto  by  the  Government 

of  Ontario,  and  began  that  term  of  service  which 

still  continues.  It  has  been  marked  throughout  by 

a   love  of  justice,  a   fearlessness  and  an  insight 

which  amply  justify  the  appointment.  During  this 

long  period  the  fame  of  the  Police  Magistrate  of 

Toronto  as  a   conscientious  and  impartial  judicial 

officer,  has  spread  throughout  Canada.  The 

Eeminiscences  are,  of  course,  little  more  than  a 

selection  from  the  long  list  of  interesting  cases 
and  incidents  that  have  come  before  him.  To 

have  mentioned  even  the  principal  cases  would 

have  filled  too  bulky  a   volume,  or  probably  several 

volumes.  Colonel  Denison,  has,  therefore,  wisely 

confined  himself  to  making  choice  of  episodes 

which,  for  one  reason  or  another,  reflect  the 

various  lights  and  shades  of  a   forty  years’  ex- 
perience of  police  court  trials.  The  result  is  a 

captivating  book.  That  it  should  appear  in  con- 

nection with  the  eighty-first  birthday  of  the  vet- 
eran magistrate,  whose  eye  is  not  dim  nor  his 

natural  force  abated,  is  eloquent  proof  that  a   life 

passed  in  unceasing  toil,  public  service,  and  de- 

votion to  duty,  produces,  happily  and  inevitably, 

a   serene  old  age.  That  Colonel  Denison  may  long 

continue  to  enjoy  health,  prosperity,  and  happi- 
ness, is  the  ardent  wish  of  his  countless  friends 

and  admirers.  jj  COLQUHOUN. 
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RECOLLECTIONS  OF  A 

POLICE  MAGISTRATE 

CHAPTER  I. 

Appointment  as  Police  Magistrate. 

IN  May,  1877, 1   was  in  London  on  my  way  home from  St.  Petersburg,  and  had  just  published 

my  ‘‘History  of  Cavalry I   had  been  away 
from  home  for  eight  months  and  had  taken 

passage  to  sail  for  Canada  in  a   few  days,  when 

I   unexpectedly  received  a   cablegram  from  Hon. 

Oliver  Mowat,  Premier  of  Ontario,  asking  me  if 

I   would  accept  the  appointment  of  Police  Magis- 
trate of  Toronto.  This  surprised  me,  as  I   had 

made  no  request  for  any  appointment,  and  had 

no  desire  to  take  a   public  office.  In  fact  it  was 

contrary  to  the  tradition  of  my  family,  no  one  of 

whom  up  to  that  time  had  ever  taken  any  civil 

appointment. 

I   promptly  decided  to  refuse,  and  prepared  a 

cablegram  declining  the  offer,  but  on  second 
1 
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thoughts  concluded  to  wait  until  I   reached  home 

before  finally  deciding.  I   therefore  replied  that 

I   was  returning  at  once  and  would  see  Mr.  Mowat 

on  my  arrival. 

When  I   saw  the  Premier,  he  urged  me  very 

strongly  to  accept  the  position.  He  told  me 

that  there  were  a   number  of  applicants,  but  the 

Government  desired  particularly  that  I   should 

take  it,  and  he  put  the  matter  in  such  a   kindly  way, 

and  gave  such  strong  reasons,  that  I   agreed  to 

accept,  with  the  idea  that  I   should  try  it  for  a 

year,  and  if  I   did  not  like  the  work  I   could  easily 

resign. 

I   arranged  with  my  brother,  the  late  Lieutenant- 
Colonel  Fred.  C.  Denison,  C.M.G.,  M.P.,  who  was 

my  partner  in  my  legal  business,  that  in  accepting 

the  position,  it  was  to  be  on  the  distinct  under- 

standing that  neither  he  nor  any  partner  of  his 

was  to  appear  as  a   barrister  in  my  court,  and  I 

made  over  all  my  business  to  him  and  gave  up 

all  practice,  although  at  that  time  there  was  noth- 

ing to  prevent  me  from  practising.  I   also  decided 

that  I   would  take  no  fees  of  any  kind,  nor  act  on 

commissions  or  arbitrations,  or  directorships  of 

companies,  or  accept  anything  that  would  put  me 
under  obligations  to  anyone.  I   was  sworn  in  on 
the  2nd  June,  1877,  and  have  continued  in  the  office 
ever  since. 
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I   found  out  at  once  how  wise  it  was  that  I   had 

decided  to  accept  no  favours.  It  had  been  the  cus- 

tom of  my  predecessors  to  continue  their  law 

practice,  and  do  any  outside  work  where  they 

could  get  fees,  and  to  accept  passes  from  railways, 

steamboats,  theatres,  etc.  Very  soon  after  my 

appointment  I   received  season  passes  on  the  On- 
tario railways,  and  on  steamboat  lines,  etc.  I   sent 

them  all  back  politely  explaining  that  formerly  I 

would  have  been  glad  to  receive  them,  but  that  I 

had  recently  been  appointed  Police  Magistrate 

and  could  not  now  accept  them. 

This  policy  has  been  a   great  satisfaction  to  me 

ever  since.  I   am  independent  of  everyone.  I   am 

constantly  trying  cases  between  the  great  railway 

companies,  and  citizens,  thieves,  and  trespassers, 

and  I   am  just  as  independent  of  the  great  railway 

companies,  who  can  and  do  influence  both  the  Do- 
minion and  Provincial  Governments,  as  I   am  of 

the  poor  tramp  who  is  found  trespassing  on  their 

lines,  or  stealing  a   ride. 

Not  long  before  my  appointment  the  powers  of 

police  magistrates  had  been  very  much  enlarged, 

and  shortly  after  they  were  still  more  increased. 

With  the  consent  of  the  accused,  I   have  been  able 

to  try  all  the  serious  offences,  except  murder,  man- 
slaughter, rape,  high  treason,  and  one  or  two 

crimes  connected  with  the  misuse  of  explosives, 
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without  a   jury,  and  with  power  in  some  cases  to 

sentence  to  imprisonment  for  life.  This  wide 

jurisdiction  has  made  my  Court,  for  the  last 

forty  years,  the  principal  criminal  court  of  On- 

tario, for  up  to  two  or  three  years  ago  about  ninety 

per  cent,  of  the  indictable  offences  have,  with  the 

consent  of  the  accused,  been  tried  by  me.  The 

last  three  years  about  eighty-three  per  cent. 
I   soon  felt  that  I   might  do  a   good  service  to  the 

community  by  giving  them  honest,  even-handed 
justice,  for  there  was  a   great  opening  for  that  kind 

of  work  in  the  Police  Court,  with  the  tremendous 

powers  that  had  been  placed  in  the  hands  of  police 

magistrates.  This  feeling  has  led  me  to  retain  my 

office  for  so  many  years.  More  than  twenty  years 

ago  the  late  Sir  John  Thompson,  who  was  then 

Prime  Minister  of  Canada,  inquired  through  my 

brother,  the  member  for  West  Toronto,  whether  I 

would  accept  a   position  on  the  High  Court  of 

Justice.  I   was  much  pleased  at  the  otfer,  but  de- 
clined it  at  once  (although  my  salary  would  have 

been  much  larger),  because  I   felt  that  my  position 

was  more  important  in  many  ways,  and  that  I 

might  be  much  more  useful  to  the  community 
where  I   was. 

The  question  of  salary  did  not  weigh  with  me  a 

particle.  I   have  always  felt  that  the  pecuniary 
side  of  any  question  should  not  be  allowed  to  have 
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undue  weight.  I   fully  agree  with  the  saying  of  the 

great  General  (Chinese)  Gordon  on  the  question 

of  money.  He  said : 

^Hf  a   man  cares  for  wealth,  or  fears  death,  he  is 
the  slave  of  others.  If  he  is  inditferent  to  them, 

he  is  free  and  their  master.’’ 

Solomon  says,  ‘^How  much  better  it  is  to  get 

wisdom  than  gold.” 
I   refused,  as  I   have  said,  to  act  as  president  or 

director  of  any  company,  and  I   am  pleased  to  see 

that  of  late  years  provision  has  been  made  by  stat- 
ute preventing  judges  from  accepting  such  offices. 

Such  legislation  should  not  have  been  necessary, 

but  the  practice  at  one  time  was  a   common  one.  I 

also  decided  to  take  no  fees.  I   have  a   great  aver- 
sion to  the  fee  system ;   in  time  it  is  sure  to  bring 

the  pendulum  off  the  plumb.  A   man  acting  in  a 

judicial  capacity  should  have  nothing  to  affect 

him,  pecuniarly  or  otherwise,  in  deciding  either 
way. 

I   have  acted  on  these  principles  ever  since  I 

have  been  on  the  bench,  and  it  has  been  a   great 

advantage  and  satisfaction  to  me. 

I   have  been  continually  urged  to  write  the  re- 

miniscences of  my  experience  in  the  Police  Court, 

and  in  connection  with  it,  some  of  my  recollec- 

tions will  be  found  in  the  following  pages. 



CHAPTER  II. 

I   CoMME]!^CE  Work 

I   HAD  arranged,  as  I   have  said,  with  my brother  that  he  was  not  to  appear  before  me. 

We  had  never  done  any  business  in  the  Police 

Court,  but  the  first  day  I   held  court,  my  brother ’s 
office  was  besieged  by  a   crowd  of  litigants  and  de- 

fendants endeavouring  to  retain  him  to  take  their 

cases.  A   few  days  of  curt  refusals  put  a   stop  to 

these  attempts  at  influencing  my  court. 

For  the  first  few  days  after  my  taking  up  the 

work  the  entrance  to  my  private  office  was  blocked 

in  the  morning  by  a   number  of  plaintiffs  and  de- 
fendants, intending  to  continue  a   custom  which  had 

been  long  in  existence,  of  interviewing  the  Police 

Magistrate  about  their  oases  beforehand.  They 

were  usually  provided  with  letters  from  aldermen 

telling  the  magistrate  what  to  do  in  their  cases. 

I   stood  in  front  of  my  door  and  as  each  letter  was 

handed  to  me  I   opened  it  in  the  presence  of  the 

others,  glanced  at  it  hurriedly,  and  told  the  bearer 

to  tell  his  alderman  to  come  and  give  his  evi- 
dence in  open  court  under  oath,  and  I   would  then 

6 



A   POLICE  MAGISTRATE 7 

tear  the  letter  up  in  the  presence  of  them  all.  As 
the  aldermen  at  that  time  had  the  control  over 

my  salary,  I   felt  it  necessary  to  take  a   very  firm 
stand  at  the  outset.  It  only  took  about  a   week  to 

stop  that  practice. 
At  that  time  the  amount  of  business  in  the  Police 

Court  was  not  large,  about  5,000  cases  per  annum. 

It  has  been  increasing  with  marvellous  rapidity. 

In  1880  the  cases  all  told  amounted  to  5,939.  In 

1900  the  number  had  increased  to  9,929.  Ten 

years  later  the  number  was  24,826,  and  in  1913, 

39,654;  of  these  3,849  were  indictable  offences,  of 

which  641  were  committed  for  trial,  the  remainder 

dealt  with  by  me,  except  when  I   was  occasionally 

absent,  so  that  I   must  have  dealt  with  about  3,000 

indictable  otfences  summarily,  and  in  addition 

with  probably  10,000  of  other  cases,  being  my 

share  of  the  remainder  of  the  cases  for  the  year. 

I   might  state  here  that  a   few  years  ago  in  reply 
to  a   request  sent  to  him,  I   received  from  Sir 

Albert  de  Rutzen,  the  Chief  Police  Magistrate 
of  London,  a   full  statement  of  the  cases  dealt  with 

by  the  police  magistrates  of  that  ctiy.  From  it 
I   find  that  there  are  fourteen  police  courts,  with 
two  magistrates  for  each,  and  that  198,711  cases 
were  tried  or  investigated  in  the  London  courts 
in  the  year  ending  13th  December,  1913.  This 
would  be  an  average  of  14,193  for  each  court,  or 
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7,096  for  each  magistrate.  In  the  same  year  Mr. 

Kingsford  and  I   had  39,654  cases,  an  average  of 

about  twenty  thonsand  each. 

When  these  figures  are  compared  with  the  other 
criminal  business  of  the  Province  the  contrast  is 

amazing.  The  High  Court  of  Justice,  twelve 

judges,  for  the  year  1912,  in  all  the  Assizes,  for  the 

forty-six  counties  of  Ontario,  dealt  with  152  in- 
dictable offences.  The  County  Court  Judges  in  the 

forty-six  counties,  in  the  Quarter  Sessions,  and 

the  County  Judges  ’   Criminal  Court  without  a   jury, 
in  the  same  year,  dealt  with  1,247  indictable  cases, 

making  for  all  the  judges  in  Ontario  1,399  indic- 
able offences,  while  I   had  the  same  year  3,849,  of 

which  nuniber  641  were  committed  for  trial. 

I   doubt  if  there  is  any  judge  or  magistrate, 

either  in  Canada  or  in  England,  who  has  tried  as 

many  indictable  offences  as  I   have  in  the  last  forty 

years,  or  had  so  wide  an  experience  in  the  ad- 

ministration of  criminal  justice.  In  England  the 

powers  of  the  police  magistrates  are  limited  to 

six  months’  sentences.  Mine  in  some  cases  extend 
to  life  sentences. 



CHAPTER  III. 

Methods  of  the  Police  Court. 

Before  describing  cases  coining  before  me, I   will  give  an  idea  of  the  general  principles 

upon  which  I   have  carried  on  my  business. 

My  main  desire  has  been  above  all  things  to  ad- 

minister substantial  justice  in  all  the  cases  com- 

ing before  me.  This  I   felt  should  be  done  in  pre- 
ference to  following  legal  technicalities  and  rules, 

if  close  adherence  to  them  would  result  in  in- 

justice. I   paid  little  or  no  attention  to  any  rules 

that  are  often  followed  blindly,  if  in  the  par- 
ticular instances  they  would  have  interfered  with 

fair  and  impartial  administration  of  justice  be- 

tween litigants.  In  the  following  pages  I   wll  give 

a   number  of  illustrations  of  my  methods. 

There  is  one  rule  against  leading  questions.  In 

some  cases  they  should  not  be  allowed,  in  many 

cases  they  are  very  useful.  I   never  follow  pre- 
cedents unless  they  agree  with  my  views.  The 

men  practising  in  my  court  have  known  for  years 
back  that  there  was  no  use  quoting  precedents  to 
me.  It  is  very  rare  that  cases  are  exactly  alike, 

9 
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and  the  decision  in  one.  case  might  he  right,  while 

in  another  apparently  like  it  it  would  he  unjust. 

To  save  time  I   used  to  chaff  lawyers  wanting 

to  read  them,  saying,  ̂ ‘Why  read  me  another 

judge ’s  opinion.  If  it  agrees  with  my  view,  what 
is  the  object?  If  it  takes  a   different  vieW;  why 

should  I   follow  another  man’s  mistakes?  Some- 

times I   have  had  a   lav/yer  quote  some  very  promi- 

nent writer  on  some  branch  of  law,  as,  for  ex- 
ample, Russell  on  Crimes.  After  he  had  read  the 

paragraph  I   would  say,  ‘^Is  that  Mr.  Russell’s 

opinion?”  ̂ ‘Yes,”  would  he  the  reply.  “Well, 

my  opinion  is  different.  ’   ’   I   was  once  told  that  he 
was  the  greatest  authority  on  the  subject.  My 

reply  was,  “Well,  I   am  sure  he  has  not  half  as 

much  authority  in  this  court  as  I   have.  ’   ’ 
As  a   matter  of  fact,  my  experience  had  been  so 

great,  and  the  cases  so  numerous,  that  a   new  point 

could  hardly  come  up  that  I   had  not  known  all 

about  long  before,  and  I   had  not  time  to  spare  for 

long  arguments  by  men  trying  to  teach  me  what 

was  already  clear  to  me. 

I   am  always  quite  satisfied  to  have  my  cases  ap- 

pealed. At  one  time  one  judge  thought  I   ought 

to  be  regulated  a   bit,  and  overruled  some  of  my 

cases.  On  one  occasion  he  had  to  uphold  my  de- 

cision. The  next  day  the  late  Mr.  Snelling,  K.C., 

met  me  and  congratulated  me.  ̂    ‘   What  for  ?   ’   ’   said 
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I.  ‘‘Why,  your  decision  in  the  case  of       and 

  was  strongly  upheld  yesterday  hy  the  Su- 

perior Court/’  My  answer  was,  “Well,  Snelling, 

I   still  think  I   was  right.” 

On  the  question  of  precedents  there  is  some- 
thing rather  illogical  about  the  whole  principle. 

In  an  argument  one  lawyer  may  quote  two  or 

three  precedents  all  running  in  one  direction,  and 

the  judge  may  be  inclined  to  follow  them,  when 

the  opposing  counsel  will  rise  and  say,  “My  Lord, 
those  cases  have  been  overruled  by  a   later  deci- 

sion”, and  he  quotes  it  to  uphold  the  opposite 
view;  the  judge  is  supposed  to  follow  the  later 

case,  which  is  held  to  be  the  best  law.  Therefore 

the  judges  who  overrule  precedents  and  go  against 

them  are  supposed  to  give  better  law  than  those 

who  follow  them.  Why,  therefore,  follow  prece- 
dents I   The  best  plan  is  to  go  into  the  whole  facts 

and  decide  what  is  fair  and  right  between  the 

parties. 
When  I   have  heard  all  the  evidence  on  both  sides 

in  trying  a   case,  I   come  at  once  to  one  of  three 
conclusions : 

1,  the  man  is  innocent ; 

2,  the  man  is  guilty ; 

3, 1   am  not  sure.  The  doubtful  ones  are  the  diffi- 

cult cases,  and  I   will  wait  and  try  to  get  further 
evidence,  and  when  I   have  exhausted  everything, 
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I   give  the  prisoner  the  benefit  of  the  doubt,  if  I 
am  still  doubtful. 

I   may  also  say  that  I   depend  upon  an  intuitive 

feeling  as  to  a   man’s  guilt  or  innocence  and  not  to 

weighing  and  balancing  the  evidence.  I   depend 

upon  this  feeling  in  spite  of  evidence,  and  will  sub- 
sequently give  illustrations  of  the  advantage  of 

doing  so. 

On  several  occasions  I   have  had  disputes  about 

horse  trades.  A   man  not  knowing  much  about 

horses  would  buy  a   horse  from  a   trader  who  would 

say  the  horse  was  sound  and  a   good  worker,  and 

afterwards  the  purchaser  would  find  that  the  horse 
was  unsound  and  not  able  to  work.  He  would 

complain  that  he  had  been  defrauded.  He  would 

get  a   summons,  and  the  case  would  come  before 

me,  charging  the  trader  with  defrauding  him  by 

false  pretences  out  of  the  price  of  the  horse,  say 
$100.  The  facts  would  come  out  before  me  and 

evidence  of  veterinary  surgeons  would  prove  that 

the  horse  was  worthless.  I   would  then  say  to  the 

trader,  ‘^What  have  you  to  say?” 

He  would  reply,  ̂ ‘The  horse  is  all  right.”  I 
would  say,  ‘‘You  are  sure  of  that?”  “Yes.” 

“Is  it  worth  $100?” 
“Yes.” 

‘‘Are  you  sure?” 
“Yes.” 
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‘   ‘   Then  there  is  no  difficnlty,  yon  take  your  horse 

back,  and  give  the  complainant  the  $100.  ’   ’ 
The  man  would  object.  I   would  remand  the  case 

for  a   few  days  and  say,  ̂ ‘If  you  don’t  do  that, 
then  I   will  know  you  intended  to  cheat  him  from 

the  beginning,  and  I   will  know  what  to  do.” 
This  scheme  generally  put  things  right  and  no 

one  was  wronged. 

From  the  beginning  of  my  occupation  of  the 

Bench,  I   was  punctual  in  my  attendance,  going  on 

the  Bench  every  morning  while  the  town  clock  was 

striking  ten.  My  regularity  attracted  in  time  the 

attention  of  the  reporters,  and  about  a   year  after 

my  appointment  the  following  item  appeared  in 

one  of  the  morning  papers : 

“The  punctuality  of  Colonel  G.  T.  Denison,  Police 
Magistrate  for  the  city  of  Toronto,  is  something  whicli 

passes  the' ordinary  understanding.  He  goes  by  obser- 
vatory time  ,and  occasionally  corrects  it.  He  generally 

bolts  in  at  the  east  door  as  the  third  beat  of  ten  is  boomed 

out  from  St.  James’s,  but  if  the  bell  should  reach  the 
fifth  clang,  and  no  magistrate  is  yet  apparent,  the  faces 

of  the  officials  and  habitues  begin  to  grow  long  and  look 

uneasy;  should  it  reach  eight,  a   look  of  positive  alarm 

spreads  over  the  countenances  of  the  deputy,  his  assis- 
tants and  the  waiting  reporters.  What  can  be  the 

matter?  While  every  ear  is  strained  and  the  silence 

becomes  oppressive,  suddenly  the  east  door  opens,  his 

Worships  bounds  in,  and  before  nine  and  ten  have  been 



14 A   POLICE  MAGISTRATE 

recorded  by  the  respectable  bell  in  the  tall  steeple  the  first 

drunk  is  being  conveyed  tenderly  below,  wondering  how 

he  will  pay  that  dollar  and  costs  which  has  just  been  im- 
posed upon  him.  What  would  happen  if  the  clock  should 

finish  striking  before  he  appeared  ?   The  question  makes 

us  giddy.’^ 

This  item  shows  how  soon  I   had  gained  a   repu- 
tation for  punctuality,  hut  the  subsequent  record 

is  very  remarkable.  During  the  forty  years  and 

more  that  have  since  elapsed  I   have  never  been  one 

second  late  in  going  on  the  Bench  in  the  morning.- 
It  is  strange  that  no  accident  of  any  kind,  or 

stoppage  of  my  watch,  or  any  other  cause  has  ever 

broken  this  record.  It  necessitates  an  explana- 
tion. I   always  entered  the  Court  before  the  last 

stroke  of  the  town  clock.  Sometimes  the  clock 

has  been  out  of  order,  in  which  case  I   went  by 

my  own  watch,  but  the  secret  of  my  always  being 

on  time  was  due  to  two  causes.  In  the  first  place 

I   always  made  a   point  of  being  in  my  office  fifteen 

minutes  ahead  of  time,  and  in  the  next  place,  up  to 

the  last  year  or  two  I   always  walked  the  three 

miles  to  the  Court  House,  so  that  snow-storms 

cutting  off  the  power  on  the  street  cars,  or  any 

other  like  difficulty  never  prevented  me  from  being 
on  time.  I   have  often  wondered  that  I   have  been 

able  to  maintain  for  so  many  years  such  absolute 

regularity. 



CHAPTER  IV. 

Police  Court  Counsel 

Among  the  lawyers  practising  in  the  To- ronto Police  Court  in  my  time,  the  wittiest 

and  most  humorous  was  Wiliam  G.  Mur- 

dock. He  was  a   genial  and  kindly  man,  and  a 

great  favourite  with  everybody.  The  finest  thing 

about  his  wit  was  its  amiable  geniality.  I   never 

heard  him  make  a   joke  that  the  person  at  whose 

expense  it  was  made  did  not  enjoy  it  as  much  as 

anyone.  Some  so-called  wits  gain  their  reputa- 

tion by  making  sharp  and  cutting  remarks  at 

someone  else^s  expense,  which  often  will  produce 
a   laugh.  I   do  not  call  that  type  of  humour  wit. 

Murdock  was  constantly  joking  at  the  expense 

of  Henry  Reburn,  sergeant  of  the  detectives. 

When  he  would  begin  it  was  a   pleasure  to  see  how 

Reburn’s  face  would  lighten  up  in  anticipation. 
Murdock  and  I   often  exchanged  jokes.  I   will 

mention  one  instance  as  an  example.  He  was 

applying  for  bail  for  a   man  who  had  committed  a 

forgery  of  a   cheque  for  $2,000,  and  I   objected, 
saying  the  case  was  too  serious. 

15 
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Murdock  based  his  argument  on  the  ground 

that  the  man  could  not  be  quite  right  in  his  mind, 

from  the  manner  in  which  he  committed  the  of- 

fence. I   replied:  ‘‘You  know  my  view  on  that 
point,  Mr.  Murdock.  I   do  not  believe  that  any 

man  of  really  sound  mind  will  commit  crime.  I 

agree  with  Josh  Billings,  who  says,  ‘When  a   man 
makes  up  his  mind  to  become  a   rascal,  he  had  bet- 

ter first  examine  himself  closely  and  see  whether 

he  ain’t  better  constructed  for  a   fool’.” 
Murdock  drawled  out  in  his  inimitable  way: 

“Yes,  I   know  that  view  is  held  by  your  Worship, 

and  (with  a   pause)  Josh  Billings.” 

“One  more,  Mr.  Murdock,”  I   replied,  “King 

Solomon,  ’   ’   and,  holding  up  three  of  my  fingers,  I 

added,  “there  are  just  three  of  us.” 
Poor  Murdock  had  a   pathetic  ending.  Playfully 

pretending  to  fence  with  a   friend,  using  an  um- 

brella, the  friend’s  umbrella  accidently  entered  his 
eye  and  he  died  in  a   few  hours.  He  was  deeply 

regretted  by  all  who  knew  him,  and  was  a   great 

loss  to  the  court  officials  and  attendants,  who  very 

much  missed  his  kindly  and  genial  presence. 

N.  G.  Bigelow  was  a   constant  figure  in  the  Police 

Court,  and  did  a   large  business  in  the  defence  of 

criminals.  He  was  a   man  of  considerable  ability, 
but  died  in  middle  age. 

Mr.  Holmes  was  another  very  prominent  practi- 
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tioner  in  my  court.  He  was  a   young  man  of  re- 

markable ability  and  shrewdness,  but  was  a   little 

too  sharp  in  his  methods.  He  could  sheer  olf  dan- 

gerous ground  in  cross-examination  with  the  most 

remarkable  skill.  I   never  met  a   man  who  could 

equal  him.  The  only  trouble  was  that  in  his  cases 

it  kept  me  on  the  closest  watch  to  guard  against 

missing  important  points.  Poor  fellow,  he  was 

accustomed  to  take  morphine,  and  once  taking  a 

little  too  much  of  it  died  before  he  could  be 

revived. 

There  was  another  barrister  who  had  a   very 

hard  struggle  to  make  a   living,  who  defended  the 

poorer  class  of  criminals,  and  did  not  hold  a   very 

good  position  in  the  profession.  He  came  to  me 

one  day  to  ask  my  advice.  The  people  at  Sault 

Ste.  Marie,  then  a   small  village  in  a   remote  and 

rather  unsettled  district,  desired  to  induce  a   law- 

yer to  settle  in  the  place,  because  the  county 

attorney  was  the  only  lawyer  in  the  district,  and 

as  the  plaintiffs  always  employed  him,  the  defen- 

dants could  not  get  any  legal  assistance  or  advice. 

A   subscription  of  $500  was  raised,  and  an  an- 

nouncement made  that  it  would  be  paid  to  a   lawyer 

who  would  settle  in  Sault  Ste.  Marie.  The  offer 

had  been  made  to  this  gentleman,  and  he  asked 

me  what  I   would  advise.  We  knew  eacli  other 

very  well,  so  I   replied: 
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‘‘I  would  take  it  and  go  np,  and  I   should  not 
wonder  if  within  a   year  they  would  pay  you  $1,000 

to  send  you  hack  again  to  Toronto.’’ 
He  took  the  joke  good-naturedly,  hut  he  went  to 

Sault  Ste.  Marie,  and,  strange  to  say,  he  was  hack 

practising  in  my  court  within  a   year.  He  died  a 

young  man,  comparatively  speaking. 

On  one  occasion  the  late  Groldwin  Smith  gave  a 

legal  dinner  at  The  Orange,  at  which  the  late  Dal- 

ton McCarthy,  Q.C.,  Chief  Justice  Sir  John  Hag- 
arty,  I,  and  others  were  present.  To  start 

the  conversation  in  a   legal  direction,  Goldwin 

Smith  said  that  he  thought  there  was  a   difference 

in  the  custom  in  the  courts  in  England,  in  the 

United  States,  and  in  Canada,  that  in  England  the 

judges  ruled  their  courts,  in  the  States  the  lawyers 

ruled,  but  that  in  Canada  it  was  a   sort  of  joint 

affair.  After  some  discussion  I   said,  ‘‘Well,  I 

don’t  know  much  about  the  other  courts,  but  in 

mine  I   am  in  command.  ’   ’ 

“I  should  think  you  are,”  said  Mr.  McCarthy. 

“Yours  is  a   regular  court-martial.  I   have  been 

there,  sometimes,  but  I   don’t  like  courts-martial, 

so  I   don’t  go  any  more.” 

“That  is  where  you  show  your  sound  judg- 

ment,” said  I.  “If  you  cannot  obey  orders,  it  is 

better  to  keep  away.  ’   ’ 
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McCartliy  and.  I   were  great  friends.  He  was 

President  of  the  Imperial  Federation  League  for 

some  years  when  I   was  chairman  of  the  Organiz- 
ing Committee,  and  we  often  spoke  together  on  the 

same  platform,  endeavouring  to  stir  up  a   feeling 

in  favour  of  Imperial  unity,  which  is  now  such  a 

powerful  influence  in  the  British  Empire.  He  was 
one  of  the  ablest  men  in  the  Province. 

Mr.  Fenton  was  county  attorney  for  a   few  years, 

and  was  an  able  and  conscientious  representative 

of  the  Crown.  J.  Walter  Curry,  K.C.,  was  Crown 

Attorney  for  a   number  of  years,  and  a   most  ener- 
getic and  efficient  prosecutor.  He  worked  with 

indomitable  perseverance  and  in  many  important 

cases  showed  remarkable  ability.  He  was  in 

charge  of  the  prosecution  of  the  Hyams  brothers 

for  murder,  and  with  four  exceedingly  able  counsel 

against  him  handled  his  case  most  skillfully. 

Nicholas  Murphy,  K.C.,  was  another  counsel 

who  did  a   considerable  amount  of  business  in  my 

court.  His  strong  point  was  his  thorough  truth- 
fulness. I   always  felt  that  I   could  take  his  word 

with  confidence. 

It  is  not  necessary  to  say  that  there  have  been 

some  practitioners  who  have  not  secured  my  con- 

fidence, and  often  the  truth  of  the  old  saying. 

‘ 'Honesty  is  the  best  policy is  borne  in  upon me. 
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In  forty  years  I   have  seen  a   great  number  of 

our  ablest  lawyers  appear  occasionally  in  impor- 
tant cases.  The  men  I   have  named  above  are  a 

few  who  have  been  regular  attendants  in  my  court. 

The  present  Crown  Attorney,  J.  Seymour  Cor- 
ley, K.C.,  is  a   very  capable  man,  and  it  has  been 

a   great  satisfaction  to  have  such  men  to  work 

with  and  to  assist  in  the  administration  of  jus- 

tice. My  relations  with  the  various  county  at- 
torneys who  have  held  office  during  my  time  have 

always  been  of  the  most  agreeable  character,  and 
I   have  the  kindliest  recollections  of  them  all. 



CHAPTEE  V. 

The  Pbiestman  Case 

IN  the  spring  of  1899  I   was  involved  in  a   con- troversy with  the  High  Court  of  Justice  in  a 

curious  way.  The  law  against  keeping  bucket- 

shops  or  places  for  gambling  included  among 

them  disorderly  houses,  and  the  procedure  for 

enforcing  the  law  in  such  cases  was  different 

from  that  in  all  other  kinds  of  criminal  prose- 

cutions. In  every  other  type  of  offence  an  infor- 
mation has  to  be  sworn  to  and  a   warrant  or  sum- 

mons asked  for,  warrants  being  only  issued  in 
serious  cases  where  the  defendant  would  not  be 

likely  to  appear  on  a   summons. 

In  gambling  houses  the  law  lays  down  clearly 

the  course  to  be  pursued,  and  leaves  no  option. 
The  Chief  of  Police  writes  a   letter  to  one  of  the 

Police  Commissioners,  generally  the  Police  Magis- 

trate, stating  his  suspicion  and  belief  that  a   cer- 

tain place  is  a   gambling-house,  and  requesting  an 
order  to  permit  him  to  enter  by  force  and  take 

possession  of  the  house  and  all  articles  or  papers 
used  in  the  business,  and  to  arrest  and  bring 
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before  the  magistrate  all  persons  found  in  the 

place.  There  is  no  power  to  summon ;   the  law  is 

mandatory,  and  says  all  shall  be  arrested  and 

brought  before  a   magistrate. 

I   had  received  a   letter  in  proper  form  from  the 

Chief  Constable,  asking  for  a   warrant  to  enter  the 

premises  of  one  Priestman,  and  Inspector  Archi- 
bald was  assigned  to  execute  it.  Archibald  entered 

the  office  of  the  bucket-shop  keeper  and  finding 
evidence  showing  the  character  of  the  business 

being  carried  on,  he  arrested  the  keeper  and  all  the 

persons  found  there,  and  as  was  his  duty  took 

them  to  the  police  station,  where  they  were  bailed 

to  appear  the  next  day. 
The  case  was  tried  before  me  and  the  evidence 

given,  and  upon  the  evidence  1   convicted  the  de- 
fendant. It  was  appealed  to  the  High  Court  and 

the  conviction  was  quashed,  and  the  judge  com- 

mented very  severely  upon  the  conduct  of  Inspec- 
tor Archibald,  on  the  ground  that  Priestman  being 

a   respectable  man  he  should  not  have  arrested  him, 

but  should  have  summoned  him.  In  this  the  judge 

was  absolutely  wrong,  as  the  law  on  the  point  is 

very  clear  and  definite.  This  censure  made  in 

open  court,  and  published  in  the  papers,  led  the 
defendant  Priestman  to  think  that  he  had  a   case 

against  Inspector  Archibald,  and  he  laid  a   charge 

against  him  before  the  Board  of  Police  Commis- 
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sioners  to  have  him  dismissed  from  the  force  or 

punished  in  some  way.  The  Board  of  Commis- 
sioners consisted  of  the  County  Judge,  the  Mayor, 

and  myself. 

Priestman  came  before  us  and  made  his  com- 

plaint that  he  was  arrested  instead  of  being  sum- 

moned. I   said  that  the  law  was  clear,  that  Archi- 
bald did  exactly  as  the  law  provided,  and  that  no 

fault  could  be  found  with  him.  Priestman  said 

that  the  judge  had  condemned  Archibald  severely, 

and  said  he  had  no  right  to  act  as  he  did.  I   replied 

that  ̂ Hhe  judge  did  not  know  what  he  was  talking 

about”.  This  also  got  into  the  newspapers,  and 
the  judge,  the  late  Judge  Rose,  brought  the  matter 

before  the  High  Court  of  Justice,  and  they  re- 

quested Sir  John  Boyd,  the  Chief  Justice,  to  com- 

plain to  the  Attorney-General  against  me  for 
speaking  in  that  way  of  one  of  their  number. 

Sir  Oliver  Mowat,  Attorney-General,  sent  the 
letter  to  me  for  my  report,  which  I   sent  in, 
pointing  out  the  law  and  also  pointing  out  the 
fact  that  as  a   police  commissioner  I   was  acting  as 
a   judge  in  a   matter  which  affected  the  livelihood 

of  a   worthy  officer  who  was  only  doing  his  duty. 
Sir  Oliver  sent  my  reply  to  the  High  Court  of 

Justice,  and  they  were  not  satisfied,  but  wrote 

another  letter  referring  to  'Ghe  impropriety  of  a 
magistrate  commenting  disparagingly  in  a   meet- 
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ing  to  which  the  public  was  admitted,  upon  obser- 

vations made  by  a   judge  of  the  High  Court  while 

presiding  at  the  assizes ;   that  such  a   course  is  not 

likely  to  suggest  respect  for  the  judicial  office  or 

to  promote  the  due  administration  of  the  law’\ 
I   wrote  a   very  decided  reply,  for  I   was  de- 

termined that,  as  far  as  I   was  concerned,  I   would 

shoAV  everyone  fair  play  and  not  be  influenced  by 

outside  considerations.  I   said  that  I   had  always 

maintained  ‘4hat  it  was  the  duty  of  the  police  to 
enforce  the  law  as  they  found  it,  without  respect 

to  persons,  that  if  a   policeman  found  any  man 

breaking  the  law,  it  was  his  duty  to  put  the  law 

in  force  against  him  without  favouritism  or  con- 

sideration for  his  social  position ’h  I   went  on  to 

say  that  ̂ Sve  could  not  leave  it  to  any  ordinary 
policeman  to  judge  of  the  respectability  of  a   man, 
and  to  decide  whether  one  man  was  to  receive 

greater  consideration  than  another,  because  be 

was  richer,  or  better  dressed,  or  better  educated, 

or  moved  in  a   different  social  sphere.  Mollie 

Matches,  one  of  the  most  notorious  criminals  on 

this  continent,  would  pass  anywhere  as  an  intelli- 

gent, well-bred  and  prosperous  business  man’\ 
I   held  that  any  other  system  would  bring  the 

administration  of  law  into  disrepute  and  the  police 

management  into  contempt. 
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I   then  went  on  to  say  that  ̂ ^snch  a   principle  as 
Judge  Bose  laid  down  does  not  exist  in  any  country 

that  I   know  of — certainly  not  in  England,  Avhere 
one  man  in  the  eye  of  the  law  has  been  the  same 

as  another  from  the  time  that  Chief  Justice  Gas- 

coigne sent  Prince  Henry  to  prison,  down  to  the 

other  day  when  the  London  police  arrested  some  of 

the  wealthiest  noblemen  in  England,  on  the  same 

charge  as  that  on  which  Inspector  Archibald  ar- 
rested Priestman  and  others 

I   concluded  by  saying  that  ̂ Gf  Judge  Bose  had 
refrained  from  censuring  others  in  a   matter  for 

which  he  was  not  responsible,  it  would  have  in- 
creased the  respect  which  is  entertained  for  his 

high  judicial  office,  and  would  not  have  affected 

the  due  administration  of  the  law  by  the  Police 

Department  ’   ̂ 

Sir  Oliver  Mowat,  replying  to  this,  said :   ''Noth- 
ing further  need  be  said.  I   believe  this  is  the  first 

time  any  complaint  has  been  made  to  me  as  to 

anything  you  have  said  or  done  as  police  magis- 
trate 

This  ended  the  matter. 



CHAPTER  VI. 

Different  Types  of  Offenders 

The  professional  criminal,  as  far  as  my  ex- perience has  gone,  does  not  seem  to 

bear  ill-will  against  a   judge  who  holds  the 
scales  of  justice  evenly  and  decides  fairly,  no 

matter  what  reasonable  sentence  may  be  given. 

I   had  a   curious  indication  of  this  feeling  a 

few  years  after  I   had  been  appointed  magis- 
trate. I   was  visiting  a   friend  in  Kingston 

and  he  suggested  one  day  that  I   should  pay 

a   visit  to  the  Kingston  Penitentiary,  which 

is  the  great  prison  for  serious  otfences  in 

Ontario.  I   demurred  at  first,  because  I   had  sent 

many  prisoners  there,  and  they  were  sent  for  the 
more  serious  offences  and  were  sentenced  for  the 

longest  terms.  I   told  my  friend  that  it  would  not 

be  pleasant  for  many  of  the  prisoners  to  see  me 

going  through  the  prison.  I   agreed,  however, 

reluctantly,  to  go,  for  I   was  interested  in  seeing 

the  building  and  the  general  conditions  of  impris- 

onment. !   "I  y\  f\ 
The  Warden  of  the  penitentiary  told  off  one  of 
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the  senior  officials  to  show  me  over  the  institution. 

In  the  first  work-shop  I   entered  I   saw  that  some 

of  the  prisoners  recognized  me  and,  to  my  aston- 
ishment, seemed  pleased  to  see  me  and  nodded  to 

me  and  smiled.  I   spoke  to  several  of  them  and 
said : 

‘‘Did  I   send  you  here!’^ 

“Yes,  sir.” 

“For  how  long!” 

Probably  they  would  say,  “For  three  or  four 

years.”  
' 

In  one  shop  a   number  of  the  prisoners  came 

around  me  and  greeted  me  with  the  utmost  friend- 
liness. I   asked  them  many  questions ;   how  much 

longer  they  had  to  serve,  how  they  were  fed  and 

cared  for,  and  they  spoke  quite  favourably  of  the 

prison.  I   recognized  one  prisoner  whom  I   had  sent 
down  some  years  before,  and  said: 

“Why,  Leslie,  are  you  still  here!  I   did  not 

think  I   had  given  you  more  than  three  years.  ’   ’ 

“That  is  right,  sir,”  he  replied,  “but  I   was  sent 

down  again  for  a   burglary  in  London.” 
He  was  a   very  sharp  fellow  and  he  went  on  to 

say — speaking  apparently  for  the  comrades 

around  him:  “We  all  think  well  of  you.  Colonel, 
because  you  always  give  us  a   fair  trial.  The  de- 

tectives have  got  to  prove  their  case  clearly  or 

you  will  not  convict,  but  some  of  the  magistrates 
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and  judges  decide  against  a   man  with  a   record 
because  he  has  a   record,  whether  the  case  is  proved 

clearly  or  not,  and  that  is  not  playing  the  game 

fairly.  If  the  detectives  cannot  prove  their  case 

they  should  not  get  the  decision,  but  if  they  do 

prove  it  then  we  never  complain  of  the  judge  for 

sentencing  us.  All  we  want  is  fair  play.^^  It 
was  the  exact  point  of  view  of  the  football  player 

who  wanted  an  absolutely  fair  referee. 

The  contrast  between  this  method  of  looking 

upon  the  result  of  the  trials  of  the  professional 

criminal,  and  that  of  another  class  of  customers 

who  are  very  respectable  and  often  wealthy,  is 

very  remarkable.  Of  course,  in  many  cases  people 

of  this  latter  class  pay  their  fines  willingly  and 

blame  nobody  but  themselves.  Some  of  them, 

however,  resent  bitterly  being  prosecuted  and 

blame  everybody  but  themselves.  They  find  great 

fault  with  the  magistrate  and  the  prosecutor  and 

the  police.  I   noticed  sometimes  in  years  past 

that  people,  fined  for  not  cleaning  snow  from  the 

sidewalks  in  front  of  their  property,  retained  a 

strong  feeling  against  me  personally  for  doing  my 

duty,  sometimes  a   very  bitter  feeling.  I   did  not 

mind  this,  for  people  who  would  take  that  view 

were  not  worth  bothering  about. 

A   good  many  years  ago  a   second  police  magis- 
trate was  appointed,  Mr.  Rupert  E.  Kingsford, 
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and  he  was  assigned  to  deal  with  all  the  minor 

cases,  while  my  hnsiness  was  mainly  confined  to 

trying  the  serions  indictable  offences.  The  resnlt 

has  been  that  my  dealings  have  been  with  the 

worst  criminals,  while  Mr.  Kingsford’s  principal 
work  has  been  with  the  respectable  and  wealthy 
classes. 

It  has  been  a   great  relief  to  me  to  have  escaped 

dealing  with  the  type  who  now  come  before  Mr. 

Kingsford,  and  particnlarly  of  late  years  since  the 
motor-car  has  become  an  established  institution. 

There  are  a   number  of  rules  for  the  guidance  of 

drivers  of  motor-cars  which  are  often  broken: 

over-speeding,  driving  on  the  wrong  side  of  the 
street,  not  having  lighted  lamps  in  the  dark,  or 

not  returning  to  the  scene  of  an  accident.  Over- 
speeding is  the  commonest  offence  of  them  all,  and 

numbers  of  defendants  are  constantly  in  court  to 

meet  such  charges.  A   man  always  feels  he  is 

going  very  slowly  if  he  is  going  only  five  miles  an 

hour  over  the  rate  permitted  by  law,  and  there  is 

constant  complaining  by  motor  car  owners,  if 

brought  before  the  court  on  those  charges.  Those 

who  complain  the  most  are  generally  so-called 

millionaires.  Sometimes  in  my  club  they  will  com- 

plain to  me  about  the  motor  laws,  and  the  way  in 

which  they  are  administered. 
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I   always  close  the  discussion  by  saying: 

^‘Thanks  to  a   kind  Providence,  I   have  nothing 
whatever  to  do  with  motor  cases.  I   deal  with  the 

aristocracy  of  crime,  with  murderers,  highway 

robbers,  forgers,  embezzelers  and  all  the  highest 

class  of  criminals.  I   have  nothing  to  do  with  the 

petty  offenders  who  don’t  remove  their  snow,  or 
drive  their  motors  too  fast,  or  commit  other  frivo- 

lous little  offences,  and  I   am  very  thankful,  for  m^ 
customers  are  much  more  pleasant  to  deal  with; 

they  rarely  complain  or  bear  any  ill-will.  ’   ’ 



CHAPTER  VII. 

The  Police  Commission. 

AS  Police  Magistrate  I   have  always  been  a member  of  the  Board  of  Police  Commis- 

sioners ;   and  the  Board,  which  consists  of 

the  County  Court  Judge,  the  mayor  and  myself, 

has  had  the  absolute  control  of  the  organization 

and  management  of  the  force.  As  we  have  been 

free  of  popular  control,  we  have  been  able  to  man- 
age without  any  reference  to  political  feeling,  or 

secret  society  or  other  influence  of  that  kind.  I 

very  fortunately  never  had  been  connected  with 

any  secret  organization  of  any  sort.  I   was  not  a 

Free  Mason  or  Orangeman,  and  consequently  have 

had  a   free  hand  in  working  only  for  the  real  bene- 
fit of  the  police  administration.  Being  a   member 

of  the  Canada  First  party,  and  inditferent  to  any 

political  party,  changing  from  one  party  to  the 

other  with  the  utmost  freedom,  if  the  interest  of 
the  idea  of  Canada  First  led  me  to  one  side  or  the 

other,  I   was  not  influenced  by  those  strong  politi- 

cal party  prejudices  which  are  often  so  injurious 

to  the  best  interests  of  tlie  country. 
31 
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Shortly  after  I   came  upon  the  Board  I   found 

one  very  serious  difficulty  in  the  way  of  managing 

the  force  to  the  best  advantage.  There  were  sev- 
ral  of  the  under  officers  who  had  done  excellent 

work,  who  had  risen  to  the  most  important  places, 

who  were  drawing  the  highest  salaries,  and  who 

had,  either  through  age  or  illness,  become  unfit 

for  work,  and  were  unable  to  attend  to  their  duties 

properly.  In  some  instances  these  men  were  given 

sick  leave,  and,  being  on  full  pay,  were  drawing 

salaries  they  were  unable  to  earn.  There  v/ere 

one  or  two  such  cases  when  I   was  first  appointed. 

There  was  no  pension  fund,  and  if  the  men  were 

discharged  they  might  have  been  sick  and  penni- 
less in  their  old  age. 

We  then  endeavoured  to  get  up  a   pension  fund, 

to  be  maintained  by  contributions  from  the  men, 

and  a   scheme  was  prepared,  and  we  applied  to 

the  Legislature  to  grant  a   charter  to  authorize 

this  being  carried  out.  About  half  or  more  of  the 

older  men  at  once  agreed  to  this  proposition,  but 

many  of  the  younger  men,  who  thought  they  would 

never  be  ill,  or  grow  old,  objected  strenuously,  and 

a   large  deputation  waited  on  the  Premier,  the  late 

Sir  Oliver  Mowat,  and  prevailed  upon  him  to 

forbid  the  establishment  of  the  system. 
When  I   heard  of  this  I   told  the  Board  there  were 

‘   ̂   other  ways  of  getting  over  the  difficulty,  and  that 
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as  there  was  a   general  law,  which  allowed  benevo- 

lent organziations  to  establish  benefit  funds,  that 

we  conld  act  under  that  law  and  establish  a   Benefit 

Fund  Society  for  all  the  men  who  were  willing  to 

join  it.  This  was  arranged,  with  great  care,  and 

the  rates  of  pension,  and  all  necessary  rules  made 

out,  and  the  men  were  asked  to  join.  About  two- 

thirds  agreed  to  it,  but  about  one-third  refused. 

As  soon  as  we  had  it  fairly  started  I   suggested 

that  we  should  have  all  the  men  in  it,  but  we  found 

that  the  dissatisfied  men  still  held  out.  We  askea 

them  to  send  a   deputation  to  discuss  the  matter 

with  the  Board.  They  came  and  were  evidently 

influenced  by  the  opinion  of  the  Premier  that  it 

would  have  to  be  voluntary. 

I   then  addressed  them,  and  said  that  I   under- 

stood their  point  of  view,  and  that  Ave  did  not 

want  any  of  the  men  to  join,  except  of  their  oAvn 

free  Avill,  that  it  was  quite  voluntary,  but  that  the 

Board  had  decided  that  after  January  1st,  they 

would  only  retain  in  the  force  those  who  had  vol- 

untarily joined  the  Benefit  Fund,  and  we  advised 

those  not  Avishing  to  do  this,  to  send  in  their  resig- 

nations to  take  effect  on  that  date,  then  some 

three  or  four  months  ahead.  Not  one  man  re- 

signed, and  when  the  New  Year  began,  and  Ave 

AA^ere  preparing  tlie  estimates  AA^e  raised  the  pay 
of  all  the  men  and  officers,  by  an  amount  sufficient 
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to  cover  the  contribution  to  the  Fund,  and  give 

them  increased  pay  as  well. 

This  satisfied  everybody,  and  the  Pension  and 

Benefit  Fund  has  been  ever  since  the  greatest  com- 
fort and  blessing  to  the  old  men,  and  to  the  widows 

of  those  who  have  died  in  the  force.  Although  I 

am  not  personally  affected  by  the  Pension  System, 

I   look  back  to  my  dogged  persistence  in  this  mat- 
ter with  the  greatest  satisfaction.  All  about  the 

city  now  are  to  be  seen  old  men,  formerly  members 

of  the  force,  who  have  done  good  service,  and  are 

receiving  allowances  to  enable  them  to  be  comfort- 
able. I   see  many  of  those  who  fought  against  the 

organization  of  the  Benefit  Fund  now  enjoying  the 

benefits,  and  many  of  them  have  told  me  how  much 

they  felt  indebted  to  me  for  my  insistent  support 

of  the  policy. 

The  Police  force  of  Toronto  has  a   very  high 

reputation  all  over  America  for  honesty  and  ef- 
ficiency. A   gentleman  from  Seattle  who  travelled 

to  a   number  of  large  cities  to  inquire  into  the 

methods  and  efficiency  of  the  various  police  forces, 

and  wrote  an  article  upon  the  subject  afterwards, 
put  the  Toronto  force  above  them  all.  This  was 

very  gratifying  to  me,  for  I   have  been  on  the 

Board  for  forty  years,  while  the  other  two  mem- 

bers have  changed  frequently. 

An  important  point  in  connection  with  the  force 
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was,  that  not  many  years  after  I   was  appointed, 

Maj.  Draper,  the  Chief  of  Police,  had  to  resign  on 

account  of  ill  health.  I   nominated  as  his  succes- 

sor Lt.-Col.  Henry  J.  Grasett  of  the  Royal  Grena- 

diers, and  although  the  other  members  of  the 

Board  had  friends  they  favoured,  the  arguments 

in  favour  of  Col.  Grasett  were  so  strong  that  he 

was  unanimously  appointed.  This  was  more  than 

thirty  years  ago,  and  we  have  worked  together 

ever  since  in  perfect  accord. 
Col.  Grasett  has  been  the  Treasurer  of  the 

Police  Benefit  Fund  ever  since  his  appointment  to 

the  command  of  the  force,  and  has  exercised  a   very 

careful  and  able  supervision  over  its  management. 

The  proof  of  this  is  shown  by  the  fact  that  when 

he  took  charge  in  1887,  the  Benefit  Fund’s  cash 
assets  were  $25,666.  To-day  they  are  well  over 
$800,000  and  not  one  dollar  has  been  lost  in  all  that 

time ;   a   most  remarkable  proof  of  the  ability  with 

which  the  Police  Benefit  Association,  guided  by 

the  Chief,  have  managed  their  business. 

In  the  appointment  of  new  constables  there  has 

been  no  political  influence  used.  The  candi- 

dates are  examined  carefully  by  the  Chief 

before  they  come  before  the  Board.  The 

standard  of  height  is  five  feet,  ten  inches, 

and  the  men  are  carefully  examined  by  the 

Doctor  before  appointment.  The  certificates 
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of  character  are  closely  inquired  into,  and  then  the 

men  are  appointed  on  probation.  They  are  trained 
under  old  constables  for  some  months,  and  if  there 

are  any  signs  of  weakness  in  health,  or  character, 

or  energy,  they  are  not  retained.  So  that  it  is  a 

survival  of  the  fittest.  We  also  have  many  strict 

regulations  to  improve  the  tone  of  the  force.  No 

rewards  are  allowed  to  be- given  by  anyone  for  the 

services  of  the  men.  Tips  are  absolutely  forbid- 
den. Men  have  been  dismissed  for  accepting 

them.  Kewards  for  the  apprehension  of  criminals, 

if  offered  by  the  citizens  of  Toronto,  are  refused 

by  the  police.  If  rewards  are  offered  from  out- 
side, and  the  police  earn  them,  the  money  goes  to 

the  Benefit  Fund. 

I   always  maintain  this  policy  very  rigidly,  some- 
times with  difficulty.  I   will  give  an  illustration  of 

this.  In  the  summer  time  it  is  customary  for 

people,  going  on  vacation  to  the  seaside  or  else- 

where, to  lock  up  their  houses  and  notify  the  police 

and  leave  their  keys  at  the  station.  A   number  of 

policemen  in  plain  clothes  on  bicycles  visit  these 

houses  both  night  and  day.  When  the  citizens  come 

back,  sometimes,  not  knowing  our  rules,  they  offer 

the  men  five  or  ten  dollars,  which  is  invariably  re- 

fused. Oftentimes  a   citizen  encloses  the  money 

to  the  Chief,  and  asks  him  to  give  it  to  the  con- 

stable. The  Chief  always  returns  the  money  to 
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the  sender,  explaining  that  the  rules  of  the  force 

prohibit  its  acceptance. 
We  have  had  cases  where  after  this,  the  citizen 

has  asked  the  Board  of  Commissioners  to  allow 

the  man  to  receive  it.  One  persistent  man  sent 

twenty-five  dollars  as  a   present  to  the  Benefit 
Fund.  At  first  the  other  members  were  inclined 

to  accept  this,  but  I   protested  vigorously,  and 

pointed  out  that  if  that  was  accepted  it  would  get 

out  among  the  men,  and  others  would  be  giving 

money  the  same  way,  and  the  result  might  be  that 

the  men  watching  the  houses  would  devote  the 

most  of  their  care  to  the  houses  of  those  who  gave 

money  to  the  Benefit  Fund,  while  others  Avould  not 

have  as  good  attention. 

Another  illustration  I   may  mention:  A   promi- 
nent business  man  gave  an  entertainment  at  his 

place  of  business  one  night,  and  the  constable  on 

the  beat  assisted  in  regulating  the  carriages. 

A¥hen  the  people  had  all  gone  the  man,  before 

shutting  the  door,  offered  the  constable  a   two- 
dollar  bill.  The  constable  refused  to  take  it,  and 

said  it  was  against  the  rules.  The  gentleman 

shoved  the  bill  in  the  policeman ’s  belt  and  slipped 
in  and  shut  the  door.  The  next  morning  he  re- 

ceived a   very  polite  note  from  the  inspector  of 

the  division,  saying  that  the  constable  had  handed 

him  the  bill,  which  he  returned  in  accordance  Avith 
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the  rules.  The  gentleman  was  so  struck  with  the 

whole  story  that  he  told  me  about  it,  and  also 

told  me  that  the  inspector’s  letter  was  framed  and 
hanging  in  a   police  station  in  New  York  as  a 

curiosity. 

I   have  often  heard  friends  say  that  they  had 

tried  to  give  constables  money,  which  had  been 

refused,  but  I   have  only  heard  of  but  one  case 

where  the  money  had  been  accepted.  One  young 

constable  thoughtlessly  received  a   tip  from  some- 
one, and  mentioned  it  to  his  comrades.  They 

were  so  indignant  at  his  bringing  discredit  on  the 

force  that  they  reported  him,  and  he  was  struck  off 
the  roll. 



CHAPTER  VIII. 

Recollections  of  the  Negro  Element 

There  has  been  a   remarkable  change  in  the condition  of  atfairs  in  Toronto  since  I   was 

appointed  Magistrate.  The  population  in 

1877  was  nnder  70,000;  it  is  now  over  500,000. 

When  first  appointed  I   had  only  one  clerk,  who  at 

times  had  temporary  assistance.  Now  there  are 

four  police  magistrates  and  seven  clerks. 

Another  remarkable  change  has  been  in  the 

great  increase  of  foreign  population.  There  was 

formerly  quite  a   large  negro  population  in  To- 
ronto, now  there  are  very  few  negroes.  Most  of 

them  seem  to  have  drifted  southward.  In  1877 

nearly  a   third  of  the  population  was  of  Irish 

birth  or  descent,  now  the  relative  proportion  is 

very  much  smaller. 

The  negroes,  many  of  whom  were  escaped  or 
freed  slaves,  were  a   source  of  amusement  in  the 

court  because  of  their  many  peculiarities,  and  I 
can  recall  some  amusing  incidents  relating  to 

them.  Thirty-five  years  ago  the  coloured  people 
had  a   Baptist  church  on  Queen  Street,  at  the 

89 
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corner  of  Victoria  Street,  whicli  had  a   rather  large 

congregation. 

One  morning,  going  through  my  calendar,  I 

came  to  a   charge  of  assault  against  one  Richard 

Lewis.  When  the  name  was  called  out,  a   burly 

negro,  evidently  a   labourer,  came  up  to  the  bar  to 

stand  his  trial.  I   told  him  he  was  charged  with 

having  committed  an  assault  upon  one  William 

Hopkins,  and  asked  whether  he  pleaded  guilty  or 

not  guilty. 

He  replied  in  a   very  grutf  voice : 

pleads  guilty,  yo  honah,  but  it  was  under 

succumstances  of  de  very  gravest  provocation.’’ 
I   turned  to  look  at  the  complainant,  who  had 

stepped  up  into  the  witness  box.  He  Avas  a   small, 

dandified,  little  negro,  very  black,  wearing  a   high 

white  collar,  and  large  white  cuffs,  and  the  Avhites 

of  his  eyes  and  his  teeth  seemed  to  be  shining  out. 

His  business  was  that  of  peddling  cotfee,  pies,  and 

cakes  to  the  clerks  in  the  down-town  business 

places.  I   administered  the  oath  to  him,  and  asked 

him  to  tell  me  his  story. 

With  a   grand  air  he  began: 

‘   ̂   Suttenly,  you  honah.  It  was  on  the  evening  of 
Thursday  last,  at  de  coloured  Baptist  Church  at 
de  corner  of  Queen  and  Victoria  Streets  in  dis 

city,  de  prisoner  at  de  bah  stepped  up  to  me  and 

said,  ̂ Mr.  Hopkins,  what  do  you  mean  by  calling 
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Mrs.  Brown  by  de  Christian  name  of  Harriett 

for’’? 

‘H  told  him  that  when  I   knew  a   lady  intimately, 
I   was  sometimes  in  de  habit  of  calling  her  by  de 
Christian  name. 

‘Take  dat,’  said  he,  and  he  hit  me  a   number  of 

times.  ’   ’ 

“Did  you  strike  him  back?”  I   asked. 
He  drew  himself  up  with  an  air  of  great  dignity 

and  said : 

“Suttenly  not,  yo  honah.  Occupying  de  posi- 
tion dat  I   do,  as  a   Sunday  School  teacher  in  de 

Central  Prison,  and  going  about  every  day  among 

de  bankers  and  de  principal  business  men  of  de 

place,  supplying  dem  wid  hot  coffee,  do  you  think 

it  would  be  right  for  me  to  enter  into  a   pussonal 

altercation  wid  a   man  of  dat  class,”  pointing  at 
the  defendant  with  infinite  contempt. 

“It  will  be  five  dollars  and  costs  or  thirty  days,” 
said  I. 

A   Litekauy  Society 

A   few  days  after  this,  on  leaving  my  office,  I 
found  outside  of  my  door  three  negroes,  evidently 

of  the  labouring  class,  dressed  in  their  best,  and 

with  an  air  of  importance  which  attracted  my  at- 
tention. One  of  them  said : 
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‘‘I  beg  your  pardon,  yo  worship,  but  we’s  a 
depitation,  and  would  like  to  speak  to  yo  honah 

just  for  a   few  minutes.’^ 
I   saw  some  promise  of  humour  about  it  and 

replied : 

‘^Certainly,  come  in,  gentlemen’’  and,  asking 
them  to  take  seats,  I   inquired  as  to  their  business. 

The  spokesman  began : 

^^We’s  a   depitation  from  de  Littery  Society  of 
de  Coloured  Baptist  Church  on  the  corner  of 

Queen  and  Victoria  Streets,  and  we  want  to  get 

yo  honah ’s  advice  as  to  dis  man  Hopkins,  who  was 

up  here  in  de  Court  last  week.” 
I   asked  what  was  the  trouble. 

‘^Well,  yo  honah,  we  have  a   Littery  Society  in 
our  Church  and  Mr.  Hopkins  is  one  of  de  members, 

and  at  de  meetings  he  just  talk,  talk,  talk  all  de 

time.  No  one  gets  any  chance  to  say  anything. 

He  was  criticized  by  de  chairman  and  requested  to 

behave  moh  in  conformity  wid  de  succumstances 

of  de  case.  He  just  set  de  chairman  and  de  So- 
ciety at  defiance,  and  kept  right  on  with  his  talk, 

talk,  talk.  De  matter  became  so  obnoxious  dat  de 

society  called  a   meeting  and  expelled  him  from  de 

society,  and  paid  back  to  him  all  de  money  he  had 

paid  in,  his  entrance  fee,  his  monthly  subscrip- 
tions, and  some  donations  to  de  libery  fund,  and 

we  told  him  he  must  not  come  to  de  meetings  any 
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moah.  It  did  not  make  a   pahticle  of  difference,  yo 

worship.  He  comes  in  jus  de  same,  and  he  goes 

on  talk,  talk  all  de  time,  and  de  society  don't 
know  what  ought  to  he  done,  for  you  know  de 

gentleman  is  half  a   lawyer,  and  we's  'fraid  of  him, 
so  de  society  appointed  us,  as  a   depitation,  to  ask 

yo  honah,  what  you  would  advise  us  to  do  under 

de  extraordinary  peculiarities  of  de  case." 
I   asked  if  they  had  by-laws  and  rules,  and  they 

brought  out  a   little  manuscript  book  of  rules,  evi- 
dently copied  from  some  other  society,  and  I   found 

that  the  society  had  the  power,  at  a   meeting  called 

for  the  purpose,  to  expel  a   member  for  breaking 

the  rules,  or  refusing  to  obey  the  directions  of  the 

chairman.  They  had  done  everything  regularly, 
and  had  told  him  about  it.  I   advised  them  to  write 

out  two  copies  of  the  resolution  expelling  him, 

and  also  a   notice  warning  him  that  if  he  intruded 

again  he  would  be  arrested  for  trespass,  and  to 

serve  one  copy  on  him  and  to  have  two  men  make 

the  service  so  that  there  could  be  no  question  as  to 

his  being  notified.  This  they  did  and  had  no 
further  trouble. 

Before  they  left,  however,  with  a   laudable  de- 
sire to  obtain  further  information  about  a   learned 

society  of  the  kind,  I   asked  if  they  had  refunded 

his  payments.  They  replied: 

''Yes,  sail,  we  gib  him  back  his  entrance  fee. 
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his  monthly  subscriptions,  and  his  donations  to 

the  libery  fund.” 
Then  I   asked : 

‘   ‘   How  much  did  it  all  come  to  ?   ” 

^‘Altogether,  yo  worship,  it  come  to  ninety 

cents.” 
Still  thirsting  for  knowledge  I   asked : 

“How  was  it  made  up*?” 
The  spokesman  replied : 

“Twenty-five  cents  was  the  entrance  fee,  and  he 
had  paid  five  monthly  subscriptions  of  five  cents 

each,  and  had  given  four  donations  of  ten  cents 

each  to  the  libery  fund.” 
It  was  an  amusing  exposition  of  the  financial 

standing  of  one  of  the  literary  societies  of 
Toronto. 

Hopkins  in  the  Police  Coukt 

In  The  Evening  Telegram  of  the  27th  January, 

1881,  appears  the  following  report  of  the  proceed- 
ings in  my  Court  in  reference  to  a   charge  against 

this  man  Hopkins.  It  is  a   good  illustration  of  the 

humorous  way  in  which  the  Police  Court  matters 

were  dealt  with  by  some  of  the  newspapers  and  is 

quoted  as  it  appeared: 

Wm.  Hopkins 

Wm.  H.  Hopkins,  the  well-known  coffee  and 

sandwich  purveyor,  was  charged  with  threatening 
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to  shoot  Mr.  Charles  Page,  an  elderly  gentleman, 

of  very  dark  complexion  and  thick  lips,  a   charac- 
teristic negro. 

Hopkins  addressed  the  court  as  follows : 

^^Yah  Wership:  De  circumstances  of  d'e  case  am  dese. 

De  ’plainant  and  dis  chile  am  bofe  members  of  de  Odd- 

fellows Lodge,  and  de  ’plainant  forgettin  dose  brudderly 

feelings  which  am  d'e  ’stinguish  proofs  of  de  Oddfellows 

Association,  am  jealous  of  dis  chile.  De  ’plainant  threat- 
ened to  butt  me,  yoah  Wership,  and  for  making  use  of 

such  language  he  should  be  exonerated  from  de  Club. 

^^What  did  he  mean  by  butting  youf^  asked  the 
Magistrate. 

^^What  did  he  mean?  Shuah  yoah  wership  knows 
what  a   butting  match  am.  Ye  see,  Sah,  dis  am  de 

way  iPs  done.  De  rules  and  relations  of  de  match  for- 
bid de  butting  in  de  face  or  in  de  stomach,  but  it  must 

be  de  two  heads  meeting,  and  de  man  wid  de  tickest 

head  am  de  best.  Why,  Sah,  dat  African  in  de  box  am 

de  hardest  butter  in  de  city.  He  can  split  a   cheese,  or 

bend  a   piece  of  iron,  and  does  de  Court  and  de  gentle- 
men present  tink  dat  I   was  going  to  let  him  butt  me. 

Well  Sah  dat  man  wanted  to  hab  me  put  out  of  de  lodge, 
and  I   would  like  to  know  what  for  a   man  like  dat  is  to 

exonerate  me  from  de  lodge?  Yoah  see,  yoah  Wership, 

a   great  many  things  am  said  in  de  lodge  what  am  not 

fit  for  de  public,  but  if  de  witness  want  all  de  truf  he 
can  hab  it. 

‘'Dat  man,’’  said  the  witness,  "brought  de  revolver  and 
threatened  to  shoot  me.” 

"What  do  you  say  to  that  prisoner?”  asked  the  Magis- 
trate. 
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^^Yoah  Wership,  dat  man  swore  to  walk  hand  in  hand 
wid  all  de  members  of  de  lodge.,  He  was  de  fust  to  per- 
pose  de  brudderly  lub  wid  de  breddren  and  sistern  of 

de  membahs.  It  was  him  dat  read  de  oath  and  de  cere- 

monies, and  guv  de  secrets  to  de  oders.  Dat  was  de 

man  what  smiled  upon  me  when  I   rode  de  goat,  and 

swore  by  de  bones  of  de  dead  dat  he  would  be  the  fadder 

to  de  widdower,  and  de  mudder  to  de  fatherless.  Dat 

was  de  man  and  now  yoah  Wership,  he  stole  de  monies 

of  de  lodge.  He  borrow  money  and  cakes  from  myself, 

and  never  paid  me  back,  and  what  kind  of  a   man  am  him 

to  seduce  my  kracter  afore  dis  court,  and  de  leaders  of  de 

land.  Such  a   man  should  be  exonerated  from  de  land.’’ 

“But  what  about  that  pistol  that  you  threatened  to 
shoot  him  with?” 

“De  pistol  am  it,  yoah  wership.  Wen  I   heard  dat 
African  was  gwine  to  butt  me,  I   tuk  de  cylinder  out  ob 

de  shooter  and  went  to  de  loge,  and  how  could  I   shoot 

dat  African  wid  a   shooter  widdout  a   cylinder  ?” 

“But  the  witness  says  he  is  afraid  of  you.” 

“Yoah  wership,  dis  am  de  crisis  of  ma  life.  Dat  man 
got  between  me  and  my  wife.  He  got  up  at  de  caucus 

meeting  to  turn  me  out  of  de  lodge,  because  I   was  de 

smartest  man  in  it.  I   knew  dat  man’s  head  was  hard  and 
dat  he  could  butt  better  dan  me,  so  I   scared  him  wid  de 

pistil  widout  de  cylinder.  What  should  be  done  wid  such  a 

coon  as  dat?  I’m  stonished  at  him.  I   tell  you,  yoah 

wership,  if  dat  man’s  head  ever  comes  in  contact  wid 

dis,  I’se  agoin  to  pertect  my  own.  Dat  man  afraid  ob 
me  ?   De  man  dat  goes  into  de  house  ob  anudder,  am  not 

afraid.  Dat  man  hab  de  heart  of  de  lion,  der  nerves  ob 

steel,  and  de  head  like  iron.  Dismiss  de  case,  yoah 

wership.” 
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Instead  of  dismissing  the  case,  I   placed  both 

complainant  and  defendant  under  bonds  to  keep 

the  peace  to  each  other  for  the  space  of  one  year. 

To  finish  my  recollections  of  Hopkins:  A   short 

time  after  this  episode,  Hopkins  had  a   quarrel 

with  his  brother,  and  in  his  temper  fired  a   revolver 

at  him,  wounding  him  in  the  neck.  The  wounded 

man  was  in  the  hospital  for  a   number  of  weeks, 

and  then  came  to  give  evidence  before  me  about 

the  shooting.  The  wound  was  a   most  peculiar 

one;  it  had  made  a   hole  in  the  man’s  windpipe 
through  which  the  air  escaped  as  he  breathed 

with  a   most  peculiar  whistling  and  his  evidence 

was  accompanied  by  this  uncanny  sound.  I   never 

heard  of  a   case  like  it.  Hopkins  was  sent  to  the 

Kingston  Penitentiary  for  some  years,  and  I   don’t 
remember  seeing  him  again. 

Another  remarkable  negro  who  often  appeared 

in  court  was  George  Wright,  who  made  a   living 

by  sawing  and  splitting  cordwood,  then  a   very  im- 
portant business,  employing  a   number  of  men, 

but  now  with  the  disappearance  of  tlie  woods,  and 

the  almost  universal  use  of  coal,  a   lost  art. 

What  distinguished  Wright  over  all  the  other 

habitues  of  the  court  was  that,  in  my  opinion,  he 
was  the  most  accomplished  and  able  cross-exami- 

ner I   ever  knew.  He  was  courteous  and  skilful  in 

the  highest  degree.  I   i‘emember  once  aftei*  a   very 
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careful  and  cunning  cross-examination  of  a   wit- 
ness, he  caught  him  in  a   distinct  contradiction.  He 

made  the  witness  repeat  his  second  statement  and, 

recalling  his  previous  one,  he  said  to  the  witness : 

‘‘Now  will  you  please  explain  to  his  worship, 

dar,  how  you  make  dem  two  points  harmonize!’’ 
About  fifteen  years  ago  I   was  trying  a   negro 

for  breaking  into  a   house  and  stealing  a   number 
of  articles  which  were  at  the  moment  on  the  table 

in  front  of  the  witness  box.  They  were  identified 

by  the  owner.  The  negro  was  defended  by  a   bar- 

rister who  was  also  an  officer  in  the  48th  High- 

landers of  the  Toronto  Militia.  He  made  a   vigor- 

ous defence  of  his  client  but  the  case  was  clearly 

proved,  and  the  negro  was  convicted.  I   sentenced 

him  to  a   term,  and  Mr.  Curry,  the  Crown  At- 

torney, in' the  usual  way  applied  for  an  order  of 
restitution  of  the  stolen  articles  to  the  owner.  I 

made  the  order  at  once.  Then  the  complainant 

stated  that  the  negro  was  wearing  his  best  Sunday 

trousers,  which  had  also  been  stolen,  and  he 

wanted  them  back.  The  prisoner ’s  counsel  made 
some  objection  that  the  negro  had  no  others.  I 

said  that  the  prisoner  could  wear  them  to  the  jail, 

and  as  soon  as  he  got  the  prison  clothing,  the 

trousers  were  to  be  restored  to  the  owner,  and 

then,  addressing  the  lawyer,  I   said:  “When  he  has 
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served  his  term,  he  can  join  the  Kilties.’’  I   donht 
if  the  Highland  Officer  appreciated  the  joke. 

A   good  many  years  ago  the  manufacturers  of 

pianos  had  succeeded  in  making  pianos  of  an  in- 

ferior type  at  very  low  prices,  and  this  was  follow- 

ed by  a   general  custom  of  selling  them  to  the 

poorer  people  on  the  instalment  plan,  by  which 

they  could  be  paid  for  by  small  monthly  pay- 
ments. This  led  to  large  numbers  of  pianos  being 

purchased  by  people  in  quite  humble  positions. 

The  fact  of  one  of  the  lower  classes  having  a   piano 

in  the  house,  gave  the  OAvner  a   social  distinction 

among  her  associates,  which  could  not  be  over- 
looked. A   scrubbing  woman  at  the  City  Hall 

bought  one,  a   charwoman  I   knew  of  also  had  one, 

and  I   have  no  doubt  that,  in  their  own  circle,  it 

was  a   great  mark  of  distinction. 

In  a   small  street  in  a   humble  section  of  the  city 

there  lived  a   number  of  negroes,  mostly  labourers 

or  railway  porters.  One  of  these,  more  ambitions 

than  the  others,  by  close  saving  and  hard  work, 

had  succeeded  in  buying  a   piano.  The  wife,  as 

well  as  the  husband,  was  anxious  for  social  dis- 

tinction, and  they  decided  to  give  an  evening  party 

in  order  to  show  off  the  piano.  They  invited  a 

coloured  Avoman  Avho,  I   think,  gave  lessons  in 

music  to  come  and  try  the  piano.  They  also  in- 

vited a   feAV  of  the  more  select  of  their  acquain- 
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tances  to  come  to  the  party.  The  coloured  woman 

(the  musician)  was  evidently  of  a   higher  social 

scale  than  the  other  guests.  She  was  an  ample 

personage,  well  dressed,  and  with  an  impressive 
manner 

The  party  had  scarcely  begun  when  the  news  of 

it  spread  through  the  street  among  the  other 

coloured  people  Vvho  had  been  formerly  on  the 

visiting  list  of  the  hostess ;   and,  finding  they  had 

not  been  invited  to  meet  the  distinguished  musi- 
cian, a   feeling  of  deep  resentment  arose,  then 

indignation,  and  then  they  gathered  in  front  of 

the  house  and  acted  in  a   most  disorderly  manner. 

The  police  heard  of  it  and  came  and  arrested  the 

principal  offenders  on  the  charge  of  disorderly 

conduct,  and  they  appeared  before  me  the  next 

morning  and  were  fined.  It  was  an  interesting  and 

most  amusing  case,  and  gave  me  a   great  insight 

into  the  point  of  vieAv  of  that  particular  stratum 

of  society  in  Toronto  life.  I   did  not  grudge  the 

time  given  to  investigating  it. 



CHAPTER  IX. 

Theft  of  Lace  and  Forgery 

ONE  day  just  as  the  Court  was  adjourned and  I   was  leaving  the  Bench,  the  sergeant 

of  detectives,  Newhall,  came  in  and  asked 

me  if  I   would  wait  a   minute,  to  remand  a 

prisoner  who  had  just  been  placed  in  the  dock. 

The  prisoner  was  a   respectable  looking  young 

woman,  a   housemaid  in  a   gentleman  ̂ s  family. 
Newhall  had  the  charge  prepared  and  swore 

to  it,  charging  her  with  the  theft  from  her 

mistress  of  a   quantity  of  lace,  and  I   arraign- 

ed the  young  woman,  and  asked  her  whether 

she  pleaded  guilty  or  not  guilty. 

‘H  am  not  guilty,’’  she  said  very  earnestly. 
I   was  impressed  at  once  with  the  feeling  that 

she  was  innocent,  and  in  a   low  voice  I   cross-ex- 
amined Newhall,  who  was  standing  close  to  me. 

I   said : 

^‘Have  you  got  any  evidence  against  that 

prisoner!” 
‘‘Yes,”  said  Newhall.  “It  is  a   clear  case.” 
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‘‘That  is  strange/’  I   said,  “for  I   do  not  think 

she  is  guilty,  ’   ’   and  I   asked  what  the  evidence  was. 

He  replied :   “I  fonnd  some  of  the  stolen  lace  in 
her  trnnk,  and  there  is  a   witness  who  saw  her  com- 

ing from  the  room  from  which  the  lace  was 

stolen.  ’ 

“How  much  lace  was  stolen!”  I   asked. 

“About  one  hundred  dollars’  worth.” 

‘   ‘   How  much  was  found  in  her  trunk  ?   ’   ’ 

“About  ten  dollars’  worth.” 
T   then  asked  who  saw  her  coming  out  of  the 

room,  and  Newhall  said  a   fellow  servant,  and  he 

added,  “She  is  here”  and  indicated  to  me  where 
she  was  sitting  at  the  side  of  the  courtroom. 

“I  looked  at  the  young  woman  and  said,  “I  be- 
lieve that  she  is  the  one  that  stole  the  lace,  for  only 

a   tenth  part  has  been  found.”  I   then  asked  him 
if  he  knew  where  her  home  was,  and  found  that 

although  living  at  the  house  where  she  was  em- 
ployed, she  had  an  aunt  living  near,  whose  house 

was  her  home.  I   suggested  that  it  would  do  no 

harm  if  he  were  to  search  the  aunt’s  house  as  soon 
as  possible,  to  see  whether  most  of  the  lace  was 
there  or  not. 

The  prisoner  was  remanded  till  the  morning.  I 

issued  a   search  warrant  to  Newhall,  to  make  the 

search,  and  in  the  morning  I   heard  that  the  rest 

of  the  lace  had  been  found  in  the  aunt’s  house,  in 
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the  woman’s  trunk,  and  that  she  had  been  arrested 
on  the  charge  of  theft.  She  pleaded  guilty,  and 

admitted  having  placed  a   portion  of  the  lace  in 

her  fellow  servant’s  trunk,  to  create  suspicion  and 
relieve  herself.  She  was  senteuced,  while  the  first 

prisoner  was  discharged.  I   was  glad  that  I   had 

paid  attention  to  what  was  only  an  intuitive  feel- 
ing, and  that  I   had  followed  it  up  by  active  steps 

to  endeavour  to  find  out  the  truth. 

I   will  mention  another  case  where  an  intuitive 

feeling  that  a   prisoner  was  innocent,  in  spite  of 

strong  evidence  to  the  contrary,  caused  me  to  take 

drastic  measures  to  get  at  the  truth,  although  it  is 

not  supposed  to  be  the  business  of  a   judge  to  inter- 
fere in  the  searching  out  of  evidence. 

In  this  case  a   young  man  named  McEachren  em- 

ployed in  a   carpet  shop  on  Yonge  Street,  had  em- 

bezzled some  thirty  dollars  of  his  employer’s 
money,  and  absconded  to  the  United  States.  Some 

weeks  after  he  returned  to  Toronto,  and  gave  him- 

self up,  and  his  friends  repaid  the  money,  and  as 

he  was  only  a   lad  of  about  seventeen  years  of  age 

of  previously  good  character,  I   gave  him  a   short 

sentence  of  some  seven  or  ten  days. 

When  this  was  done  the  employer  asked  to  lay 

a   fresh  charge  of  forgery,  claiming  that  the  pris- 

oner had  forged  his  name  to  a   cheque  for  $90.00 

the  day  he  left  Toronto,  and  had  got  it  cashed  at 
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the  bank.  I   swore  the  employer  to  the  informa- 
tion, and  arraigned  the  lad  and  asked  him  if  he 

pleaded  gnilty  or  not  gnilty.  He  said  ̂ ‘ Not  guilty’ ’ 
with  such  an  honest  air,  that  I   at  once  doubted  his 

guilt  and  I   was  so  convinced,  that  I   began  making 

inquiries  into  the  evidence.  The  cheque  was  there, 

and  the  employer  declared  positively  that  the 

cheque  was  filled  up  in  the  young  man’s  hand- 
writing, but  that  the  signature  was  a   fairly  good 

imitation  of  his  own.  I   also  learned  that  the 

banker  was  able  almost  positively  to  identify  the 

prisoner,  as  the  lad  who  cashed  the  cheque.  I   left 

the  Bench,  and  went  into  my  private  room,  and 

sent  for  detective  J ohn  Hodgins  then  on  our  staff. 

I   informed  him  of  what  had  just  occurred  in  the 

Court,  and  told  him  I   believed  that  McEachren 

was  innocent,  and  asked  him  to  go  to  the  carpet 

shop  as  if  looking  for  evidence  against  the  accused, 

and  I   suggested  to  him  that  he  should  interview 

all  the  employees,  and  see  if  there  was  a   young 

fair-haired  lad  of  the  height  and  general  appear- 

ance of  the  prisoner,  and  if  there  was,  then  to  en- 
deavour to  find  out  whether  he  had  been  flush  with 

money  the  day  after  McEachren  had  run  away. 

Sending  him  off  on  this  work,  I   returned  to  the 

Bench,  and  went  on  trying  my  cases. 

In  two  or  three  hours  I   had  finished  my  court, 

and  was  in  my  room  when  Detective  Hodgins  came 
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in.  He  reported  that  there  was  a   yonng  lad  named 

Bright,  about  the  same  age,  height  and  complexion 

as  the  accused  working  in  the  shop,  and  that  he 

had  taken  his  address  among  the  others,  and  had 

gone  to  his  boarding-house,  and  made  inquiries. 

He  was  told  that  some  weeks  before,  he  had  re- 

ceived a   letter  with  some  money  from  an  uncle  in 

the  country,  that  he  had  paid  three  weeks  board 

which  he  owed,  and  three  weeks  ahead,  and  had 

bought  himself  a   new  suit  of  clothes.  Plodgins 

asked  the  boarding-house  keeper  if  he  could  look 

up  his  books,  and  fix  the  date  on  which  the  board 

was  paid.  It  turned  out  to  be  just  the  day  after 

McEachren  had  gone. 
I   then  concluded  that  I   had  discovered  the  real 

forger,  but  still  it  was  difficult  to  prove,  and  he 

might  escape.  I   sent  down  to  the  cells  and  had 

the  young  prisoner  brought  up  to  my  room.  He 

had  been  remanded  till  the  next  day,  to  come  up 

to  be  tried  on  the  new  charge  of  forgery.  I   told 

him  that  I   did  not  believe  the  charge  against  him, 

and  that  I   thought  he  was  innocent.  He  repeated 

his  denial  of  all  knowledge  of  the  forgery.  I 

told  him  who  I   thought  had  done  it,  and  he  seemed 

shocked  to  think  that  his  writing  had  been  forged 

by  a   fellow  clerk.  I   advised  him  to  apply  for  a 

warrant  for  the  ari*est  of  Bright  as  a   witness 
not  likely  to  appear  on  a   subpoena,  in  order  that 
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we  might  secure  him.  He  agreed  to  this,  and  I 
issued  a   warrant  for  the  arrest  of  Bright  as  a 

witness  and  gave  it  to  Hodgins. 

The  next  morning  I   found  Hodgins  waiting  for 

me  at  my  office.  He  told  me  that  he  had  waited 

at  the  door  of  the  hoarding-house  till  Bright  ar- 
rived in  the  evening,  and,  as  he  was  entering, 

seized  him  by  the  collar. 

‘‘You  are  my  prisoner  in  the  Queen’s  name,”  he 
said. 

The  lad  wilted  and  asked  the  reason. 

.   ‘   ‘   Oh,  ’   ’   said  Hodgins,  ‘   ‘   about  the  forgery  of  that 

cheque.” 
“My  Grod!  How  did  I   get  found  out?” 

“I  know  all  about  it,”  said  Hodgins,  and  he  took 
him  to  the  station.  Before  starting  he  gave  him 

the  usual  caution,  that  he  was  not  bound  to  answer 

any  questions  or  say  anything,  but  that  if  he  did, 

it  could  be  used  in  evidence  against  him.  Then  as 

they  walked  along  Hodgins  said: 

“What  possessed  you  to  do  that!”  He  then 
told  him  that  he  knew  McEachren  had  run  away 
to  the  States,  that  he  did  not  think  he  would  come 

back,  and  so  he  wrote  out  a   cheque  imitating  his 

handwriting,  and  forged  the  signature  of  his  em- 

ployer. He  then  went  to  the  bank  and  cashed  it, 

endorsing  it  with  a   good  imitation  of  McEachren ’s 
signature. 
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When  Hodgins  brought  him  into  the  station, 

Deputy  Chief  Stuart  was  there,  and  Hodgins  told 

him,  in  the  young  man’s  presence,  that  he  had 
cautioned  him  and  repeated  the  caution,  and  told 

the  Deputy  that  the  prisoner  admitted  that  he  had 

committed  the  forgery.  The  prisoner  corroborated 
this. 

Hodgins  then  prepared  an  information  charging 

Bright  with  having  committed  the  forgery.  When 

McEachren  was  called  to  stand  his  trial,  the  Crown 

put  in  some  evidence,  and  then  Bright  was  called, 

and  soon  cleared  the  prisoner.  Bright  was  then 

arraigned,  and  committed  for  trial. 

When  the  assizes  were  opened  shortly  after. 

Chief  Justice  Sir  John  Hagarty  was  on  the 

Bench,  and  I   went  to  see  him  and  told  him  the 

whole  story,  of  how  we  had  entrapped  the  young 

man  to  save  an  innocent  party,  but  that  he  was 

only  a   lad,  and  I   hoped  he  would  be  as  lenient  with 
him  as  he  could.  He  said  he  would  remember  what 

I   said  and  do  the  best  he  could  for  him.  He  only 
sent  him  to  jail  for  two  months.  . 

This  was  another  case,  where  I   took  irregular 

methods  to  do  substantial  justice. 



CHAPTER  X. 

A   Ministerial  Association. 

WE  have  had  a   Ministerial  Association  in Toronto  for  a   great  many  years,  I   should 

think  more  than  thirty,  composed  of  very 

worthy  religions  people  who  formed  themselves 

into  an  organization  for  bringing  pressure  upon 

the  Board  of  Police  Commissioners,  to  enforce  the 

most  drastic  and  cruel  punishment,  upon  certain 

classes  of  the  criminal  population  who  offended 

their  tender  susceptibilities.  I   have  found  many 

of  these  really  worthy  people,  in  well-meaning  en- 

thusiasm, and  forgetting  the  example  of  their  Mas- 
ter, who  told  the  woman  to  go  and  sin  no  more, 

urging  the  most  severe  punishments  on  people 

who,  if  erring,  were  certainly  unfortunate  and  to 

be  pitied.  They  showed  the  spirit  of  the  old 

Puritan,  who  said  of  his  opponents,  Smite  them, 

oh  Lord,  hip  and  thigh,  from  Dan  even  unto 

Beersheba,  from  the  rising  of  the  sun  until  the  go- 

ing down  thereof 

The  origin  of  the  Ministerial  Association  was 

curious  and  interesting.  There  was  a   Presbyter- 
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ian  elder  who  kept  a   shop  on  a   quiet  street  in  the 

city,  and  next  door  to  him  was  a   small  cottage, 

which  was  rented  by  a   young  woman  living  alone 

with  a   young  girl  as  a   domestic.  She  lived  very 

quietly  and  apparently  respectably,  but  the  elder 

became  suspicious  and  felt  that,  in  view  of  his  posi- 
tion as  a   pillar  of  the  church,  a   woman  such  as  he 

suspected  her  to  be  should  not  live  next  door  to 
him.  He  went  to  the  Chief  Constable  and  asked 

him  to  drive  her  out.  The  Chief  questioned  him 

closely,  and  could  not  find  anything  to  justify  him 

in  taking  action.  There  were  no  rows,  no  noise, 

no  traffic  of  people  coming  and  going,  and  appar- 
ently the  woman  was  living  a   quiet  and  respectable 

life.  But  the  Chief  told  him  that  if  ever  he  heard 

a   row  going  on  in  the  house,  any  fighting  that 

would  justify  the  police  entering,  to  notify  the 

police,  and  they  would  enter  and  arrest  the  in- 
mates, and  if  there  was  anything  wrong  it  would 

probably  be  discovered. 

I   knew  nothing  about  this,  and  one  morning  I 

found  in  the  dock  a   well-dressed,  respectable  look- 
ing young  woman  and  four  men.  The  woman  was 

charged  with  keeping  a   disorderly  house,  and  the 

men  with  being  frequenters.  As  soon  as  the  case 

was  called,  the  Deputy  Chief  Constable  asked  to 

have  the  case  adjourned  till  the  next  day,  as  there 
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was  something  peculiar  about  it,  and  he  wished  to 
make  inquiries. 

The  next  morning  I   fully  investigated  the  case, 

and  discovered  that  about  10  o   ’clock,  on  the  night 

of  the  arrest,  four  men  had  gone  to  the  woman’s 
door,  and  when  she  came  to  it,  they  forced  their 

way  into  the  sitting-room,  took  off  their  coats 
and  refused  to  leave  the  house.  The  woman  sent 

her  servant  girl  at  once  for  the  police,  and  being 

afraid  to  stay  in  the  house  stood  on  her  front  door- 
step waiting  her  return.  She  gave  evidence  that 

a   man  ran  past  the  door  and  made  a   signal  to  one 

of  the  men  standing  near  her,  and  the  four  men 

began  apparently  to  fight  with  one  another  and  use 

bad  language,  when  suddenly  a   squad  of  police 

came  up  and  arrested  them  all. 

With  the  police  came  the  elder,  and  the  police 

proved  that  he  had  come  to  the  station  and  stated 

that  a   row  was  going  on  in  the  house.  It  was 
further  shown  that  one  of  the  four  men  had  been 

induced  by  the  others  to  go  up  with  them,  as  they 
intended  to  create  a   row  in  order  to  have  a   house 

arrested.  Another  policeman  on  duty  in  the  other 

direction  gave  evidence  of  the  young  girl  coming  to 
him  for  assistance. 

The  case  was  at  once  dismissed,  and  the  woman 
discharged.  Mr.  Murphy,  her  counsel,  immediate- 

ly applied  for  a   summons  against  the  elder,  and 
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the  three  men,  for  a   conspiracy  against  the  woman. 

They  were  committed  for  trial  on  this  new  charge 

and  convicted,  the  elder  being  fined  twenty  dollars. 

He  at  once  went  to  his  pastor  for  sympathy  and 

encouragement.  The  pastor  called  a   meeting  of 

the  ministers  of  the  different  churches,  and  a 

Ministerial  Association  was  organized. 



CHAPTER  XI. 

Doctor  R.  A.  P.  Sheppard 

Perhaps  the  most  remarkable  character that  appeared  in  the  Court  in  my  time  was 

an  old  negro  named  ‘‘Doctor’^  R.  A.  P. 

Sheppard,  but  always  known  as  ̂ ‘Doc’’  Shep- 
pard. He  often  appeared  in  various  capacities, 

and  acquired  such  a   notoriety  or  reputation,  that 

everyone  knew  of  him,  and  once  during  his  life- 

time a   biography  of  him  was  published  in  pamph- 

let form  and  had  a   large  sale.  He  deserves  a 

chapter  to  himself. 

Sheppard  was  an  active,  well  built  man  of  med- 
ium height,  of  very  dark  colour,  with  an  immense 

mouth  and  large  protruding  lips.  This  gave  him 

a   very  open  countenance,  and  when  he  smiled  it 

was  a   smile  that  spread  all  over  his  face  so  that  it 

seemed  all  smile,  and  tliere  was  a   very  benignant 

air  about  it,  not  often  seen.  The  lips  were  so  pro- 
truding that  when  he  spoke  they  seemed  to  Avave  in 

the  air,  and  from  practice,  or  unconsciously,  he 

was  in  the  habit  in  conversation  of  using  them  so 
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freely  that  I   always  said  he  gesticulated  with  his 

lips.  He  was  unique  in  this  respect. 

Sheppard  had  been  sent  from  London,  Ontario, 
to  the  Central  Prison  at  Toronto  for  six  months 

for  stealing  a   hive  of  honey.  While  there  he  took 

a   great  interest  in  the  Sunday  School  among  the 

prisoners,  and  tried  to  learn  all  they  could  teach 

him.  He  could  not  read,  but  he  learned  a   lot  of 

the  stock  religious  phrases,  which  he  sometimes 
used  in  his  conversation. 

After  his  discharge  from  the  prison  he  went  to 

live  in  a   cheap  ten-cent  lodging-house  that  was 
kept  by  an  old  negro  couple,  harmless  creatures, 

who  belonged  to  the  Coloured  Baptist  Church. 

After  a   time  he  decided  to  marry  the  maid-servant, 

the  drudge  of  this  lodging-house.  She  was  a   tall, 
thin,  angular,  white  spinster  of  about  fifty  years  of 

age. 
Sergeant  Reburn  of  the  detective  force  told  the 

anecdote  which  rapidly  spread  and  introduced  the 

name  of  ̂ ‘Doctor’’  Sheppard  to  our  knowledge. 
It  appeared  that  Sheppard  could  not  raise  the  sum 

of  two  dollars  to  buy  the  marriage  license  to  enable 

him  to  get  married  to  this  woman.  Pie  tried  to 

borrow  the  money  fi‘om  several  persons,  without 
success,  and  he  then  applied  to  Reburn. 

‘H  want  to  ask  you  a   great  favour,  Massa  Re- 
burn. AVould  you  ’l)lige  me  wid  de  loan  of  two 
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dollars  till  Friday?  I   want  to  bny  a   marriage 

license,  and  I   will  pay  yon  for  sliuah  on  Friday^’. 
Reburn  said: 

‘‘Are  yon  quite  sure  yon  can  pay  me  back  on 

Friday?’’ 
‘   ‘   Sartin  sbnah,  Massa  Rebnrn  ’   ’. 
Then  said  Rebnrn : 

“I  will  tell  yon  what  to  do,  yon  are  sure  to  have 
the  money  on  Friday,  so  wait  till  Friday,  get  your 

money,  bny  the  license,  and  get  married  then.” 

Sheppard  thought’  over  the  suggestion  for 
awhile,  and  then  very  seriously  replied : 

“It  ain’t  no  wise  posserble,  Massa  Rebnrn;  de 

woman  can’t  be  put  off.” 
As  a   matter  of  fact  Sheppard  got  the  license  on 

credit,  and  I   doubt  if  he  ever  paid  for  it.  The 

clergyman,  I   understood,  was  paid  in  the  same 
way. 

Sheppakd  as  Witness 

A   short  time  after  this,  before  I   had  ever  seen 

Sheppard,  the  old  negro  couple  who  kept  the  lodg- 

ing-house were  brought  before  me  on  the  charge 

of  keeping  a   disorderly  house.  The  Deputy  Chief 

Constable,  who  had  laid  the  charge,  called  Shep- 
pard as  his  first  witness.  I   was  surprised  to  see 

an  old  negro,  whom  I   had  never  seen  before,  get  up 
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from  the  rear  of  the  courtroom  in  response  to  the 

call,  and  come  forward  saying  in  a   loud  voice : 

‘‘Heah  I   is;  I’se  fighting  de  battle  of  de  Lord, 

and  ye  can  tell  ob  de  tree  by  its  fruit.  ’   ̂ 
He  was  sworn  and  told  me  several  things  which 

I   think  were  inventions,  but  he  showed  that  he  was 

very  indignant  because  the  old  negress  had  told 

the  Baptist  Church  authorities,  that  he  (Shep- 
pard) had  been  in  the  Central  Prison,  and  that, 

in  consequence,  the  select  congregation  of  that 
church  would  not  admit  him  as  a   member.  He 

complained  of  this,  saying  in  his  picturesque  way 
that, 

‘^De  old  lady  dah,  shot  off  her  mouth  at  me  to 

de  church.’^ 
The  late  Nicholas  Murphy,  K.C.,  appeared  for 

the  defendants,  and  commenced  to  cross-examine 
the  witness. 

‘AVhat  is  your  nameP’ 

Dr.  R.  A.  P.  Sheppard.’’ 
‘‘Are  you  a   doctor  of  medicine  or  a   doctor  of 

divinity?” 
‘‘Neider,  sah.  Dat  is  my  Christian  name.  I 

was  named  after  my  old  Massa  when  1   was  a 

slave  afoah  de  war.  ’ ’ 
Sheppard  had  said  in  his  evidence  that  the  con- 

duct of  the  old  people  was  bad,  that  as  a   father  of 

a   family,  with  grown-up  sons  and  daughters,  lie 
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could  not  stand  such  goings-on,  and  that  he  had 
complained  frequently  to  the  police. 

Mr.  Murphy  went  on  to  cross-examine  him. 

‘‘You  are  a   married  man,  doctor T’ 

“Yes,  sah.^’ 

“When  were  you  married!’’ 

“   On  de  31st  day  of  J anuary  last  ’   ’. 

“That  is  to  your  present  wife.” 

“Yes,  sah”. 

“When  were  you  married  to  your  first  wife!” 

“Dis  is  my  fust  wife.” 

“Do  you  mean  to  tell  me  that  you  were  never 
married  before!” 

“Yes,  sah”. 

“Are  you  quite  sure  about  that!” 
“Sartin,  shuah”. 

“Now,  then,”  said  Mr.  Murphy,  “what  did 
mean  by  telling  his  worship  a   few  minutes  ago 

that  you  as  a   father  of  a   family,  with  grown-up 

sons  and  daughters,  could  not  stand  such  goings- 

on!” 
Mr.  Murphy  roared  at  him  and  scolded  and 

scolded  and  denounced  him. 

Sheppard’s  face  was  a   study.  He  smiled  down 
on  Mr.  Murphy  with  the  most  kindly  and  benign- 

ant air,  which  only  made  Mr.  Murphy  more  ve- 
hement and  then  with  the  utmost  coolness  said : 
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^‘Mista  Murphy,  ainh  dar  heaps  of  folks  who 

have  children  who  were  never  married.  ’   ’ 

Mr.  Murphy  was  taken  aback,  but  he  denounced 

him  furiously,  and  asked  him  how  he,  with  such  a 

character,  dared  to  come  into  court  and  give  evi- 
dence against  anyone,  and  the  more  he  roared  at 

him  the  more  Sheppard  smiled  most  patiently,  and 

when  Mr.  Murphy  stopped  he  said  in  the  most 
amiable  tone : 

‘‘Mista  Murphy,  can’t  a   man  reform?  You 

know  what  de  Scripture  says:  ‘As  long  as  as  de 
lamp  holds  out  to  burn  de  vilest  sinner  may  re- 

turn’.” 
“Where  do  you  get  that  text?”  asked  Murphy. 

“Dhat,  sah!  you  will  find  in  de  Gospel  ac- 
cording to  St.  John.” 

This  was  said  with  an  air  of  sorrow  at  Murphy’s 
ignorance.  Murphy  did  not  know  any  better,  so 

he  said  “that  will  do,  you  can  step  down”. 
I   need  not  say  that  Sheppard  failed  in  his  prose- 

cution. I   have  rarely  seen  a   lawyer  more  cleverly 

dealt  with  by  a   witness,  but  the  incident  required 

to  have  been  seen,  to  be  fully  appreciated. 

On  one  occasion  when  I   was  away  and  Mr.  Bou- 

stead,  J.P.,  was  taking  the  court  for  me,  Sheppard 

was  brought  up  for  disorderly  conduct  on  the 

street.  He  wished  for  an  adjournment.  He  wished 

to  be  tried  before  me.  Mr.  Murdock,  who  prac- 
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dsed  in  my  Conrt,  and  was  an  irrepressible  wag, 

told  Sheppard  he  would  prepare  an  affidavit  ask- 
ing for  an  adjournment,  and  he  prepared  one  of 

the  most  absurd  character,  which  Sheppard  put 

in,  probably  not  knowing  what  was  in  it.  Bou- 
stead  had  not  much  sense  of  humour,  and  refused 

the  adjournment,  found  Sheppard  guilty  of  dis- 
orderly conduct  and  gave  him  a   tine  or  sixty  days 

in  jail. 
In  The  Evening  Telegram  of  the  30th  and  31st 

August,  1880,  appears  the  following  account  of 
this  affidavit  and  the  result  of  the  trial : 

A   PowEKFUL  Legal  Document  that  Failed — the 
Doctor  Sent  Down  for  Two  Months 

Upon  Sheppard^s  name  being  called  this  morning  at 
the  Police  Court,  to  answer  to  the  charge  of  throwing 

stones  on  the  street,  he  slipped  up  to  the  rail  with 

a   cheerful  smile  radiating  his  countenance  like  the  pol- 
ish of  a   shining  stovepipe.  He  said: 

^‘^Your  Worship ;   I’s  here  a   dokerment  that’ll  ’stonish 

you.  My  legal  Viser  says  dat  dare’s  a   new  statute  past, 

and  dat  you  darn’t  send  dis  chile  to  prison  on  the  charge 

proffered.  Dar !” 
The  following  document  was  then  passed  up  to  the 

bench : 

The  Queen  In  the  Police 

against  Court  in  and  for 

Dr.  R.  A.  P.  Sheppard  the  City  of  Toronto 

I,  Doctor  Remiquis  Assassination  Pocliontis  Sheppard, 

of  the  City  of  Toronto,  in  the  County  of  York,  pusher 
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of  a   push-cart  and  dealer  in  broken  bottles,  heads  and 

other  things  too  delicate  to  mention,  hereby  declare  as 
follows : 

1.  I   am  the  defendant  in  a   certain  charge  now  pend- 

ing in  the  police  court  against  me  of  being  disorderly 
and  worse  than  that. 

2.  My  wife  Sarah  (sometimes  called  Sally  for  short) 

is  a   material  and  necessary  witness  for  me  on  the  said 

charge  (the  like  of  which  has  never  been  known  be- 
fore, and  equals  in  fury  and  bravery  the  charge  of 

the  Light  Brigade)  and  I   cannot  safely  proceed  with  my 

defence  to  the  said  charge  without  the  evidence  of 

my  dearly-beloved  wife  Sarah. 
3.  My  said  wife  has  been  knocked  down  in  the  eye 

with  a   stone,  and  otherwise  injured  in  the  breast,  and 

is  in  consequence  of  such  nefarious  action  on  the  part 

of  somebody  or  bodies  to  the  declarant  unknown,  dis- 
abled to  attend. 

4.  One  Michael  Kavano,  who  I   think  is  of  Italian 

extraction,  and  who  follows  the  avocation  of  a   boot- 

black,  although  I   do  not  pretend  thereby  to  insinuate 

that  he  is  a   coloured  boy,  as  I   declare  hereby  that  he 

is  a   white  child;  is  a   material  and  necessary  witness 

for  me  in  my  defence  to  the  said  charge,  and  I   cannot, 

safely  proceed  to  trial  without  the  evidence  of  the  said 
Michael  Kavano. 

5.  The  said  Michael  Kavano  is  now  a   sailor  on  Her 

Majesty's  inland  lakes,  many  miles  perhaps  from  To- 
ronto, and  it  is  impossible  for  this  declarant  to  procure 

the  attendance  of  said  Italian  at  said  trial. 

6.  Your  declarant  prays  and  submits  that  your 

Honour,  the  Honourable  James  Bellingham  Boustead, 

may  remand  the  trial  of  said  case  for  one  week,  when 
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the  declarant  is  reasonably  certain  he  can  procure  the 

attendance  of  said  two  witnesses  on  his  behalf,  and  your 

declarant  hath  signed. 

Declared  to  me  at  Toronto, 

this  30th  day  of  July,  1880 

(and  in  the  104th  year  of 

the  independence  of  the 

United  States)  pursuant  to 
37th  Victoria. 

Dr.  R.A.P. 

his  X   mark 

Sheppard. 
N.  F.  HAGEL,  a   Commissioner  for  the  County  of 

York. 

After  perusing  the  legal  declaration  with  due  dili- 

gence, the  Bench  inquired  what  the  initials  ̂ ^R.A.P.” 
stood  for. 

Sheppard — I   don’t  know.  That’s  my  ’nitials. 
Bench — What  were  you  christened? 

Sheppard — Doc. 

Bench — What !   did  you  become  a   doctor  so  soon  ? 

Sheppard — Yes,  and  I’se  a   sight  better  than  some 

whose  got  their  ’grees  from  a   college. 
Bench — We  will  not  argue  on  that  point,  but  were 

you  christened  Remiquis  Assassination  Pocliontis? 

Sheppard — Certainly  not. 

Bench — Then  this  document,  which  displays  great 
legal  astuteness,  falls  to  the  ground,  and  as  the  charge 

of  stone-throwing  is  proved  against  you,  1   sentence 

you  to  pay  $5  and  costs  or  sixty  days. 

Sheppard — Will  your  Honour  gib  dis  chile  time  to 

pay? 
Bench — No  credit  here. 
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And  the  doctor  was  led  away  with  a   sorrowful 

countenance,  as  black  as  Erebus,  to  the  deep  dungeon 

that  all  well-regulated  Police  Courts  have  on  board. 

The  next  day  the  following  letter  appeared  in 

The  Evening  Telegram : 

Ait  Explanation 

Sir, — I   have  had  my  attention  called  to  your  issue  of 
yesterday,  in  which  appears  what  purports  to  be  a 

declaration  having  the  effect  of  an  affidavit  made  be- 
fore me  by  one  Sheppard,  commonly  known  as  Dr. 

Sheppard.  With  respect  to  that  declaration  I   wish 

to  state  that  it  was  presented  to  me  while  I   was  engaged 

with  clients  by  a   barrister,  acting  on  behalf  of  Shep- 
pard, and  accompanying  him.  As  is  usual,  I   asked  the 

latter  to  declare  the  truth  of  it,  telling  him  it  was  of 

the  same  effect  as  an  oath.  I   didn’t  then  know  the 
contents  of  the  document,  nor  had  I   the  slightest  idea 

that  it  was  the  senseless  piece  of  trifling  it  was.  I   has- 
ten to  state  this,  lest  it  should  be  thought  that  I   treat 

my  commission  with  the  levity  which  the  document 
would  indicate. 

N.  F.  HAGEL. 

Sheppard  served  his  term,  but  the  next  time 

he  appeared  before  me  he  complained  bitterly  of 

Mr.  Boustead^s  action.  Although  I   could  not 
have  done  as  Mr.  Boustead  did,  I   had  to  stand 

by  him.  Sheppard  said : 

‘Mf  yo  Honah  had  been  heah,  you  would  not 
have  sent  me  down,  but  Mr.  Boustead  sent  me 

for  sixty  days.’’ 
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‘‘Yon  cannot  tell  Sheppard/’  I   said;  “If  I   had 

been  here  I   might  have  given  yon  six  months.” 
It  staggered  him  for  a   minnte,  and  then  he 

said: 

“Well,  yo  Honah,  I   wonld  not  have  cared  if 
yon  had,  for  den  I   wonld  have  known  dat  it  was 

de  law.” 
While  Sheppard  was  in  the  jail  on  this  occa- 

sion he  was  either  sick  or  pretended  to  be,  and 

lie  applied  to  the  jail  physician  Dr.  Richardson 

to  relieve  him  from  working.  Dr.  Richardson 

was  an  exceedingly  qnick-tempered  man.  He 

paid  no  attention  to  Sheppard’s  complaints  say- 

ing: “Pnt  him  to  work,  pnt  him  to  work”. 
Some  time  after  his  release  Sheppard  met  Dr. 

Richardson  on  the  street  and  sidled  np  alongside 

of  him  saving, 

“Yah!  Yah!  Pnt  him  to  work,  pnt  him  to  work. 
Yah!”  This  Avas  done  with  an  offensive  and  in- 

solent air. 

Dr.  Richardson  had  Sheppard  snmmoned  nnder 

the  by-law,  for  using  grossly  insnlting  langnage. 
I   felt  there  was  a   grave  qnestion  as  to  whether 

these  words  came  within  the  by-law  bnt  I   knew 

that  if  Sheppard  got  a   chance  to  cross-examine 
Dr.  Richardson,  he  wonld  drive  him  wild,  and 

make  a   very  nnpleasant  scene.  I   asked  one  of  Dr. 

Richardson’s  friends  to  keep  him  away  and  apply 
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for  an  adjournment.  This  I   granted  against  Shep- 

pard ^s  objections.  Dr.  Richardson  was  still  ob- 
durate, and  I   adjourned  it  again.  Sheppard  made 

a   great  objection.  He  claimed  that  he  wanted  to 

be  tried,  and  assured  me  that  there  was  nothing 
in  the  case. 

assure  yo  Honour,  dars  nothing  to  it.  It 

is  a   pure  case  ‘ob  professional  jealousy’,  refer- 

ring to  Dr.  Sheppard’s  name.  Dr.  Richardson 
dropped  the  case  the  next  time  it  came  up,  and 

often  afteiw/ards  told  the  story  to  his  friends  with 

great  glee. 

Doc  Sheppard’s  business,  as  he  explained  it 
himself,  was  collecting  rilbbish. 

One  day  in  an  abandoned  oil  refinery  Sheppard 

was  moving  about  picking  up  old  hoops  and  var- 

ious scraps  of  iron,  and  with  his  cart  fairly  full 

he  was  going  off,  when  the  caretaker  followed  him, 
stopped  him,  and  said : 

Where  did  you  git  that  ironT’ 

Sheppard  said,  ‘‘Yo  want  to  know  whar  I   got 
dat  iron.” 

“Yes  I   do.” 

“Well  come  along  wid  me  and  I’ll  show  you.” 
And  he  wheeled  his  cart  back  into  the  yard, 

dumped  the  iron  down  on  the  ground  and  said, 
“Dar’s  whar  I   got  it”,  and  started  off  as  fast  as 
he  could  go.  The  caretaker  and  several  others 
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folloTV-ed,  and  a   constable  joined  in,  and  he  was 
arrested  for  stealing  the  iron,  and  the  next  day 

appeared  before  me.  I   heard  all  the  evidence 

and  told  him  he  wms  convicted  and  was  just  going 
to  write  down  a   short  sentence  when  he  called  ont 

earnestly  ‘^Hold  on  dar  yo  Yv^orship — Hold  on 

to  dat  pen.  Deserve  (reserve)  yonr  decision.’’ 
I   stopped  and  asked  him  what  was  the  matter. 

He  said,  don’t  want  to  be  in  jail  on  Christmas. 

Remand  de  case  till  ‘^next  Tuesday  (the  day 
after  Christmas)  and  I   will  be  here  for  shnah, 

to  take  my  sentence.”.  I   said,  ‘‘Yon  are  re- 
manded on  yonr  own  bail  in  $100  to  appear  on 

the  26th  inst.”  Then  he  went  ont. 
When  his  name  was  called  on  the  26th  he  came 

to  the  bar  with  great  promptness  and  began  to 

argne  his  case  again,  with  remarkable  fluency. 

“Yo  Honour,  dar  is  a   great  principle  in  de  Brit- 
ish law  dat  if  dar  is  a   doubt  in  de  case,  the  doubt 

belongs  to  de  prisoner.  Dar  is  a   great  doubt  in 

dis  case,  and  I   claims  it.  I   have  a   great  doubt.  ’   ’ 

I   said,  “You  are  quite  right  Doctor  in  the  general 
principle,  but  it  is  not  you  that  should  have  the 

doubt.  It  is  I   that  should  have  it,  and  I   have  not 

a   particle  of  doubt.  Now  what  made  you  run 

away  if  you  were  not  guilty?”  His  reply  was  as 
quick  as  a   flash. 
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‘‘No\¥  hold  on  dar  a   minute  your  Worship. 

Yon  is  a   military  gent,  now  if  you  and  me  were 

on  a   war  together,  and  yon  said  to  me,  Sheppard, 

I   want  yon  to  go  right  on  in  front  on  a   scout, 

and  see  if  yon  see  any  of  de  enemy  coming,  and 

I   go  on  a   mile  or  two  ahead,  and  I   see  about  fifteen 

or  twenty  of  de  enemy  coming,  is  it  my  place  to 

stay  dar  and  fight?  Snttenly  not.  I   would  run 

back  as  hard  as  I   could,  and  when  I   saw  a   con- 
stable and  a   lot  of  people  running  after  me  of 

course  I   ran  away,  but  dat  aint  no  proof  dat  I 

stole  de  iron.^’  My  reply  was,  ‘Won  will  be 
committed  to  jail  for  five  days  and  you  will  be 

out  in  time  for  New  Yearns.’’ 
Sheppard  in  time  was  one  of  the  best  known 

characters  in  the  City  and  was  constantly  being 

pointed  out  to  strangers.  One  morning  as  I 

finished  the  court  and  it  Avas  adjourned,  Sheppard 

stepped  up  to  the  bar  and  said,  want  to  make 

a   complaint  to  yoah  Honour.  I   is  very  much  an- 

noyed on  de  streets  of  dis  city.  When  I^se  Avalking 
along,  nearly  everybody  glares  at  me,  and  dey 

nudges  each  other  and  say,  ̂ Dars  Doc  Sheppard,’ 

and  dey  stare  at  me  and  it ’s  going  on  all  de  time. 

It’s  a   perfect  nuisance,  and  I   want  to  ask  yoah 
Honour  if  anything  can  be  done  to  obviate  the 

annoyance.  ’   ’   I   was  thinking  while  he  was  talking, 
how  to  meet  it,  for  I   could  not  think  of  any  plan 
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for  stopping  it.  So  I   said,  ̂ ‘Well  Doctor  I   fully 
sympathize  with  you.  I   am  troubled  that  way 

myself,  I   see  people  nudging  each  other  constantly 

and  whispering,  ̂    ̂   There  is  the  Magistrate,  ’   ’   and  I 
agree  with  you,  that  it  is  very  embarrassing,  but 
I   cannot  see  what  we  can  do  about  it.  We  cannot 

prevent  people  looking  at  us,  that  is  one  of  the 

penalties  of  greatness,  and  I   am  afraid  Sheppard 

we  must  just  make  up  our  minds  to  put  up  with 

it.^’  Suttenly,  sir,  I   suppose  we  must,’’  said  Shep- 
pard, and  he  straightened  himself  up  and  went  off 

quite  contented. 

On  one  occasion  Sheppard  made  some  pitiful 

complaint  which  a   reporter  published  with  poetic 
license  as  follows: 

Out  in  the  cold  world, 

Out  in  the  street; 

Put  out  by  the  bailiff 

By  the  neck  and  the  seat. 

The  iron  trade  am  busted, 

The  push-cart  am  gone. 
My  wife  she  am  dying. 

And  I   can’t  last  long. 



CHAPTER  XII. 

The  Diamond  Robbery  and  Humorous  Cases. 

ONE  of  the  most  interesting  cases  I   ever had  was  in  connection  with  the  robbery 

of  a   valuable  diamond  ring.  One  even- 

ing some  thirty  years  ago,  a   commercial  traveller, 

for  a   Montreal  piano  factory,  was  in  Toronto 

on  business,  and  happened  to  have  entered  a 

tavern  on  Queen  Street,  a   short  distance  west  of 

Osgoode  Hall.  He  had  a   glass  or  two  of  liquor 

there  but  was  quite  sober.  He  had  on  his  finger 

a   fine  diamond  ring,  worth  more  than  $600.  He 

was  chatting  with  some  people  in  the  bar-room 

when  eleven  o’clock  came,  at  which  time  the  bar 
had  to  be  emptied,  and  the  place  closed  for  the 

night.  About  a   dozen  men  left  the  bar,  and  some 
of  them  stood  outside  a   minute  or  two  before 

separating.  When  the  commercial  traveller 

started  to  go  east  towards  his  hotel,  a   short  red- 

headed man  said,  ‘‘Oh  are  you  going  that  way.  So 

am  I,”  and  they  walked  eastward.  On  the  way 
the  red-haired  little  man  suggested  that  the  trav- 

eller should  accompany  him  to  a   friend’s  house, 
77 
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where  they  might  have  another  glass  before  they 
went  to  bed.  The  traveller  consented,  and  on 

reaching  the  corner  of  the  Osgoode  Hall  wall,  the^» 
turned  north,  then  east  along  Osgoode  Street  to 

Centre  Street,  which  was  the  first  street  running 

north.  They  turned  up  this  street  to  the  first  lane, 

then  turned  to  the  left  into  it.  They  had  hardly 
entered  when  two  tall  men  who  had  been  hidden 

jumped  on  the  traveller  and,  with  the  assistance  of 

the  red-haired  man,  threw  him  to  the  ground  and 

stole  his  ring.  He  yelled  ̂ ‘Help!  Police!  Rob- 
bers at  the  top  of  his  voice.  It  happened  that 

just  at  that  moment  a   policeman  and  two  police 

recruits  were  walking  down  Chestnut  Street,  and 

hearing  the  cries,  ran  down  the  lane,  and  ap- 
proaching Centre  Street  saw  three  men  over  one 

on  the  ground  who  was  screaming  for  help.  The 

three  men  heard  the  policemen  coming,  and  ran 

as  hard  as  they  could  towards  University  Avenue. 

The  old  policeman  passed  two  of  the  fugitives, 

leaving  his  probationers  to  secure  them,  and 
chased  and  captured  the  one  in  front.  It  was 

winter  time  and  there  was  snow  on  the  ground. 

The  three  prisoners  were  captured;  the  foremost 

one  only  getting  a   few  yards  out  of  the  lane,  the 
others  being  caught  in  it. 

The  next  morning  the  three  prisoners  were  in 

the  dock  charged  with  highway  robbery.  The  ring 
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was  not  discovered  on  tliem,  but  the  deep  snow 

prevented  any  possibility  of  finding  it.  Mr.  Mur- 

dock appeared  to  defend  them.  The  first  wit- 
ness was  the  complainant,  who  told  me  the  story 

just  as  I   have  related  it.  He  identified  the  red- 
haired  man  among  the  prisoners  positively,  conld 

not  be  positive  about  the  two  taller  men,  as  it  was 

dark,  but  said  that  if  the  two  men  in  the  dock 

were  those  caught  by  the  officers,  they  were  the 

men,  as  he  saw  them  captured.  The  next  witness 

was  the  policeman,  who  said  he  was  coming  down 

Chestnut  Street  and  when  opposite  the  lane, 

heard  the  shouts  for  help.  He  with  his  com- 

panions ran  at  full  speed  down  the  lane — ^the  lane 
from  Chestnut  Street  was  about  its  own  width  or  a 

little  more  to  the  north  of  its  continuation  from 

Centre  Street  west,  so  that  they  did  not  see  any- 
thing until  they  got  close  to  Centre  Street,  when 

they  had  a   diagonal  view,  and  saw  the  three  men 

over  the  other,  who  was  yelling  for  help.  On  his 

approach  the  men  ran  off  at  once,  but  they  were  all 

caught  after  a   sharp  chase.  The  two  recruits  cor- 

roborated this  story,  and  the  Crown  Attorney 
closed  his  case. 

Mr.  Murdock  then  put  in  his  defence.  He  said 

that  his  clients  had  nothing  to  do  with  the  rob- 

bery. That  they  had  come  from  the  eastern  part 

of  the  city  and  on  arriving  at  University  Street 
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they  had  turned  north  along  the  Osgoode  Hall 

wall,  and  on  reaching  the  first  lane  had  heard  the 

shouts  for  help.  They  ran  down  the  lane  and 

found  the  complainant  lying  on  the  ground  yell- 
ing and  calling  for  help.  They  had  just  reached 

him  when  they  heard  some  men  running  towards 

them  from  the  other  direction,  and  becoming 

frightened  they  ran  away  and  were  caught. 

There  was  also  an  attempt  to  prove  an  alibi 

showing  that  they  had  been  in  an  eastern  part  of 

the  city.  This  alibi  failed  as  they  had  plenty  of 

time  to  have  gone  the  short  distance  to  the  west, 

and  to  have  met  the  complainant  at  the  tavern. 
Mr.  Murdock  also  said  that  his  clients  were 

respectable  farmers’  sons  from  Alliston,  a   vil- 
lage about  fifty  miles  from  Toronto,  and  were  men 

of  good  character.  Mr.  Murdock  did  not  seem 

to  have  much  confidence  in  the  story  of  his  clients. 

I   was  uneasy,  however,  and  called  the  traveller 

back  to  the  witness  box,  and  said,  ̂ ‘Are  you  posi- 
tively certain,  that  the  small  red-haired  man  is  the 

same  man  you  saw  at  the  tavern,  and  who  walked 

with  you  to  the  place  where  you  were  robbed?” 

am  positive,  sir,”  he  replied,  “I  walked  with 
him  talking  to  him  under  the  lights  of  the  streets, 

had  an  excellent  opportunity  of  seeing  him,  and 

am  quite  sure  he  is  the  man,  and  besides,  your 

Worship,  he  was  not  out  of  my  sight  for  a   second, 
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for  I   saw  him  caught  in  the  lane  ’   I   then  said : 
Could  you  not  have  been  knocked  senseless  for 

a   few  seconds r’  ‘^No/’  he  replied,  ‘‘I  was  in 

full  possession  of  my  senses  all  the  time.’^ 
The  case  was  finished,  and  ordinarily  I   would 

have  sentenced  them  to  the  Penitentiary  at  once, 

but  for  some  reason  I   was  uncertain,  and  to 

the  astonishment  of  the  Crown  Counsel,  I   re- 
manded them  for  a   week. 

Thinking  over  the  case  after  the  Court  was 

over,  I   felt  uncomfortable.  As  far  as  the  case 

was  concerned,  it  was  absolutely  proved,  and  it 

was  not  on  circumstantial  evidence ;   it  was  direct, 

positive  testimony,  showing  that  the  prisoners  had 

been  caught  in  the  act.  It  was  a   serious  case,  a 

Penitentiary  otfence,  and  yet  I   had  a   doubt,  and 

was  worried  about  it.  I   went  to  the  Chief  Con- 

stable, and  told  him  to  send  me  a   detective  whom 

I   would  want  for  a   few  days,  and  to  supply  him 
with  funds  to  take  him  to  Alliston. 

Detective  Burrows  came  to  my  room  shortly  af- 
terward. I   told  him  I   wanted  to  see  him  about 

the  diamond  robbery.  Burrows  said  it  was  a   very 

clever  capture  by  the  constable,  and  a   very  clear 

case.  He  was  very  much  surprised  when  I   told 

him  I   was  worried  about  it,  and  I   gave  him  my 

directions.  I   told  him  to  go  to  Alliston,  a   small 

village  in  the  country,  and  pretend  to  be  an  agent 
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for  the  sale  of  fruit  trees.  I   told  him  to  put  up 

at  the  tavern,  and  talk  fruit  trees  to  everyone — 
that  he  could  in  that  way  in  the  day  time  move 

about  among  the  farmers  and  talk  to  them  with- 

out exciting  suspicion,  and  I   said,  ‘^The  whole 
country  side  will  be  talking  about  these  three 

young  men  who  are  in  prison  on  remand.  In  the 

grocery  shop  you  can  talk  trees,  and  listen  to  the 

talk  about  this  robbery  case — the  same  way  in 
the  tavern  bar-room,  find  out  what  is  the  belief 

in  the  neighbourhood,  as  to  the  guilt  or  innocence 

of  these  young  men,  and  find  out  some  way  or 

other,  whether  any  of  these  men  were  ever  away 

for  any  length  of  time  in  a   large  city,  or  whether 

any  of  them  have  ever  lived  away  in  the  States.  ’   ’ 
Burrows  came  back  in  a   few  days  and  came  to 

my  room  and  said  that  he  was  puzzled  about  the 
case.  He  told  me  there  was  not  a   soul  he  could 

find  that  would  believe  one  word  of  the  story, 

and  he  had  found  out  positively,  that  none  of  the 
three  had  ever  left  their  farms  for  more  than  a 

few  days,  and  none  of  them  had  ever  been  in  the 

States.  I   said  at  once,  ‘^Then  we  have  the  wrong 
men.  This  was  a   piece  of  skilled  scientific  crim- 

inal work  done  by  old  hands,  and  farmers^  sons 
never  did  it.  Their  story  was  true,  the  man  was 

knocked  senseless  for  long  enough  for  the  trans- 

position to  take  place,  and  he  has  not  known  it’’. 
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and  I   told  him  to  go  to  the  tavern  where  the  trav- 
eller had  met  with  the  red-haired  man,  and  said, 

‘‘I  think  yon  will  find  that  one  of  onr  own  crooks  a 
red-headed  small  man  who  looks  like  the  red- 

haired  prisoner,  was  there  that  night,  and  when 

yon  find  that  ont  yon  will  he  able  to  tell  who  his 

chnms  were  ’   \ 
Bnrrows  left  and  made  these  inqniries  and 

either  the  next  day  or  the  following  day,  he  came 

to  me,  and  told  me  that  he  had  fonnd  ont  all  about 

it,  told  me  the  names  of  the  three  men  who 

were  all  in  the  tavern  that  night.  I   said  at  once 

that  the  red-haired  men  looked  very  mnch  alike. 
Bnrrows  Avent  on  to  say  that  they  had  knocked 

the  man  senseless,  and  escaped  throngh  a   disre- 
pntable  honse  jnst  opposite  to  where  the  man  was 

robbed.  He  asked  me  if  he  shonld  lay  charges 

against  the  real  criminals,  bnt  I   advised  him  not, 

as  the  traveller  had  been  so  positive,  and  insisted 

on  identifying  the  wrong  man,  and  that  therefore 

we  conld  not  do  anything. 

The  next  day  the  three  yonng  farmers  were  np 

on  remand,  and  when  called,  Mr.  Murdock  asked 

to  put  in  evidence  of  good  character,  and  he  had 

all  the  best  people  of  their  neighbourhood  present 

to  give  that  in  mitigation  of  sentence.  I   stopped 
him  at  once  and  told  the  prisoners  that  I   was  going 

to  discharge  them,  that  I   was  satisfied  that  they 
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were  absolutely  innocent,  that  I   regretted  very 

much  having  kept  them  in  jail  for  a   week,  but 

that  I   did  so  in  their  interest,  and  I   discharged 

them.  The  Crown  Attorney  was  astonished  and 

came  up  to  the  front  of  my  desk,  and  asked  me 

what  was  the  matter,  that  he  never  saw  a   clearer 

case.  I   said,  will  tell  you  after  CourC^  Mur- 
dock came  up  shortly  afterwards  in  his  quaint 

way  and  said  to  me  quietly,  ‘   ̂   Heavens !   Colonel 
what  struck  you  I   I   had  the  Warden  and  the  Reev^ 

and  the  Parsons,  etc.,  all  here  to  speak  for  them. 

I   said,  ̂ ‘there  has  been  a   mistake,  your  clients’ 

story  was  quite  true.” 
Now  referring  to  this  case  I   think  I   may  say 

that  I   do  not  believe  another  judge  in  Canada 
would  have  taken  the  course  I   did.  I   knew  it 

was  irregular,  and  contrary  to  every  rule  of  legal 

evidence,  or  legal  procedure,  but  I   have  always 

felt  that  my  first  duty  was  to  do  justice,  justice 

above  everything,  and  to  set  legal  quibbles  at  de- 

fiance. And  while  this  was  the  most  irregular 

procedure  in  my  experience,  it  is  the  one  of  which 

I   am  most  proud,  and  to  which  I   look  back  Avith 
the  most  satisfaction. 

To  finish  with  this  matter  I   may  say  that  within 

a   year  all  three  of  the  real  thieves  Avere  up  before 

me  for  different  crimes  clearly  proved,  and  they 

must  all  have  thought  that  I   had  eaten  something 
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that  had  disagreed  with  me,  and  put  me  in  a   bad 

temper,  for  I   took  a   serious  view  of  their  cases, 

and  gave  them  severe  sentences. 

Some  cases  are  hnmorons  in  their  character. 

On  one  occasion  a   batch  of  twenty  or  thirty 

citizens  were  summoned  for  not  registering 

the  birth  of  their  babies  within  the  thirty  days 

prescribed  by  the  law.  I   fined  the  educated 

people  and  those  in  comfortable  circumstances 

one  dollar  and  costs  each,  because  I   thought 

they  should  know  of  the  law,  and  could  af- 
ford to  pay  the  fines,  but  the  poor  labouring 

men,  who  lost  their  wages  while  attending  the 

court,  I   treated  more  leniently,  allowing  them 

to  go  with  a   caution.  One  wealthy  barrister, 

a   friend  of  mine,  had  to  plead  guilty,  and  I 

fined  him  and  said  to  him,  ‘^Now,  don’t  let  this 

occur  again”.  He  had  a   large  family,  and  he 
used  to  tell  the  story  afterwards  as  his  experience 

of  the  Police  Court,  and  repeat  the  warning  I   had 

given  him  not  to  let  it  occur  again,  and  he  would 

say,  ‘^and  I   never  have”. 

Another  man’s  name  was  called  and  a   Queen’s 
Counsel  answered,  and  said  the  registration  had 

been  neglected,  and  excused  his  client  on  the 

ground  that  he  had  only  been  a   few  months  from 

England. 
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^‘Then  he  had  no  excuse,  because  the  laws  of 

registration  are  well  understood  in  England.’’ 

Then  I   asked,  ̂   AVhat  is  the  defendant’s  position! 
What  does  he  do  !   ” 

‘‘He  is  a   doctor.” 

“Then  there  is  no  excuse  whatever  in  his  case. 

Two  dollars  and  costs.” 

“But,”  said  the  Q.  C.,  “you  only  fined  the  others 
one  dollar  and  costs.” 

“Yes,  I   know,  but  when  a   man  appears  by 
counsel  he  is  entitled  to  more  consideration.” 

The  lawyer  told  me  afterwards  that  his  client 

was  delighted  with  my  action  and  paid  the  extra 

dollar  cheerfully,  to  have  the  joke  on  him,  and  that 

he  had  chaffed  him  a   good  deal  about  the  value  of 
his  services. 

Snow  Cases 

Another  class  of  case  which  gave  me  a   good  deal 

of  work,  but  which  now  is  always  done  by  the  other 

police  magistrates,  was  the  failure  to  clean  the 

sidewalks  of  snow,  and  a   large  proportion  of 

the  respectable  citizens  have  been  summoned  for 

neglect  of  the  provisions  of  the  snow  by-law. 

On  one  occasion  the  late  Sir  William  Howland, 

formerly  Lieutenant-Governor  of  the  Province, 
was  summoned  for  not  having  the  snow  cleaned 
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from  the  sidewalk  in  front  of  a   vacant  lot  he 

owned.  When  his  name  was  called  his  secretary 

answered,  and  said  he  was  authorized  to  admit  the 

charge  and  to  pay  the  fine,  and  wished  to  explain 
that  Sir  William  Howland  had  paid  a   man  for 

cleaning  it  and  the  man  had  neglected  it.  I   fined 

him  one  dollar  and  costs  or  ten  days,  the  usual 

fine.  The  secretary  paid  it  and  went  away. 

Meeting  Sir  William  at  my  club,  he  referred  to 
it  and  told  me  of  the  trouble  it  was  to  watch  over 

various  vacant  properties.  A   year  elapsed,  and 

the  same  thing  occurred  again.  The  secretary 

answered  the  name,  made  the  same  excuse,  and 

pleaded  guilty. 

‘Ht  will  be  one  dollar  and  costs  or  ten  days,’^ 

said  I,  and  then  suddenly  I   said:  ‘^No,  I   will  not 

make  that  ten  days,  I   will  make  it  eight  days.  ’   ’ 
The  fine  was  paid,  and  after  court  I   went  to  my 

club  to  lunch.  Sir  William  came  in  to  lunch  also, 

and  I   beckoned  him  to  come  over  to  my  table.  I 

joked  him  about  being  up  again,  and  he  laughed 

over  it,  and  we  discussed  other  matters,  but  just 
as  I   was  leaving  he  said: 

‘^Oh,  Colonel,  I   wanted  to  ask  you  something. 
My  secretary  said  you  first  said  one  dollar  and 

costs  or  ten  days  and  then  you  changed  it  to  eight 

days.  He  could  not  understand  the  meaning  of  it, 
nor  could 
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^^Did  yon  not  see  the  meaning  of  that,  Sir 
William?  Well,  I   will  explain.  You  had  the 

privilege  of  paying  the  fine  or  of  serving  the  term 

if  you  chose,  and  it  suddenly  struck  me  that  if  you 

chose  to  serve  the  term  it  would  just  keep  you  in 

jail  till  the  day  after  Christmas,  whereas  eight 

days  would  let  you  out  the  day  before  Christ- 
mas, and  as  we  were  old  friends,  I   could  not  bear 

the  idea  of  your  being  in  on  Christmas,  so  I 

arranged  it  as  I   did.  I   think  it  was  a   very 

kindly,  thoughtful  act.’’ 
do  not  think  anybody  else  in  the  world  would 

have  thought  of  it,  ’   ’   he  said,  laughing  heartily.  I 
heard  that  he  often  afterwards  told  the  story, 

saying  that  he  had  got  favours  from  me  that  I 

had  not  given  to  anyone  else.  He  was  a   very  fine 

old  gentleman,  one  of  the  Fathers  of  Confedera- 

tion, and  lived  to  be  ninety-six  years  of  age. 



CHAPTER  XIII. 

Old  Soldiers. 

I   HAVE  many  recollections  of  old  soldiers. I   commanded  for  about  forty  years  the 

Governor-GeneraPs  Body  Guard,  which  form- 

ed the  cavalry  of  the  Toronto  active  militia, 
and  commanded  it  at  the  Fenian  Raid  of  1866 

at  Fort  Erie,  and  again  in  the  Northwest 

Rebellion  of  1885.  On  the  1st  April,  1885, 

I   had  just  finished  my  court,  when  I   received 

telegraphic  orders  to  turn  out  my  corps  for  active 

service  in  the  Northwest.  I   issued  orders  at  once, 

and  left  Toronto  with  my  Command  three  or  four 

days  later,  and  was  away  from  Toronto  for  nearly 

four  months.  On  our  return  the  Corps  was  re- 

leased from  duty,  and  the  next  morning  I   took  my 
seat  on  the  Bench. 

To  my  surprise  I   found  that  the  barristers  and 

officials  of  the  Court  had  prepared  a   special  re- 
ception for  me.  The  Courtroom  was  decorated 

with  flags,  and  with  a   quantity  of  flowers,  very 
tastefully  arranged  around  my  seat  and  desk. 

Addresses  were  made  by  one  of  the  barristers,  and 
90 
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the  Chief  of  Police,  warmly  welcoming  me  hack 

to  my  duties,  and  I   expressed  my  thanks  in  a   short 

speech.  I   then  began  trying  criminals  in  sur- 
roundings which  I   believe  were  very  uncommon 

in  a   police  court.  Although  it  was  somewhat  em- 
barrassing, I   was  nevertheless  much  pleased  at  the 

kindly  feeling  manifested  by  my  friends. 

The  old  soldiers  and  pensioners  had  an  idea, 

which  was  well  founded,  that  I   had  a   friendly  feel- 
ing for  them.  The  old  pensioners  some  years  ago 

were  all  long  service  men,  who  had  put  in  the  best 

part  of  their  lives  in  the  army,  and  had  generally 

followed  the  Colours  all  over  the  world.  They 

were  a   very  interesting  class,  and  about  pension 

day  there  was  considerable  fraternizing  and  jubi- 
lation, which  often  brought  them  before  me  for 

drunkenness. 

I   generally  made  any  excuse  I   could  for  letting 

them  off,  for  they  had  done  no  harm  to  anyone  but 

themselves.  On  one  occasion  I   told  a   fine  looking- 
old  soldier  that  he  was  charged  with  being  drunk, 
and  asked  him  if  he  pleaded  guilty  or  not  guilty. 

‘'Guilty,  Colonel,''  he  replied,  “of  course  I   was 

guilty.  Why  wouldn't  I   be  guilty?  Didn't  I   get 
my  pinsion  yesterday?  What  would  be  the  use 

of  my  toiling  and  slaving  in  the  British  Army 

all  my  life,  all  over  the  world,  if  I   couldn't  get 
drunk  on  pinsion  day?" 
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There  was  an  earnest  air  of  indignation  in  his 

manner,  which  amused  me  very  much.  I   said: 

‘‘You  may  go,  but  don’t  come  here  again  before 

next  pension  day?” 
The  methods  used  by  these  old  soldiers  to  let 

me  know  they  were  soldiers  were  often  very  clever. 

They  generally  tried  to  give  me  a   hint  that  would 

not  be  understood  by  the  crowd.  Sometimes  they 

would  stand  rigidly  at  attention,  and  plead  guilty, 

generally  addressing  me  as  colonel,  as  in  fact  do 

most  of  my  customers.  I   could  detect  the  old 
soldier  at  once.  Sometimes  I   would  ask : 

“Have  you  been  here  before?” 

“Yes,  Colonel.” 

‘   ‘   What  was  done  with  you  ?   ’   ’ 

‘‘I  was  admonished,  sir.”  There  could  be  no mistake  then. 

Sometimes  they  would  give  me  a   military  salute, 

and  sometimes  a   pretended  soldier  would  salute 

to  cause  me  to  believe  that  he  was  a   pensioner.  I 

did  not  like  fraud,  and  I   could  detect  a   bogus 
salute,  and  I   would  tell  him  that  a   man  who  could 

not  salute  better  than  he  did,  should  not  get  drunk 
and  I   would  fine  him. 

One  fraudulent  customer  of  that  kind  attempted 

to  deceive  me,  so  I   said,  “Were  you  ever  in  the 

army  ?   ’   ’ 
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‘‘Yes,  sir,’’  he  replied. 

“In  what  regiment!”  I   said. 
“In  the  61st  Hussars.” 

“Are  you  sure  it  was  not  the  51st  Hussars!” 

“No,  sir,  the  61st  Hussars.” 

'‘In  the  British  Army!” 
“Yes,  sir,”  and  he  told  me  he  had  served  in 

it  seven  years. 

“Well,’*’  said  I,  am  quite  interested  in  seeing 
you,  for  I   never  saw  a   man  of  that  regiment  be- 

fore, there  are  only  twenty-one  regiments  of  light 
cavalry  in  the  army,  and  I   must  be  the  only  man 
who  ever  saw  a   man  of  the  61st  Hussars.  I   shall 

keep  you  awhile  as  a   curiosity.  ’   ’   And  I   promptly 
fined  him. 

Another  fraud  of  this  type  told  me  that  he  had 

belonged  to  the  Dublin  Eefuses.  He  evidently  had 

heard  of  Fusiliers,  and  was  intending  to  mention 

them,  but  did  not  remember  the  name.  He  was 
fined. 

Another  man  told  me  he  was  drunk  but  he  had 

met  an  old  friend  whom  he  had  not  seen  since  they 

were  on  the  “Rock”  together.  He  knew,  I   would 
understand  that  they  had  served  at  Gibraltar.  Of 

course  under  the  circumstances,  he  got  off  without 
a   fine. 

Another  old  pensioner  excused  himself  by  say- 
ing he  had  met  an  old  comrade  that  he  liad  not 
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seen  for  some  time,  and  he  had  taken  more  than 
he  should. 

‘‘Was  he  an  old  soldier T’  I   said. 

“Yes,  sir.’’ 

“Well  yon  can  go  this  time,  hut  yon  take  my 
advice,  and  keep  away  from  old  soldiers,  they  are 

a   had  lot.  ’   ’   He  langhed  and  went  off. 
I   would  never  allow  litigants  to  come  to  discnss 

cases  ont  of  Conrt,  or  discnss  anything  at  my 

honse,  and  there  were  often  attempts  to  gain  my 

ear  in  varions  ways.  People  coming  to  my  honse 

to  see  me,  were  always  told  to  wait  in  the  vesti- 
bnle,  nntil  I   went  to  them.  The  moment  I   fonnd 

it  was  ahont  Police  Conrt  hnsiness  I   wonld  open 

the  door  and  show  them  ont.  One  day  a   man  snm- 
moned  by  another  for  some  offence,  came  to  my 

honse  to  explain  matters  to  me,  bnt  knowing  my 

repntation  for  not  talking  over  cases,  he  bronght 

along  with  him  another  Irishman,  an  old  soldier, 

a   man  of  experience  to  aid  him,  and  to  endeavonr 

to  get  me  to  discnss  the  case  with  him. 

He  began  by  telling  me  he  had  a   snmmons.  I 

asked  to  see  it,  and  I   pointed  ont  to  him  that  he 

was  to  be  at  the  Police  Conrt  the  next  morning  at 

10  o’clock,  and  for  him  to  be  there,  and  I   wonld 
hear  all  he  had  to  say. 

“Yes,  sir,”  he  said,  “bnt  I   want  to  explain  it  so 

yon  will  nnderstand  it.” 
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Yon  can  explain  it  in  Court  Avhen  the  otlier  side 

is  present.  I   will  not  discnss  a   case  with  one  man 

behind  the  other  man’s  back.” 
‘‘The  old  soldier  with  a   wise  look  that  was  most 

impressive,  said: 

“That  seems  the  correct  principle,  Colonel.” 

“Of  conrse  it  is,”  said  I.  “Now  how  wonld 
yon  like  the  other  man  to  come  here  in  half  an 

honr,  and  tell  me  all  abont  yon  behind  yonr  back? 

Yon  mnst  go,”  and  I   showed  him  ont. 
The  old  soldier  tnrning  to  me  as  if  we  nnder- 

stood  each  other,  said,  “Yon  are  qnite  right. 

Colonel,  that  is  the  correct  prniciple,  not  only  “in 
jnrisdiction  to  yonrself,  bnt  also  in  jnrisprndence 

to  others.” 

“Certainly,”  I   said.  “Yon  nnderstand  it,”  and 
they  went  oft. 

One  noted  character  who  came  before  the  Court 

thirty  years  ago  was  a   big  Irishwoman  who  stood 

nearly  six  feet  in  height  and  Avas  strong  and  heavy. 

The  police  had  great  tronble  whenever  they  at- 
tempted to  arrest  her  for  drnnkenness.  One  alone 

Avonld  rarely  attempt  it.  She  was  often  lined  for 

drnnkenness,  and  AVonld  serve  her  time  in  jail. 

Sometimes  she  Avonld  be  arrested  for  vagrancy, 

for  Avandering  abont  the  streets  Avithont  a   settled 

home,  and  Avas  several  times  fined  for  tliat.  Then 

she  rented  a   small  house,  and  liaving  fiiends  A\dio 
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like  herself  appreciated  stimulants  it  happened 
that  the  house  was  the  scene  of  drunken  rows ;   and 

fighting  and  had  language  could  he  heard,  until  the 

place  became  a   nuisance..  While  a   row  was  going 

on  one  night  the  police  came  down  and  arrested 

everyone  in  it.  The  woman  was  sentenced  to  a 

fine  or  sixty  days  in  jail  and  before  she  left  the 

dock  to  serve  her  sentence,  she  turned  to  Sergeant 

Ward  in  charge  of  the  police  division,  and  said: 

‘^Sergeant  Ward,  dear,  before  I   lave  I   want  to 
spake  to  you.  You  have  brought  me  here  often, 

and  had  me  sent  down  for  being  drunk.  Then  when 

I   would  not  get  drunk,  you  brought  me  in  for  being 

a   vagrant  and  had  me  sent  down  for  not  having  a 

home.  Thin  I   get  a   house,  but  there  is  no  plasing 

ye,  and  ye  bring  me  up  for  keeping  a   disorderly 

house.  Now  Sergeant  dear,  there  is  no  place  left 

for  me,  except  a   balloon,  like  a   good  fellow  have  a 

balloon  for  me  when  I   come  out’’.  The  police 
were  obliged  to  let  her  have  her  say  before  they 

could  take  her  to  the  cells,  for  great  bodies  move 

slowly.  Ward  was  often  chaffed  about  the  bal- 
loon. In  those  days  when  airships  and  aeroplanes 

were  unknown,  the  joke  was  much  more  effective. 

This  reminds  me  of  another  story  of  the  same 

type.  An  Irishman  who  was  a   member  of  the 

House  of  Commons  for  an  English  constituency, 

some  years  ago  called  on  me,  and  I   asked  him  to 
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sit  on  the  Bench  with  me,  and  he  afterwards  told 

me  a   story  brought  to  his  mind,  evidently  by  the 
fact  that  I   was  a   Magistrate,  and  a   Colonel  of 
Militia.  He  said  a   friend  of  his  who  had  been  a 

Major  of  Militia,  and  was  a   Magistrate  in  Ire- 
land, was  one  day  trying  his  cases,  when  he  had 

to  send  an  Irishwoman,  of  the  same  type  as  the 

one  I   have  just  described,  to  prison  for  a   term, 

when  she  addressed  the  Magistrate  in  these  words : 

‘‘Well,  Major,  I   want  to  say  this  to  ye,  that  me 
feyther  was  hanged  for  murther,  me  husband  was 

hanged  for  murther,  me  eldest  son  is  sarving  a 

term  of  penal  servitude  for  life,  for  shooting 

a   landlord,  (note  the  tine  distinction)  and  my 

two  daughters  are  earning  a   disgraceful  living  in 

Dublin,  but  I   thank  the  Good  Lord,  and  the  Holy 

blessed  Virgin  Mary,  that  there  was  none  of  my 

people  was  ever  connected  with  the  Militia.  ’   ’ 



CHAPTER  XIV. 

The  Texas  Case 

IN  June,  1883, 1   was  in  Europe  with  my  wife  and two  daughters.  We  were  coming  from  Italy  to 

England  and  had  arrived  at  Heidelberg.  At  the 

table  d’hote  of  the  Hotel  Victoria,  two  elderly 
ladies  and  two  young  girls  happened  to  be  sitting 

exactly  opposite  to  us,  and  we  exchanged  a   few 

remarks.  The  next  day,  we  went  to  Mayence, 

and  at  the  hotel  in  the  evening  we  saw  the  same 

ladies  again.  The  following  morning  we  went 

on  the  steamer  for  Cologne  and  again  found  the 

same  party.  We  spent  the  day  together  and  I 

spent  most  of  the  time  talking  to  the  elder  lady,  a 

nice  looking  gray-haired  kindly  woman.  When 
we  arrived  at  Cologne,  we  all  went  to  the  Hotel  du 

Nord,  and  I   and  my  family  at  once  went  out  to 

see  the  Cathedral  and  walk  a   little  about  the  city. 

After  about  two  hours  we  returned  to  the  hotel, 

and  in  the  doorway,  the  elderly  lady  was  standing, 

waiting  evidently  in  distress,  and  she  at  once  came 

to  me  and  said,  wish  to  speak  to  you  Col.  Deni- 

son for  a   few  minutes.  I   am  in  great  trouble”. 98 
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We  went  to  a   retired  corner  of  the  writing-room 

and  she  said,  ‘‘I  am  in  the  greatest  distress.  I 

have  no  friend  or  relative  near  me,  and  I   have  re- 

ceived a   letter  which  has  shocked  me  dreadfully’’. 

She  had  found  it  waiting  for  her  at  the  Post 

Restante. 

She  handed  me  a   letter  which  had  been  for- 

warded to  her  from  her  home  in  Devonshire.  It 

was  from  her  only  son,  who  was  living  in  a   town 

in  Texas.  I   read  the  letter  very  carefully.  The 

young  man  who  was  about  twenty-seven  years  of 
age  told  his  mother,  that  he  had  got  into  an  awful 

scrape.  That  he  was  interested  with  several  part- 
ners in  a   mining  claim,  and  another  set  of  men  had 

tried  to  jump  their  claim,  and  there  had  been  a 

fight,  and  one  of  their  opponents  had  been  killed, 

and  he  and  his  partners  had  been  arrested  for  the 

murder,  that  he  was  in  jail,  and  that  the  trial 
would  come  off  in  about  two  months.  He  said  he 

had  not  done  the  killing  himself,  but  he  would  be 

tried  with  the  others,  and  he  asked  his  mother  to 

send  him  £200  to  enable  him  to  secure  a   lawyer, 

witnesses,  etc. 

‘‘After  reading  it  carefully  I   said,  “Now,  Mrs. 
  if  you  wish  me  to  advise  you,  you  must  not 

mind  my  asking  you  some  searching  questions!’’ 
“Certainly  not,”  she  said. 
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I   then  said,  ‘‘you  have  had  some  trouble  with 

your  sonf’’ 
“Yes,^’  she  replied,  “I  am  sorry  to  say  that  I 

have’^ 

“You  have  often  had  to  supply  him  with 

money !   ^   ’ 
I   had  told  the  old  lady  on  the  steamboat  that  I 

was  the  Police  Magistrate  of  Toronto  and  like  the 

majority  of  English  people,  she  apparently 

thought  that  America  was  all  one  place,  and  had  nc 

idea  that  Texas  was  more  than  1,000  miles  from 

my  home.  So  she  said,  ‘   ‘   Do  you  know  my  son  or 

anything  of  him  ?   ’   ’ 

“No,’’  I   replied,  “I  know  nothing  of  him,  never 
heard  of  him,  but  has  he  not  been  more  urgent  of 

late,  and  have  you  not  had  to  refuse  him!  ” 

“Yes,  I   could  not  send  him  more.  He  had 
been  such  a   drain  upon  me,  that  it  is  the  reason  I 

am  travelling  here  now.  I   have  been  appointed 

by  the  Court  of  Chancery  to  take  the  two  young 

ladies  who  are  with  me,  who  are  wards  in  Chan- 

cery, for  a   trip  on  the  continent  during  their  vaca- 

tion, and  I   am  paid  for  my  services,  which  helps 

me  to  get  along.  I   need  not  have  done  this  but 

for  my  son’s  constant  demands.” 

I   then  said,  “Now  I   must  say  that  this  letter  is 
to  my  mind  what  we  call  in  Police  Court  circles  a 

‘put  up  job’.  I   don’t  believe  there  has  been  any 
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row,  that  any  man  has  been  killed,  that  any  trial 

is  to  take  place,  or  that  any  part  of  the  letter  is 

true,  except  that  he  wants  you  to  send  him  £200”. 
‘'Oh!  Colonel  Denison!  do  you  think  any  son 

could  be  so  heartless  to  play  upon  his  mother's 
feelings  so  cruelly 

I   replied,  “You  know  him,  I   do  not,  but  I   have 

told  you  candidly  my  opinion.” 
“What  can  I   do!”  she  said. 
I   then  advised  her.  I   saw  that  she  was  so 

alarmed  and  so  nervous,  that  I   would  have  to  tell 

her  to  do  something.  So  I   told  her  she  could  send 

him  $100,  and  that  would  be  amply  sufficient  to 

retain  a   lawyer  for  preliminary  work,  and  I   said  I 

would  write  by  the  mail  that  day  to  Toronto  to  the 

Chief  of  Police,  and  request  him  to  write  to  the 

Chief  of  Police  of  the  town  in  Texas,  and  ask  him 

if  a   man  of  her  son's  name  was  there,  and  what  he 
was  doing,  and  if  he  was  in  any  trouble.  The  lady 

did  not  want  her  son  to  know  about  the  inquiry, 

and  I   said  I   could  have  it  done  quietly  and  I   took 

her  address  in  Devonshire,  and  gave  her  mine  in 

London,  and  told  her  I   would  not  be  sailing  for 

Canada  for  about  six  weeks,  and  I   should  get  a 

reply  in  plenty  of  time  for  her  to  do  more  if  neces- 

sary. I   did  not  see  the  lady  again. 

I   went  on  to  London  with  my  family  and  some 

four  or  five  weeks  elapsed,  when  I   had  a   letter 
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from  Mrs.   written  evidently  in  great  anxiety, 

telling  me  that  she  had  received  a   cablegram  from 

her  son,  saying,  ̂    ‘   If  you  want  to  save  my  life  cable 

me  £200  at  once’’.  I   telegraphed  to  her,  ‘‘Do  no- 

thing, till  you  hear  from  me,  am  writing”.  And  I 
wrote  and  told  her  that  the  Canadian  mail  steamer 

had  been  reported  that  morning  at  Moville,  and  to 

give  me  another  day  or  two. 

The  next  day  I   received  a   short  letter  from 

Major  Draper,  our  Chief  of  Police.  He  said  he 

had  lost  no  time,  and  had  just  received  a   letter 

from  the  Chief  of  Police  of  the  town  in  Texas,  and 

had  barely  time  to  enclose  it,  and  catch  the  English 
mail. 

The  letter  from  Texas  from  the  Chief  of  Police, 

said  in  etfect:  “I  have  placed  your  man,  he  is  a 
bartender  in  a   hotel  here.  I   cannot  find  any  trace 

of  his  having  been  in  trouble  here.  If  you  want 

him  wire  me,  and  I   can  lay  my  hands  on  him  at 

any  time.  ’   ’ 
I   enclosed  both  letters  to  the  old  lady  and  re- 

ceived a   very  grateful  letter  of  thanks  for  my  kind- 

ness which  had  saved  her  £200,  but  she  would,  I 

think,  rather  have  lost  the  money,  than  have  had 

such  conclusive  proof  of  the  heartless  cruelty  of 

her  son.  In  acknowledging  her  letter,  I   told  her 

not  to  worry  about  him  any  more,  that  if  he 

only  used  his  ingenuity  as  skilfully  in  defrauding 
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others,  as  he  had  used  it  trying  to  defraud  his 

mother,  he  would  get  along. 

I   have  often  thought  over  the  extraordinary  co- 
incidence of  this  affair.  It  was  so  strange  that 

she  should  have  happened  to  meet  perhaps  the 

only  man  in  that  part  of  the  country  who  would 

not  only  have  understood  the  business,  but  who 

had  the  machinery  at  hand  to  discover  the  facts 
at  once. 



CHAPTER  XV. 

The  Dalton  Imitatoks 

ON  27tli  December,  1892,  a   daylight  robbery occurred  which  as  The  Globe  said,  ̂ ‘sur- 
passed for  reckless  audacity,  anything 

that  had  occurred  in  Toronto  for  many  a 

year  ’   \   A   man  named  Ammon  Davis  had 
a   jewelry  shop  on  Queen  Street  and  at  8.10 

a.  m.  he  was  opening  the  shop  and  getting  the 

jewelry  out  of  the  safe,  and  putting  it  in  the  show 

case,  while  his  boy  was  cleaning  the  Avindow. 

Three  men  entered  the  shop  and  covering  Davis 

and  the  boy  with  revolvers,  forced  them  into  a 

room  at  the  back  and  bound  and  gagged  them 

carefully.  One  stood  guard  over  the  captives, 

while  the  other  two  rifled  the  safe  of  $500  in  cash, 

filled  their  pockets  with  jewelry  and  made  off  by 
the  back  door. 

On  the  17th  January,  1893,  the  shop  of  Freder- 
ick Roberts  was  entered  in  the  same  way.  Roberts, 

his  apprentice  and  a   customer,  were  all  gagged  and 

bound  and  about  $1,000  worth  of  jewelry  stolen 

and  carried  off.  The  robbers  wore  wraps  about 
104 
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their  faces  which  masked  them,  so  that  the  police 

could  not  get  any  reasonable  description  of  them. 

On  the  28th  January,  1893,  The  Toronto  Empire 

began  a   report  of  another  outrage  in  these  words : 

^Ms  this  Toronto  or  is  it  Deadwood  City?’’  and  it 
gave  an  account  of  an  attempted  robbery  of  the 
Home  Bank  on  Church  Street.  The  cashier  was 

in  a   cage,  and  the  money  was  in  it  with  him,  when 
four  men  entered  the  bank  and  demanded  the 

money.  The  cashier  held  up  a   chair  in  front  of 

him  and  refused  to  give  it  up.  Major  Mason,  an- 
other clerk,  attacked  one  of  the  men,  and  was 

struck  on  the  head  and  knocked  to  the  floor.  An- 

other clerk  escaped  by  a   back  door,  ran  upstairs 

to  a   law  office,  and  telephoned  to  the  detective  de- 

partment which  was  only  about  seventy-five  yards 

away.  The  robbers  became  alarmed,  ran  out,  sep- 
arated and  escaped.  There  was  no  clue,  and  the 

police  got  a   very  poor  description  of  the  robbers. 

The  newspapers  all  had  articles  on  the  subject, 

some  severe  upon  the  detective  department. 

Public  indignation  was  still  more  aroused  two  or 

three  days  later,  when  a   box  with  a   quantity  of 

jewelry  stolen  from  Davis’s  shop  was  found  in  a 
doorway  alongside  the  shop,  and  was  taken  to  the 

detective  department.  It  was  discovered  that 

every  article  had  been  tested  with  acid  and  proved 
not  to  be  genuine.  A   note  found  in  the  box  read : 
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“Here’s  your  fake  jewelry,  Mr.  Davis,  we  don’t 

want  it.  They  said  we  would  not  shoot,  hnt  they  ’ll 
see  if  we  wont.  It  was  only  the  detectives  getting 

around  so  quickly  last  time  that  saved  them. 

They’ll  hear  from  us  again.  It  may  he  in  a   few 
days,  or  perhaps  not  for  some  little  time,  that  will 

depend,  hut  we  mean  business”.  There  was  no 
signature  to  this. 

The  detectives  at  last  got  a   clue  which  turned 

suspicion  upon  a   man  named  Bennett  and  three 

others  named  Norris,  and  William  and  Edward 

Archer.  Their  movements  were  carefully  and  se- 
cretly watched.  From  the  nature  of  the  case  it 

was  necessary  to  make  the  arrests  as  nearly  as 

possible  simultaneously,  otherwise  some  of  them 

would  have  escaped.  One  evening,  knowing  Ben- 
nett was  at  home.  Detective  Duncan,  accompanied 

by  Constable  Allan,  went  to  his  house.  The  door 

was  opened  by  Bennett  himself.  The  detective 
said, 

“Do  you  live  here  now?” 
“I  do,”  said  Bennett. 
In  reply  to  further  questions  Bennett  stated  that 

no  others  had  been  visiting  him,  and  that  he  had 

no  jewelry  about  the  place. 

“Well,  I   am  going  to  take  a   look  through  the 

house  anyway,”  said  Duncan,  and  he  produced  his 
warrant.  The  officers  entered  the  house,  keeping 
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a   very  close  guard  on  Bennett.  ‘'I'll  put  on  my 

coat  and  help  you,"  he  said.  “No  thank  you," 

said  Duncan,  “just  stand  where  you  are  please," 
and  the  search  began.  His  anxiety  to  don  his  coat 

was  soon  explained.  On  a   chair  beside  a   bed  lay 

his  coat,  and  beside  it  a   revolver  loaded  in  every 

chamber.  In  his  overcoat  pocket  was  found  a 

quantity  of  cord,  identical  in  appearance  with 

that  which  bound  Ammon  Davis,  Frederick  Rob- 
erts and  the  others,  also  some  faded  factory  cotton 

similar  to  that  which  was  used  in  gagging  the  vic- 
tims. Four  murderous  slung  shots  and  a   mask  of 

dark  coloured  texture  were  also  found.  For  some 

time  the  search  for  jewelry  was  fruitless.  On 

the  table  was  a   dish  filled  with  bird  seed.  Run- 

ning his  fingers  down  through  this  the  detective 

found  a   gold  locket  with  Ammon  Davis's  ticket 
still  on  it.  On  emptying  the  contents  of  the  dish 

several  other  articles  were  found  including  a   dia- 

mond ring.  The  detective  took  Bennett,  his  wife 

and  ba:by  to  the  station  to  prevent  the  news  of  the 

arrest  spreading.  A   posse  of  officers  shortly  af- 
ter went  to  the  residence  of  Norris  and  arrested 

him.  Detectives  Mackie  and  McGrath  made  a 

careful  search  for  jewelry,  and  found  a   loaded  re- 

volver, but  could  not  find  any  jewelry  until  they 

began  to  search  the  bed  in  which  a   baby  was  sleep- 
ing. Mrs.  Norris  asked  them  not  to  waken  the 
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baby  but  they  moved  it  and  found  in  the  bed  tick 

exactly  under  where  the  baby  had  been  lying,  sev- 
eral articles  of  jewelry  which  had  been  stolen  from 

Koberts.  The  two  Archers  were  arrested  about 

the  same  time. 

Bennett  seeing  the  game  was  up  confessed  and 

told  the  whole  story  and  all  the  stolen  property 
was  recovered.  I   committed  them  for  trial  to  the 

Quarter  Sessions.  Bennett  was  sent  to  the  Peni- 
tentiary for  fifteen  years,  William  Archer  for 

ten  years  and  Edward  Archer  for  three  years. 



CHAPTER  XVI. 

Controversy  With  the  City  Council. 

I   HAVE  already  related  how  on  my  first  ap- pointment I   was  presented  with  letters  from 

aldermen  on  behalf  of  litigants,  and  of  the 

drastic  steps  I   took  to  prevent  attempts  on  the 

part  of  the  aldermen  to  interfere  with  my  business. 

I   was  obliged  to  take  a   very  firm  stand,  as  my  pre- 
decessor had  rather  encouraged  the  practice,  or 

at  least  did  not  discourage  it.  The  reason  was 

that  the  law  provided  that  the  city  council  should 

pay  the  Magistrates  a   fixed  amount,  but  could 

supplement  it  as  they  wished.  The  salary  had 

been  increased  considerably  in  return  for  favours 

granted  by  the  Bench. 

I   saw  that  it  would  never  do  for  my  salary  to 

be  dependent  on  the  favour  of  ward  politicians, 

and  through  representations  to  Mr.  Mowat,  the 

Prime  Minister,  I   had  my  position  assured  to  the 

extent  that  the  Council  could  increase  my  salary 
but  could  not  reduce  it.  I   went  on  witli  my  work 
without  reference  to  the  aldermen,  and  without 
interference  from  them,  for  a   number  of  years, 

109 
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but  in  1890,  I   became  involved  in  a   qnarrel  with 

them.  I   had  been  working  strenuonsly  and  had 

been  doing  a   great  deal  of  hard  work,  speaking 

in  different  parts  of  the  country,  on  behalf  of  Im- 
perial Federation,  and  in  combating  commercial 

union.  I   was  threatened  with  illness,  and  my  doc- 
tor insisted  that  I   should  take  a   complete  rest.  I 

applied  to  the  Attorney- General,  Mr.  Mowat,  for 
leave  of  absence  for  two  months.  May  and  June, 

1890.  This  was  granted  to  me  by  the  Lieut.-Gov- 
ernor,  and  I   went  to  England,  and  soon  regained 

~my  strength,  and  came  back  at  the  end  of  June 

in  good  health. 
When  I   arrived  in  Toronto,  I   learned  from  my 

brother,  Lt.-Col.  Fred  Denison,  that  as  soon  as  I 
had  left,  some  members  of  the  Council  took  action 

against  me,  demanded  a   committee  to  investigate 

the  affairs  of  my  office  in  my  absence,  and  that  I 

had  been  abused  very  unfairly.  My  brother, 

knowing  that  I   was  not  well,  had  carefully  guarded 

me  from  knowing  anything  about  what  they  were 
doing. 

I   found  that  the  executive  committee  had 

passed  an  .order  stopping  my  salary,  because  I   had 

not  applied  to  them  for  leave  of  absence,  and  the 

Treasurer  informed  me  that  he  could  not  pay  me 
monthly  as  had  been  the  invariable  custom.  I 

paid  no  attention  to  it,  and  was  able  to  do  without 
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the  money,  and  I   found  by  looking  np  the  law  that 

my  salary  was  to  be  paid  half  yearly. 

Not  long  after  my  return  Alderman  Saunders, 

who  was  chairman  of  the  special  committee  ap- 

pointed to  discipline  me,  called  to  see  me,  and  said 
that  he  would  call  his  committee  together,  and  that 

I   could  come  and  explain  that  I   had  my  leave  from 

the  Lieut.- Governor  direct,  and  they  would  then 
recommend  the  executive  to  rescind  their  reso- 
lution 

I   said,  ‘Ghe  Council  appointed  a   committee  in 
my  absence,  and  without  waiting  for  my  return, 

decided  against  me,  and  stopped  my  salary,  and 

now  you  can  go  to  your  committee,  and  tell  them 

from  me  that  I   will  see  both  you  and  them  in  the 

17th  concession  of  a   very  hot  place  before  I   will 

take  any  notice  of  them.’’ 
He  left  me,  and  nothing  more  was  done,  my 

lurid  language  had  closed  all  diplomatic  relations 

between  us.  I   went  on  with  my  work  for  six 

months,  untd  the  whole  business  was  forgotten. 

My  half  year  ended  on  November  30th,  and  on  the 

morning  of  December  1st  I   called  on  the  City 
Treasurer,  and  asked  for  a   cheque  for  my  half 

year’s  salary.  He  had  forgotten  all  about  the 
order  until  I   spoke,  and  then  he  asked  me  to  wait 

till  the  following  Thursday  after  the  next  meeting 

of  the  executive  committee.  I   replied,  ‘‘No,  I 
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want  it  now,  it  was  dne  last  night,  bnt  ‘ ‘I  know  yon 

cannot  give  it^’. 
I   left  and  went  at  once  to  my  lawyer,  and  told 

him  I   wanted  him  to  sue  the  city  for  me,  and  to  do 

it  at  once.  He  said,  will  write  them  now.^’ 

“No,  that  will  not  do,’^  I   said;  “I  want  a   writ 
issued  within  an  honr,  and  served  on  the  Mayor 

to-day,  and  if  yon  cannot  do  it,  I   will  get  someone 

who  will.^’ 

The  writ  was  served  by  3   o   ’clock. 
This  stirred  them  np.  The  city  solicitor  was 

consnlted,  and  advised  them  that  they  had  not  a 

shadow  of  jnstitication  for  defending  the  snit. 

They  paid  the  snm  into  Conrt  in  abont  eight  days, 

and  I   told  my  lawyer  to  proceed  against  them  for 

the  eight  days’  interest  and  the  costs,  which  he 
did  and  I   received  the  fnll  amonnt.  The  news- 

paper cartoonist  made  fnn  of  the  aldermen.  I 

went  on  with  my  work  till  the  1st  of  Jnne,  bnt  the 

order  of  the  execntive  committee  was  never  res- 

cinded, and  again  the  matter  was  forgotten.  I 

called  on  the  Treasnrer  on  the  1st  of  Jnne,  and 

demanded  my  half  year ’s  salary.  He  said,  ‘   ‘   That 

order  has  never  been  rescinded,  and  I   cannot  “give 

yon  a   cheqne  jnst  now”. 

“Where  will  yon  be  in  an  honrf ”   he  said. 

“I  do  not  know,”  I   replied. 

“Where  are  yon  going  now?” 
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am  going  to  my  lawyer’s  office  to  issue  an- 
other writ.” 

The  treasurer  asked  one  of  his  clerks  whether 

they  had  a   blank  cheque  signed  by  the  Mayor. 

They  happened  to  have  one,  and  I   got  my  cheque. 

Mr.  Coady  then  asked  me  to  take  my  cheques 

monthly,  as  was  the  custom  with  everyone  else. 

^   ̂   Never  again,  ’   ’   said  I.  ‘   ̂   They  will  never  again 
be  able  to  attempt  to  humiliate  me  in  the  eyes  o 

the  public.  I   shall  only  take  my  salary  as  the  law 

provides,”  and  that  has  been  the  practice  ever 
since,  now  more  than  twenty-nine  years,  during 
which  time  our  relations  have  been  quite  friendly. 

I— 



CHAPTER  XVII. 

ScHEUER  Burglary 

ONE  very  cold,  stormy,  winter  night  a   man who  had  the  appearance  of  an  ordinary 

mechanic,  walked  into  a   Yonge  Street  drug 

shop,  and  asked  for  half  a   dozen  sheets  of  fly 

paper.  The  druggist  thought  he  was  a   little 

‘‘otf’’,  and  hesitated  before  making  the  sale. 

‘‘Surely,^’  said  he,  ‘Hhe  flies  are  not  bothering 

you  in  weather  like  this.’’ 
The  customer  replied  that  no  doubt  it  was  rather 

a   queer  purchase  to  make,  in  the  month  of  Decem- 
ber, but  went  on  to  explain  that  he  was  Engineer 

of  a   nearby  factory,  and  wanted  it  for  the  purpose 

of  exterminating  cockroaches,  which  had  become  a 

plague  around  the  boiler  room.  The  explanation 

was  perfectly  satisfactory  and  he  got  what  he 
wanted. 

Next  morning  when  Mr.  Scheuer’s  jewelry  shop, 
also  on  Yonge  Street,  was  opened,  it  was  dis- 

covered that  the  place  had  been  burglarized  during 

the  night,  and  seventy-five  diamond  rings  which 
had  been  in  a   plate  glass  show  case  had  been 
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stolen.  No  one  had  seen  or  heard  anything  nn- 

usnal  during  the  night,  although  the  interior  was 

wired,  and  equipped  with  a   burglar  alarm. 

On  investigation  it  was  found  that  entrance  had 

been  made  by  a   side  door  leading  upstairs,  and 

from  the  upstairs  hall  a   door  was  opened  by  a 

skeleton  key  into  a   room  directly  over  the  shop ; 

a   hole  was  then  carefully  made  by  a   brace,  bit  and 

jig  saw,  through  the  flooring,  and  down  through 

the  ceiling.  A   tightly  folded  spring  umbrella  was 

then  forced  through  the  small  opening,  the  handle 

being  attached  to  a   wire  on  the  floor  to  prevent  it 

from  falling  through.  The  spring  was  then  pressed 

and  the  umbrella  opened  up.  The  work  was  then 

continued  of  enlarging  the  opening,  until  it  was 

sufficient  to  allow  a   man^s  body  to  pass  through. 
The  object  of  the  umbrella  was  to  prevent  the 

noise  of  falling  plaster,  as  all  the  rubbish  fell  into 

it.  A   rope  ladder  had  been  prepared,  and  all  the 

burglar  had  to  do  was  to  make  it  fast  by  means  of 

a   strong  piece  of  hardwood  running  across  the  side 
I 

of  the  hole.  Once  inside  the  shop,  the  only  other 

barrier  was  glass.  To  prevent  the  breaking  glass 

from  serving  as  a   signal  to  a   policeman  or  some 

passerby  a   few  sheets  of  fly  paper  came  in  handy. 
These  were  stuck  on  the  show  case,  which  then  was 

struck  with  a   muffled  brick  and  the  glass  broken 
without  the  least  sound.  The  diamonds  were  se- 
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cured,  the  return  trip  made  up  the  rope  ladder, 

and  the  night’s  work  was  finished,  and  a   clear 
escape  made. 

Next  day  a   city  jeweler  purchased  seventy-five 
diamond  rings  a   good  deal  below  market  price.  A 
few  hours  afterwards  Detective  Montgomery 

brought  them  to  the  Police  headquarters.  Mr. 

Scheuer  was  sent  for  and  identified  them.  Instruc- 

tions were  given  by  Inspector  Kennedy  that  no- 

thing was  to  be  said  about  the  recovery,  conse- 

quently everyone  kept  quiet,  although  the  news- 
papers kept  throwing  out  hints  that  the  Police 

department  was  a   little  slow,  etc.  The  jeweler 

was  perfectly  vandid  about  all  the  details  of  the 

transaction,  and  consented  quite  willingly  to  ren- 
der all  possible  assistance  to  the  police. 

At  the  time  of  the  purchase  the  jeweler  was 

twenty-five  dollars  short  of  the  amount  lie  had 

agreed  to  pay,  and  the  thief  had  no  particular 

desire  to  handle  cheques  under  the  circumstances. 

Consequently  it  v/as  arranged  that  he  should  call 
that  afternoon  and  get  the  balance  in  cash. 

A   simple  plan  was  arranged  to  secure  his  arrest 

in  ease  he  kept  his  appointment.  A   book  with  a 

red  liack  was  to  be  placed  behind  an  electric  bulb 

in  a   certain  part  of  the  window.  In  case  he  turned 

up  in  the  day  time,  the  book  was  to  be  opened 
shovvdng  a   white  fly  leaf  which  was  to  be  the  signal. 
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and  after  a   certain  horn*  in  the  evening,  this  par- 
ticular light  was  t'o  be  switched  on,  the  red  back 

serving  as  a   reflector  and  a   fairly  distinct  signal 
at  the  same  time. 

The  burglar  did  not  return  for  the  money  that 

afternoon  nor  for  several  days  afterwards.  The 

window,  however,  was  watched,  from  a   point  ox 

observation,  every  day  from  the  time  the  shop  was 

opened  in  the  morning,  until  it  closed  at  night, 

and  at  last  one  evening  at  about  6.30,  the  long 

looked  for  light  was  turned  on,  and  a   rather  ted- 

ious wait  was  rewarded  by  the  arrest  of  a   some- 

what scientific  American  crook,  by  Detectives 
Newton  and  Wallace. 

An  account  of  the  arrest,  the  recovery  of  the 

property,  and  the  method  used  by  the  burglar,  ap- 
peared in  the  papers  on  the  following  morning. 

The  Yonge  Street  druggist  read  about  it,  and  re- 
membered his  customer  of  that  stormy  night.  A 

few  days  afterwards  they  met  again  in  the  Police 

Court,  and  the  druggist  identified  him  as  the  man 

who  bought  the  fly  paper.  The  jeweler  who  pur- 
chased the  rings,  and  some  others,  who  were  in  the 

shop  at  the  time,  also  identified  the  prsoner.  He 

was  convicted  and  sent  to  Kingston  penitentiary 

for  five  years.  This  man  was  never  known  in 

Toronto  before,  but  information  from  different 
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police  departments  of  the  United  States  showed 

that  he  was  a   most  clever  and  dangerous  criminal. 

Police  Court  Anecdotes  erom  Detectives. 

Some  years  ago  a   Jew  kept  a   junk  yard  at  the 
corner  of  Centre  Avenue  and  Christopher  Street. 

His  stock-in-trade  consisted  of  rags,  hones,  old 

iron,  bottles,  etc.,  all  enclosed  by  a   high  board 
fence. 

Although  he  kept  buying  bottles  all  the  time,  the 

pile  seemed  to  remain  about  the  same  size.  About 

this  time  he  had  a   couple  of  new  customers,  who 

were  making  regular  calls  and  seemed  to  have  an 

unlimited  quantity  of  bottles  for  sale. 

Finally  the  Jew  suspected  that  there  might  be 

some  line  of  communication  between  these  new  cus- 

tomers and  his  back  yard. 

Suspicion  soon  led  to  action  and  some  split  peas 

were  bought.  Something  sticky  was  thrown  over 

them  and  a   few  dropped  in  a   number  of  bottles. 

A   few  days  afterwards,  his  two  customers  came  to 

his  back  door,  with  a   loaded  hand  cart,  and  wanted 

to  know  if  he  would  buy  some  bottles.  He  was 

anxious  to  buy  but  he  didn ’t  happen  to  have  just 
the  correct  change,  and  had  to  go  down  the  street 

to  get  a   bill  changed.  When  he  got  back  he  told 

them  how  pleased  he  was  to  get  bottles,  and  old 
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rubbor,  etc.,  and  jnst  as  be  was  about  to  pay  them, 

a   couple  of  policemen  stepped  into  the  yard. 

Now  a   policeman  is  seldom  a   welcome  visitor  in 

a   Jew’s  rag  shop,  but  on  this  occasion  it  was 

different.  In  fact  he  was  so  delighted  to  see  them 

that  he  called  them  over  and  showed  them  what 

he  had  just  bought,  and  introduced  the  customers 

from  whom  he  had  made  the  purchase.  Worst  of 

all  he  turned  their  attention  to  some  split  peas  in 

the  bottom  of  the  bottles  and  explained  how  they 

got  there. 
The  result  was  that  the  two  thieves  got  thirty 

days  each  next  morning  and  the  Jew  got  back  all 
his  bottles. 

A   few  years  ago  a   young  man  with  a   yearning  to 

see  the  sights  of  Toronto  arrived  in  town,  and  very 

soon  got  in  contact  with  a   couple  of  other  young 

men  who  very  kindly  offered  to  act  as  guides. 

Time  passed  quickly  and  pleasantly  and  it  was 

evening  before  he  knew  it.  He  had  seen  so  much 

by  daylight,  that  he  decided  to  wait  over  and  take 

in  some  of  the  attractions  by  moonlight.  His 

guides  promised  to  make  things  interesting  for 

him.  And  they  did. 

As  they  were  passing  through  a   lane  the  stran- 
ger felt  a   stinging  sensation  about  the  head  and 

he  became  unconscious. 

Two  hours  afterwards  he  regained  conscious- 



120 RECOLLECTIONS  OP 

ness  and  dragged  himself,  bruised  and  bleeding, 
from  the  lane. 

In  some  way  he  got  to  the  nearest  police  sta- 
tion and  told  his  story  to  two  detectives  Avho  were 

put  on  the  case.  $200.00  in  American  gold  certifi- 
cates had  been  stolen  from  where  it  had  been  hid- 

den in  the  leg  of  his  drawers.  He  described  his 

companions,  one  of  whom  had  red  hair.  A   red- 
haired  man  was  known  to  the  police  as  one  who 

had  taken  quite  an  interest  in  enterprises  of  this 

kind  on  previous  occasions. 

The  search  was  at  once  started  for  the  red- 

haired  man  and  his  companion.  The  detectives 

soon  discovered  them  and  they  were  arrested  and 

searched,  and  a   few  gold  certificates  found  on  each 

of  them,  and  to  improve  matters  both  were  posi- 
tively identified  by  their  victim. 

Next  Monday  morning  they  asked  for  and  got  a 

week’s  remand.  They,  of  course,  knew  that  the 
complainant  had  no  money  left,  and  that  there  was 

a   chance  of  his  getting  out  of  town  and  bearing  his 

loss.  The  police  paid  his  board,  however,  in  a 

quiet  place,  and  he  was  on  hand  to  give  evidence 

when  the  case  was  called.  He  gave  his  name  as 

Charles  Shoulder,  and  his  home  as  Beaverton,  Ont. 
Both  were  sent  for  trial  on  his  evidence.  Bail  was 

refused. 

Two  weeks  afterwards  the  Chief  of  Police  got  a 
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circular  card  from  the  Chief  of  Police  of  Massel- 

on,  Ohio,  asking  for  the  arrest  of  a   man  named 

Fred.  Oxland,  on  a   charge  of  stealing  $450.00  in 

American  gold  certificates,  and  a   number  of  other 

things  from  a   man  named  Charles  Shoulder.  The 

theft,  or  robbery,  had  taken  place  three  weeks  or 

so  before.  A   photograph  of  Fred.  Oxland  was  at 

once  recognized  as  the  complainant  in  the  robbery 

charge,  and  he  had  given  the  name  of  the  man  he 

had  robbed  in  Masselon.  Telegrams  were  at  once 

sent  out  and  he  was  arrested  the  day  afterwards 

in  a   Northern  town  about  seventy  miles  from  To- 

ronto. He  was  brought  back  to  Toronto  and  ad- 
mitted everything  that  was  charged  against  him. 

He  was  kept  in  jail  here  as  a   fugitive  from  justice, 

for  about  a   month,  until  the  case  came  to  trial  of 
the  two  men  who  had  assaulted  and  robbed  him. 

He  went  into  the  witness  box  against  them,  and 

told  the  whole  story  of  how  he  had  got  the  money. 

The  men  got  seven  years  each,  a   telegram  was  then 
sent  to  the  Chief  of  Police  of  Masselon  to  come  on 

and  get  Oxland.  An  officer  was  sent  on  at  once. 

Prisoner  waived  extradition  proceedings  and  re- 

turned with  the  officer  voluntarily.  The  sum, 

$200.00  or  so  found  here,  was  sent  to  the  Chief 
of  Police  of  Masselon  and  was  handed  over  to  the 

rightful  owner.  We  heard  later  that  Oxland 

pleaded  guilty,  and  was  sentenced  to  from  one  to 
three  years. 



CHAPTER  XVIII. 

Dodds  and  the  Beans. 

SOME  thirty  years  ago  Mr.  King  Dodds,  who was  the  proprietor  of  a   sporting  paper,  con- 
ceived the  idea  of  increasing  the  circulation 

of  his  paper  by  giving  a   prize  to  the  subscriber, 

who  could  make  the  closest  guess  as  to  the  num- 
ber of  beans  in  a   glass  jar,  closed  and  sealed  in 

the  presence  of  prominent  persons.  The  jar  con- 
tained a   few  thousand  beans,  and  anyone  buying 

a   copy  of  the  paper  had  the  right  to  file  his 

estimate  of  the  number  of  beans  in  the  jar. 

The  police  authorities  considered  that  this  was 

contrary  to  the  lottery  act  and  decided  to  prose- 
cute. They  employed  an  old  Irish  Constabulary 

pensioner  to  go  to  the  office  to  buy  a   paper,  and  to 

enquire  of  Mr.  Dodds  the  terms  and  conditions  of 

the  competition,  so  as  to  have  the  evidence  on 

which  to  lay  the  charge. 
The  case  came  before  me  for  trial.  The  old 

constable  was  the  principal  witness,  and  told  the 

story  of  his  buying  the  paper  and  getting  from  Mr. 

Dodds  the  method  and  plan  for  the  contest. 
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Mr.  Murphy  for  the  defendant,  cross-examined 
the  witness. 

‘^Why  did  you  go  into  Mr.  Dodds’  office?” 

^^  To  huy  a   paaper.” 

^^Had  you  any  other  object?” 
‘   ‘   Oh  yis !   I   wanted  to  have  a   conversation  with 

Mr.  Dodds  about  the  banes.” 

‘‘Had  you  any  other  object?” 

“Oh,  yis.” 
“What  was  it?” 

‘   ‘   Pwhat  was  pwhat  ?   ’   ’ 

“What  was  your  other  object?” 

“To  buy  a   paaper.” 
“You  told  me  that  before,  now  tell  me  had  you 

any  other  object?” 

“Oh,  yis,  Mr.  Murphy.” 
“What  was  it?” 

“Well,  as  I   told  you  praviously,  I   wint  to  ask 
Mr.  Dodds  about  the  ‘banes’.” 

Yes,  yes,  I   know  that,  but  I   want  you  to  tell  me, 

at  once,  if  you  had  another  object  besides  the  con- 

versation about  the  beans.  ’   ’ 

“Did  I   have  another  object?” 

‘‘Yes,  yes,  did  you  have  any  other  object?” 
“Well,  Mr.  Murphy,  as  I   praviously  explained 

to  you,  I   wanted  to  by  a   paaper.”  By  this  time 
the  people  in  the  Court  were  laughing  immoder- 

ately, and  Mr.  Murphy  got  angry,  and  said. 
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‘‘Now  then  I   want  to  ask  you  whether  you  did 

not  go  to  buy  a   paper,  and  have  a   talk  with  Mr. 

Dodds,  in  order  that  you  might  come  here  to  act 

as  a   common  informer  against  Mr.  Dodds?  Now 

answer  me  that.  ’   ̂ 

“A  Common  Informer!  (with  several  indignant 
grunts  of  anger.)  Would  you  dare,  Mr.  Murphy, 

to  call  me  a   common  informer?  Ugh,  Ugh!  I 

am  surprised  at  you,  Mr.  Murphy,  a   gintleman  be- 
longing to  a   lamed  profession.  I   am  ashamed  of 

you,  that  you  would  so  far  forgit  yourself,  as  to 
call  me  a   common  informer.  In  the  whole  coorse 

of  my  exparience  in  the  Royal  Irish  Constabulary, 

I   never  saw  any  mimber  of  your  profession,  so  far 

forget  himself  as  to  make  any  such  suggestion.’’ 
Every  sentence  was  punctuated  with  indignant 

grunts.  When  he  quieted  down,  Murphy  once 

more  endeavoured  to  cross-examine  him.  He  went 

on  to  ask  him  a   number  of  preliminary  questions, 
and  when  he  had  laid  the  foundation  he  would 

spring  an  embarrassing  question.  Then  the  wit- 
ness would  break  out  into  a   lament,  that  he  had 

ever  lived  to  be  so  insulted  as  to  be  compared  to 

a   common  informer,  and  Mr.  Murphy  would  have 

to  wait  to  get  a   word  in,  and  then  he  would  say, 

“Now  then  answer  my  question.” 
The  witness  then  in  the  most  innocent  way 

would  say  as  if  surprised,  “Pwhat  question?” 
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Murphy  would  start  again  and  make  another  pre- 
paration, and  the  same  thing  occurred  again.  The 

witness  getting  more  regretful  every  time  to  think 

that  Mr.  Murphy,  a   learned  gentleman,  would  so 

far  forget  himself.  At  last  Murphy  gave  it  up, 
and  told  him  to  stand  down. 

The  argument  was  made  before  me  that  this  con- 
test about  the  beans  was  not  a   matter  of  chance, 

but  a   matter  of  skill.  I   decided  that  it  was  a   case 

of  giving  property  by  a   method  of  chance.  I   held 
that  no  amount  of  skill  could  estimate  the  nearest 

to  the  correct  number,  as  there  were  many  thous- 
ands of  beans,  and  that  when  the  skill  ended  it 

was  an  absolute  matter  of  chance  which  guess 
came  closest  to  the  exact  number. 

The  case  was  appealed,  and  came  before  the 

same  judge  who  decided  that  beating  a   drum  was 

not  playing  a   drum,  and  he  decided  that  it  was  a 

matter  of  skill,  and  not  a   game  of  chance.  My 
conviction  was  quashed. 



CHAPTER  XIX. 

The  Administration  of  Law  in  Civil  Disputes 

I   HAVE  sometimes  startled  my  friends  in  the legal  profession  by  the  very  advanced  views 

I   hold  on  this  question.  I   had  a   case  before 

me  once,  in  which  a   woman  had  employed  a   lawyer 

to  prosecute  a   civil  case  for  her  against  a   de- 
fendant. The  case  was  decided  in  her  favour  for 

$511.00  with  costs.  Her  lawyer  paid  her  some 

thirty  odd  dollars,  and  retained  the  balance.  The 

woman  applied  to  the  Police  Court  for  a   summons 

against  the  lawyer  for  the  theft  of  the  money 

which  he  had  retained.  I   tried  the  case,  and  found 

that  the  la\vyer  had  made  so  many  motions,  and 

taken  so  many  legal  steps,  that  he  had  made  up  a 

bill  of  costs  to  cover  all  the  money  received,  except 

a   very  small  balance.  I   found  that,  although  mor- 
ally the  woman  had  been  done  out  of  her  money, 

legally  the  lawyer  had  a   good  defence.  I   made 
some  caustic  remarks  on  the  method  in  which 

civil  law  was  administered,  and  the  members  of 

the  profession  began  writing  letters  to  the  Press, 

attacking  my  views,  and  The  Canada  Law  Journ- 
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at  took  np  the  defence  of  the  Profession  generally. 

I   answered  this  in  a   letter  to  that  jonrnal  dated 

November,  1900,  most  of  which  I   reproduce: 

I   find  in  your  issue  of  the  1st  instant  an  article  com- 

menting on  some  remarks  made  by  me  in  reference  to 

our  system  of  administering  law.  I   have  taken  no  notice 

of  one  or  two  abusive  letters  from  one  or  two  lawyers, 

but  when  your  Journal,  the  organ  of  the  profession,  has 

taken  up  the  matter,  I   ask  permission  in  your  columns 

to  correct  some  errors  into  which  you  have  fallen,  and  to 

place  my  views  clearly,  so  that  there  may  be  no  misunder- 

standing. You  say  that  I   accused  the  Solicitor  of  mis- 

appropriating money;  that  I   made  wholesale  charges  of 

wrong-doing  against  the  profession  as  a   class,  and  that  I 
charged  it  with  being  a   degrading  thing.  In  reply,  I   say, 

that  I   did  not  make  charges  against  the  profession,  but 

against  the  system  of  administration  of  civil  justice. 

This  system  has  been  in  use  with  constant  attempts  to 

amend  it  for  hundreds  of  years,  so  that  the  present  mem- 

bers of  the  profession  only  follow  the  practice  and  tradi- 
tions of  centuries.  I   hold  that  the  system  is  wrong,  and 

should  be  reformed.  Slavery  was  a   wrong,  handed  down 

for  many  generations,  yet  a   man  might  have  denounced 

the  institution  without  being  charged  with  reflecting 

upon  the  character  of  the  slave-owners,  who  were  born 
under  it.  Slavery  has  been  reformed  out  of  existence  in 

all  civilized  countries,  and  when  the  public  fully  appreci- 

ate the  wrong  of  the  present  method  of  administering 

law,  a   change  may  be  made  to  remedy  it,  and  this  could 

be  done  without  injustice  to  the  present  members  of  the 

profession. 
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I   will  now  state  my  views  in  reference  to  the  adminis- 

tration of  civil  justice.  The  State  has  taken  upon  itself 

the  duty  of  settling  disputes  between  citizens.  This  is 

an  absolute  necessity,  unless  we  relapse  into  barbarism, 

where  no  man  would  have  any  rights,  unless  he  was  able 

to  defend  them  by  force.  The  State,  having  taken  upon 

itself  this  duty,  and  having  the  power  of  organized  gov- 
ernment to  enforce  anything  it  undertakes,  it  follows 

that  the  individual  citizen  is  at  the  mercy  of  the  system 

which  the  State  devises,  and  is  helpless  in  its  hands.  I 

hold,  therefore,  that  when  a   man  is  a   peaceable  citizen, 

obeying  the  laws,  paying  his  taxes,  and  conforming  to 

the  rules  of  organized  society,  he  is  entitled  if  he  gets 

into  any  difficulty,  or  dispute  with  a   neighbour,  which 

they  cannot  settle  between  themselves,  to  be  able  to 

appeal  to  the  State,  to  see  that  justice  is  done,  and  I 

feel  that  this  duty  should  be  performed  by  the  State  with 

the  least  delay,  and  the  least  possible  expense  to  the 
individual. 

Now  what  is  the  usual  course  under  the  present  sys- 
tem? Two  neighbours  in  a   business  transaction,  have  a 

dispute  or  a   misunderstanding.  It  often  happens  that 

there  is  a   good  deal  to  be  said  on  both  sides.  The  differ 

ences  however  are  irreconcilable,  and  the  citizens  have 

to  appeal  to  the  State  to  decide.  One  citizen  goes  to  his 

lawyer,  lays  the  whole  case  before  him,  naturally  with 

his  own  colouring,  and  gets  an  opinion  on  the  law.  The 

Counsel  knows  well  that  no  one  can  positively  tell  what 

the  law  is,  but  probably  gives  an  opinion  that  his 

client  has  a   good  case,  and  one  that  is  worth  fighting 
in  the  Courts.  A   letter  is  written  to  the  other  side  or 

a   writ  is  served,  and  the  defendant  goes  to  his  lawyer 

for  advice.  The  lawyer  hears  the  defendant’s  statement, 
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looks  up  precedents  and  advises  him  to  defend  the  case, 

although  he  also  knows  there  is  no  certainty  as  to  the 

law.  The  case  is  now  fairly  started  and  the  costs  begin 

to  roll  up.  Motions  of  all  kinds  can  be  made — to  set 

aside  appearance — for  security  for  costs — for  particulars 
of  statement  of  claim  or  defence — to  strike  out  statement 

of  claim  or  defence^ — for  better  and  further  affidavit  on 

production — to  compel  attendance  of  witnesses,  and  so 

on.  Then  the  examination  for  discovery  and  other  ex- 

aminations, conducted  at  great  length,  and  with  tiresome 

reiterations  and  repetition ;   all  taken  down  in  shorthand, 

all  extended  in  full,  all  rolling  up  heavy  expense.  Then 

after  all  these  motions,  and  filing  of  affidavits,  and  ex- 
aminations upon  them,  and  attendances  and  drafts  and 

engrossings,  etc.,  the  case  at  last  comes  before  a   jury. 

Technicalities  of  law  are  brought  up  and  discussed  and 
overruled  and  reserved.  Then  witnesses  are  examined 

again,  and  wiLli  the  same  reiteration  and  repetition,  all 

again  taken  down  in  shorthand.  Objections  are  raised 

to  questions.  These  are  also  argued  and  the  objection 

sustained  or  overruled,  with  points  again  reserved.  These 

things  all  tend  to  confuse  the  minds  of  the  jury,  as  to 

the  real  merits  of  the  case,  which  are  often  to  be  found 

on  both  sides.  Then  follow  long  arguments  of  Counsel ; 

then  the  Judge’s  charge,  the  reserving  of  more  points 
with  the  result  that  the  jury  will  probably  give  the  ver- 

dict one  way,  while  the  Judge  has  reserved  law  points,  to 

settle  whether  the  decision  should  not  be  given  the  other. 

The  case  may  then  come  up  before  the  full  Court, 

and  the  points  of  law  ((-oncerning  which,  if  the  law  is 
the  great  science  our  profession  claim  it  to  be,  there 

should  be  no  question)  have  to  be  decided.  Three  Judges 

supposed  to  be  experts,  impartial,  upright  men,  who 
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have  devoted  their  lives  to  the  study  of  law,  sit  for  hours 
and  listen  to  the  same  arguments,  on  the  same  evidence, 
with  the  same  precedents  quoted,  under  the  same  mag- 

netic influence  and  ability  of  the  Counsel  on  both  sides, 
without  the  slightest  reason  apparent  why  they  should 
differ,  if  there  is  anything  in  our  boasted  science  of 

law,  and  at  the  end  of  it  all,  two  of  the  Judges  will 

decide  one  way,  and  one  the  other.  Then  an  appeal  is 

taken  to  the  Court  of  Appeal.  The  same  thing  happens, 

only  the  Judges  of  this  Court  are  supposed  to  be  still 

more  highly  trained  experts,  and  here  also,  two  may 

decide  one  way,  and  two  the  other,  on  exactly  the  same 

facts  and  arguments.  Then  follows  an  appeal  to  the 

Supreme  Court,  when  the  same  old  story  is  told,  with 

the  result  possibly,  that  three  will  decide  one  way  and 

two  the  other.  Lastly  comes  the  Judicial  Committee  of 

the  Privy  Council,  and  then  a   final  decision  is  made  one 

way  or  the  other,  but  apt  to  be  the  nearest  right,  because 

they  have  no  appeal  above  them,  and  do  not  trouble 

themselves  nearly  so  much  aibout  precedents  as  about 

justice. 
Then  what  happens?  One  man  wins  and  the  other 

loses,  neither  being  altogether  in  the  right,  neither  alto- 
gether in  the  wrong;  but  one  gets  everything  and  the 

other  loses  everything,  his  own  costs  and  his  opponent’s 
taxalble  costs,  while  the  successful  man  is  heavily  pun- 

ished in  his  Solicitor  and  client  costs,  and  in  the  mental 

worry,  loss  of  time,  etc.  The  total  costs  in  a   case  like 

this  will  probably  amount  to  thousands  of  dollars,  if  not 

tens  of  thousands,  and  might  have  been  as  satisfactorily 

settled,  without  expense  and  with  just  as  much  certainty, 

if  the  parties  had  tossed  a   penny  to  decide  at  the  start. 
It  must  be  remembered  that  a   man  once  in  the  law 
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cannot  avoid  this.  If  a   poor  man  is  fighting  a   rich 

one,  or  a   rich  Corporation,  he  must  absolutely  give  up 

his  right  to  have  the  case  decided,  or  run  the  risk  of 
ruin. 

It  was  against  this  system  that  I   based  my  remarks, 

and  expressed  my  hope  that  some  day  the  people  through 
their  Parliament  would  be  able  to  reform  it.  I   think 

that  the  State  should  legislate  so  that  the  Judges  should 

decide  disputes  quickly  and  simply  without  formalities, 

and  without  regard  to  anything,  except  the  absolute  jus- 
tice in  each  case;  that  there  should  be  only  one  appeal 

which  should  be  final,  that  musty  precedents  perhaps  the 

mistakes  of  men  gone  by,  should  not  be  worshipped  or 

followed  to  create  injustice.  If  the  State  did  this,  did 

away  with  fees  of  every  kind,  and  hired  the  lawyers  at 

fixed  salaries  to  assist  the  Judges  in  bringing  forward 

the  evidence,  there  is  no  occasion  why  disputes  could  not 

be  settled  in  one-tenth  of  the  time  and  at  one-twentieth 

the  expense  now  incurred. 

This  letter  was  published  in  November,  1900, 

and  now  fully  nineteen  years  have  elapsed,  and  I 

still  hold  the  views  I   then  expressed. 



CHAPTER  XX. 

Rice,  Jo]srES,  and  Rutledge 

ONE  of  the  most  tragic  cases  that  we  have had,  was  that  of  the  burglary  of  the 

Standard  Bank,  Parkdale,  and  a   double 

burglary  at  Aurora,  for  which  three  men  named 

Rice,  Rutledge,  and  Jones  v/ere  arrested  in 

Chicago,  and  extradited  to  be  tried  in  Toronto. 

They  were  handed  over  to  the  Canadian  author- 

ities, on  the  3rd  April,  1901,  and  were  tried  for 

the  Standard  Bank  burglary  on  the  23rd  May 

when  the  jury  disagreed. 

On  the  3rd  June  they  were  brought  up  for  trial 

on  the  charge  of  committing  the  burglary  at  the 

Aurora  Post  Office.  The  next  day  they  were  taken 

from  the  Court  to  the  jail,  in  an  ordinary  double 

cab.  The  prisoners  were  shackled  together,  Jones 

being  in  the  centre,  and  they  were  put  upon  the 

back  seat  of  the  cab  with  two  county  constables, 

Boyd  and  Stuart  sitting  on  the  seat  facing  them. 

While  driving  through  the  streets,  some  man  sud- 
denly threw  a   parcel  into  the  cab  on  the  knees  of 

the  prisoners ;   the  parcel  contained  two  loaded  re- 
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volvers  which  Rice  and  Rutledge  seized,  and  at 

once  presented  at  the  two  constables,  telling  them 

to  hold  up  their  hands.  Stuart  held  his  up,  Boyd 

made  some  show  of  resistance,  and  was  shot  and 

killed  instantly.  The  three  men  then  jumped  out 

of  the  cab  and  ran  off  as  well  as  they  could,  being 

shackled  together.  Constable  Stuart  followed  and 

fired  at  them  with  his  revolver  as  they  were  run- 

ning, and  wounded  Jones  very  seriously.  The 

prisoners  jumped  upon  the  vestibule  of  a   street 

car,  which  was  passing,  and  attempted  to  take 

control  of  it.  The  motorman  seized  one  of  them, 

and  one  or  two  men  standing  in  the  front  vesti- 

bule, helped  him,  and  they  with  Constable  Stuart 

succeeded  in  disarming  Rice  and  Rutledge,  Jones 

(oeing  helpless. 

On  the  next  day  they  were  found  guilty  of  the 

Aurora  burglary.  On  the  following  day,  the  6th, 

Jones  died  of  his  wounds  in  the  jail.  On  the  7th 

June,  Rice  and  Rutledge  were  sentenced  to 

twenty-one  years’  imprisonment  in  the  Peni- 
tentiary for  the  Aurora  burglary,  and  were  also 

charged  with  the  murder  of  Constable  Boyd.  That 

same  evening  as  the  jail  prisoners  were  being 

marched  across  the  main  hall  of  the  jail,  Rutledge 

suddenly  broke  from  the  ranks,  and  ran  up  the 

spiral  stairway  to  the  top,  several  stories,  and 

sprang  over  the  railing  and  threw  himself  down- 
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wards  upon  the  paved  floor  of  the  hall.  He  was 

instantly  killed. 

Rice  was  tried  for  the  murder  of  Constable 

Boyd  and  was  found  guilty,  and  was  hanged  on  the 

18th  July,  1902.  He  belonged  to  a   respectable 

family  in  Chicago,  and  was  said  to  have  had  a 

university  education,  but  had  got  into  bad  com- 

pany. He  was  a   young  man.  Constable  Boyd 

who  was  murdered,  was  an  old  man  of  seventy,  but 

in  good  health  and  vigour.  Three  violent  deaths 

in  a   few  days,  followed  by  an  execution  made  a 

deep  impression  upon  the  community. 



CHAPTEE  XXI. 

Impostors 

SINCE  I   can  remember,  the  City  of  Toronto has  been  visited  from  time  to  time  by  im- 

postors and  adventurers,  who  have  flashed 

across  the  firmament  like  rockets,  exploding  and 

disappearing  in  the  same  way. 

The  most  distinguished  in  his  assumed  rank 

was  Prince  Athrobald  Stuart  de  Modena,  the 

same  man  who  became  notorious  in  England,  by 

his  relationship  with  the  Countess  Eussell.  He 

took  rooms  at  the  finest  hotel  in  the  city,  became 

acquainted  with  a   few  people  who  entertained 

him,  and  introduced  him  to  others,  and  for  a   time 

spent  money  freely  and  incurred  debts  still  more 

freely,  and  before  long  came  before  me,  and  was 
sent  to  the  Central  Prison  for  some  months  for 

fraud.  While  he  was  there,  a   negro  had  been 

serving  a   term  in  the  prison  for  theft,  and  when 

the  official  was  giving  him  a   suit  of  clothes  to  wear 

when  being  discharged,  the  negro  said  to  him : 

‘Ms  it  not  extraordinary  the  number  of  promin- 
ent men  dere  happen  to  be  in  dis  prison  just  at 

de  present  moment 
136 
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<   ̂   Why  soV’  he  was  asked. 
‘‘Why/’  he  replied,  “we  have  a   prince,  and  we 

have  a   colonel,”  (in  for  a   political  offence)  and 
look  at  me,  I   am  de  President  of  de  Coloured  Lib- 

eral Association  of  Chatham. 

Some  years  ago,  one  of  the  Judges  of  our  Court 

of  Appeal,  when  coming  home  from  a   trip  to  Eng- 
land, accompanied  by  his  wife,  chanced  to  meet  on 

the  steamer.  Colonel  the  Hon.  H.  Annesley  (form- 

erly commanding  the  16th  Lancers)  who  was  ac- 
companied by  his  wife.  They  were  presentable 

people,  and  became  quite  friendly  with  the  Judge. 

They  told  him  that  they  were  to  pay  a   visit  to 

Government  House  at  Ottawa.  When  they  were 

separating  at  the  port  of  debarkation,  the  Judge 

and  his  wife  invited  them,  if  passing  through  To- 
ronto, to  pay  them  a   visit.  A   short  time  after 

they  arrived  in  Toronto,  and  were  welcomed  at 

the  Judge’s  house.  It  soon  became  known  that 
Hon.  Col  Annesley  and  Mrs  Annesley  were  guests 

of  the  Judge,  and  his  friends  gave  entertainments 

for  them.  The  daughter  of  the  Lieutenant-Gov- 
ernor suggested  to  her  father,  that  it  might  be 

Avell  to  invite  the  Judge  and  his  guests  to  dinner. 

This  was  done,  and  the  Lieutenant-Governor  took 
Mrs.  Annesley  in  to  dinner.  While  at  dinner  she 

was  telling  the  Governor  of  their  mythical  visit 

to  the  Governor-General’s,  when  he  told  her  that 
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Capt.  Cliater,  one  of  the  aides  de  camp  from  Ot- 
tawa, was  at  the  table,  and  he  pointed  him  ont  to 

her.  She  calmly  looked  at  him  and  said  ‘‘he  was 
not  there  when  we  were  there After  dinner 

Capt.  Chafer  and  the  Lieutenant-Governor’s  aide, 
went  to  the  library  and  looking  up  the  Peerage, 

and  the  Army  list,  discovered  they  were  im- 
postors. For  the  sake  of  the  Judge  and  his  wife, 

they  decided  not  to  speak  of  the  matter  till  the 

morning. 

As  soon  as  the  wife  had  an  opportunty  to  speak 

to  her  husband,  she  evidently  told  him  the  game 

was  up,  for  in  the  carriage  driving  home,  he  told 

the  Judge  that  he  was  very  sorry  but  they  would 

have  to  leave  by  the  early  train  for  the  East. 

This  they  did,  and  about  two  hours  later  the  Gov- 

ernor’s aide  called  at  the  Judge’s  house,  to  tell 
him  that  he  had  been  imposed  upon.  It  was  dis- 

covered afterwards  that  the  man  was  the  organist 

of  a   church  in  a   small  country  town  in  Ontario, 

and  had  come  out  to  fill  that  position. 
Another  case  somewhat  similar  occurred  in  this 

way.  Capt.  the  Hon.  Conyngham  Denison,  R.N., 

came  over  on  a   passenger  ship  to  Boston.  On  ar- 
rival he  received  a   cablegram  recalling  him  at 

once  to  England.  An  impostor  who  travelled  on 

the  same  ship  had  stolen  from  him  a   few  pages  of 

crested  notepaper  and  envelopes,  some  marked 
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handkerchiefs,  etc.,  and  knowing  that  Capt.  Deni- 

son was  returning  at  once  to  England,  he  assum- 
ed his  name  and  rank,  and  came  on  to  Montreal, 

and  his  arrival  was  announced  in  the  papers  and 

then  he  came  to  Toronto.  He  evidently  heard 

that  there  was  a   family  of  Denisons  here,  so  he 

did  not  remain,  hut  left  for  Buffalo  within  twenty- 
four  hours.  There  he  was  made  a   good  deal  of 

and  defrauded  a   number  of  people,  and  I   think 

served  a   term  in  prison. 

Another  impostor  named  Signor  Ramponi,  also 

managed  some  years  ago  to  get  an  introduction 

into  some  families  in  Toronto,  and  was  invited  to 

entertainments.  He  was  in  the  habit  of  searching 

the  dressing-rooms  when  the  houses  were  thrown 

open  for  dances,  and  stole  a   quantity  of  jewelry. 

The  police  heard  of  it  and  having  a   suspicion  of 

Ramponi  arrested  him  suddenly,  and  found  some 

of  the  stolen  articles  in  his  possession.  He  was 
tried  before  me  and  I   sent  him  to  the  Central 

Prison  for  three  months. 

I   received  the  following  letter  from  a   cunning 

Chinaman,  giving  a   false  English  name : 

Dear  Sir  City  Dec’r  5th  1913. 
Quen  Yee  Co. 

99  Queen  Street  West  City. 

The  store  deal  on  Sunday  forenoon,  and  keep  gamble 

down  cellar  every  Sunday  and  night.  Mr.  Ing  Hong 

gambler  keeper  and  take  commission. 
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Next  Sunday  from  4   p.m.  to  5.30  p.m.  tell  5   detective 

go  catch  gamble  and  Sunday  deal  sell  wine.  Make  him 

do  not  against  law  please. 
Yours  truly 

Geo.  Wilson. 

Please  do  not  tell  other  body  may  be  other  body  let 
he  know. 

This  was  evidently  the  result  of  a   bitter  feud 

between  Chinamen.  This  assumng  of  an  English 

name  was  another  instance  of  the  guile  of  the 
Heathen  Chinee. 

Dr.  Tumblety 

In  June,  1859,  I   was  at  the  Carlton  Racecourse, 

then  situated  on  Keele  Street,  and  was  riding 

home  after  the  races  along  Dundas  Street,  when  a 

man  rode  up  behind  me,  and  opened  up  a   conversa- 

tion— I   turned  to  look  at  him,  and  he  was  certainly 

a   man  to  attract  attention— He  was  flashily 
dressed  in  a   black  velvet  coat  with  side  pockets,  a 

showy  waistcoat  and  a   black  velvet  cap.  He  wore  a 

large  gaily-colored  silk  necktie.  He  had  a   fine 
horse  and  his  saddle  and  equipments  were  good. 

His  seat,  however,  was  remarkable.  His  stirrups 

were  too  long,  and  his  legs  which  were  also  long 

were  stretched  straight  out  in  front.  Hs  toes  were 

pointed  outwards  at  an  angle  of  forty-five  degrees 

from  the  horse’s  sides,  reminding  one  of  the  re- 
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mark  of  a   cavalry  riding  master,  in  one  of 

Punch’s  cartoons,  yelling  to  a   raw  recruit :   ‘‘There 
ye  go  agin,  a   sticking  yer  toes  hout  like  a   hinfantry 

ha  jutant  ’ 
He  was  very  communicative,  making  compli- 

mentary references  to  my  horse.  He  told  me  he 

was  Hr.  Tumhlety,  the  celebrated  Indian  Herb 

Doctor,  and  said  that  the  day  before,  he  had 

driven  his  horse  and  buggy  to  Becket’s,  on  King 
Street,  then  the  principal  drug  shop  in  the  city, 

and  had  gone  in  to  order  some  medicine,  leaving 

his  horse  untied.  The  horse  ran  away  down  east 

on  King  Street,  ran  into  other  vehicles,  and  smash- 
ed the  buggy.  The  Doctor  was  sunnnoned  before 

the  Police  Court,  and  was  fined  for  leaving  his 
horse  untied.  From  his  demeanour  as  he  told  the 

story,  I   was  satisfied  he  had  planned  the  incident 

purposely  in  order  to  attract  attention,  and  to 

advertise  himself.  I   looked  up  the  report  in  the 

newspapers,  and  found  he  had  stated  accurately 
what  had  happened. 

I   was  at  first  surprised  at  his  addressing  me, 

and  accompanying  me,  but  I   was  young,  not  yet 

twenty,  and  I   was  riding  my  father’s  charger, 
which  was  one  of  the  finest  saddle  horses  I   have 

ever  seen.  It  had  taken  a   prize  at  the  Exhibition, 

and  the  late  T.  C.  Patteson,  one  of  the  best  judges 

of  horses  in  the  country,  often  told  me  years  after. 
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that  the  horse  I   used  to  ride  in  my  youth,  was  the 
finest  he  had  seen  in  Canada. 

Dr.  Turnblety  was  desirous  of  advertising  him- 
self, and  was  willing  to  speak  to  any  one,  and 

made  use  of  my  horse,  as  a   subject  on  which  to 

open  the  conversation. 

Not  long  afterwards  I   heard  that  Dr.  Turnblety 

had  been  tried  for  practising  medicine  without 

being  qualified.  He  was  tried  at  the  Assizes,  and 

sentenced  to  pay  a   fine  of  two  hundred  dollars.  He 

walked  up  to  the  Clerk’s  seat  in  front  of  the 
Judge,  and  taking  out  a   great  roll  of  bills  from  his 

pocket,  he  flung  it  in  front  of  the  Clerk  saying: 

‘   ‘   There !   take  your  change  out  of  that  ’ 
He  went  to  Montreal  after  a   time  and  played 

another  of  his  pranks  to  get  talked  about.  He 

went  into  the  principal  drug  shop,  on  the  main 

business  street  in  Montreal,  and  bought  some 

article,  and  then,  putting  his  hand  into  his  pocket 

to  get  money  to  pay  for  it,  he  pulled  out  a   handful 

of  coins,  gold  coins,  and  half  dollars,  and  quarters 

and  small  silver.  Looking  at  his  hand  full  of  this 

mixed  money,  he  said  loudly,  so  that  all  the  people 

in  the  shop  might  hear  him.  ‘   ‘   How  did  I   ever  get 

that  trash  in  my  pocket  I   ”   He  picked  the  gold  out 
in  one  hand  and  walked  to  the  door  and  threw  the 

handful  of  silver  out  the  door,  and  across  the  side- 
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walk  onto  the  roadway,  where  there  was  soon  a 
scramble  for  it. 

I   always  afterwards  took  an  interest  in  news  of 

him,  as  he  was  occasionally  referred  to  in  the 

Press.  The  Civil  War  in  the  States  broke  out 

shortly  afterwards,  and  during  the  tremendous 

struggle  I   saw  Dr.  Tumblety^s  name  mentioned  in 

the  newspapers,  showing  that  he  was  doing  some- 

thing on  the  Northern  side  in  Washington. 

The  greatest  triumph  in  his  special  line  occur- 

red in  1865.  On  the  14th  of  April  of  that  year,  the 

whole  world  was  shocked  at  the  news  of  the  assas- 

sination of  President  Lincoln,  and  for  some  days 
the  confusion  and  excitement  was  intense.  The  next 

day  the  authorities  discovered  that  Dr.  Tumblety 

had  suddenly  disappeared  with  great  secrecy 

from  Washington,  carefully  covering  his  tracks. 

For  a   couple  of  days,  the  wires  in  every  direction 

were  buzzing.  Kumours  came  from  various  places 

that  he  had  been  seen,  but  after  two  or  three  days 

he  was  captured  in  some  place  in  Missouri,  while 

he  was  still  apparently  struggling  to  escape.  He 

was  brought  under  guard  to  Washington,  and  held 

in  custody  for  a   time.  Within  a   week  it  was  an- 

nounced that  Dr.  Tumblety  was  discharged,  be- 

cause it  was  discovered  that  his  pretended  flight 

was  just  another  scheme  to  advertise  himself. 



CHAPTER  XXII. 

Police  Coukts  in  London  and  Other  Anecdotes. 

I   SPENT  my  vacation  in  England  in  1887,  and while  in  London  I   obtained  letters  of  intro- 

duction to  Sir  James  Ingham,  then  Chief 

Magistrate  of  London,  and  Mr.  Newton,  the 

magistrate  at  Great  Marlborough  Street.  I   de- 
livered my  letter  to  Sir  James  Ingham  at  Bow 

Street  on  the  27th  of  June,  and  sat  on  the  bench 

with  Mr.  Vaughan,  his  colleague,  and  listened 
with  much  interest  to  the  cases  which  Mr. 

Vaughan  was  trying. 

I   was  very  much  pleased  with  the  manner  in 

which  he  conducted  the  court.  He  was  painstak- 

ing and  careful,  and  to  my  mind,  sized  up  the  wit- 
nesses with  great  ability,  and  in  every  case 

gave  a   decision  which  agreed  with  my  own 

opinion  as  to  what  should  have  been  done. 

We  might  both  have  taken  the  wrong  view,  but  as 

we  agreed  I   formed,  as  is  usual  in  such  cases,  a 

very  high  opinion  of  him.  After  the  court  I 

lunched  with  Sir  James  Ingham,  and  had  a   long 

conversation  upon  Police  Court  methods,  which  I 
143 



144 RECOLLECTIONS  OF 

found  very  instructive  and  interesting.  Sir  James 

was  then  a   man  of  eighty-four,  but  bright,  active 
and  vigorous.  He  was  a   most  interesting  man  to 

meet,  and  treated  me  with  the  utmost  cordiality. 

Montagu  Williams,  the  celebrated  barrister,  in 

his  ‘‘Leaves  of  a   Life’’  tells  an  interesting  story 
about  Sir  James  Avhich  is  well  worth  repeating, 

although  he  does  not  vouch  for  it : 

“A  gentleman  travelled  by  rail  on  the  South 
Western  from  Bournemouth  to  London.  He  com- 

menced his  journey  in  an  unoccupied  carriage, 

and  proceeded  for  a   considerable  distance  alone. 

At  one  of  the  intermediate  stations,  a   man  entered 

the  compartment.  The  train  did  not  stop  again 

until  it  reached  Vauxhall.  On  the  way  thither  the 

gentleman  from  Bournemouth  fell  asleep.  When 

the  train  arrived  at  Vauxhall,  he  woke  up,  and  put 

his  hand  to  his  pocket,  for  the  purpose  of  ascer- 
taining the  time.  To  his  consternation  he  found 

that  his  watch  and  chain  were  gone.  Llis  sole 

companion  in  the  carriage  was  busily  engaged 

reading  a   newspaper.  Turning  to  him  in  a   some- 

what excited  manner  he  said:  ‘Has  anyone  enter- 

ed this  compartment  while  I   have  been  asleep  I   ’ 
“   ‘No,’  was  the  answer. 

‘Then,  sir,’  proceeded  the  gentleman  from 

Bournemouth,  ‘I  must  request  you  to  tell  me 
what  you  have  done  with  my  watch.  It  has  been 
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stolen  during  the  time  that  you  have  been  in  the 

carriage.  You  had  better  return  it  or  I   shall  have 

to  give  you  in  charge  on  our  arrival  at  Waterloo.^ 

‘^The  other  traveller  protested  his  innocence 
and  said  he  had  seen  no  watch  and  that  he  knew 

nothing  about  the  matter.  When  the  train  arrived 

at  its  destination  the  suspected  man  was  taken  to 

the  police  court,  where  the  charge  was  laid 

aganst  him  before  Sir  James  Ingham.  He  was 

remanded  until  the  next  day. 

^‘The  next  morning  when  the  prisoner  was  put 
in  the  dock,  the  prosecutor  simultaneously  entered 

the  witness  box.  The  latter  wore  a   very  dejected 

appearance,  and  before  any  questions  were  put  to 

him,  said  he  wished  to  make  a   statement.  H   do 

not  know,’  he  began,  ̂ how  to  express  my  regret  for 
what  has  occurred,  but  I   find  that  I   did  not  lose  my 

watch  after  all.  I   communicated  my  loss  by  tele- 
gram to  my  wife  at  Bournemouth,  and  she  has 

written  to  say  that  my  watch  and  chain  are  safe  at 

home.’  Here  was  a   pretty  state  of  affairs.  An 
innocent  man  had  been  dragged  through  the 

streets  as  a   felon,  falsely  charged  and  locked  up 
for  the  night.  Sir  James  did  all  he  could  to  throw 

oil  upon  the  troubled  waters.  Pie  said  Ht  was  a 

most  remarkable  occurrence.  To  show,  however, 

how  liable  we  all  are  to  make  these  mistakes,  I 

may  mention,  as  an  extraordinar}^  coincidence  that 
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I   myself  have  only  this  morning  been  guilty  of 

precisely  the  same  oversight  as  the  one  in  ques- 
tion* I   was  under  the  impression  when  I   left  my 

house  at  Kensington,  that  I   put  my  watch  in  my 

pocket,  but  on  arriving  at  this  court  I   found  that 

I   must  have  left  it  at  home  by  mistake.  ’ 

“The  business  of  the  court  over.  Sir  James 
Ingham  wended  his  way  home.  On  entering  his 

drawing-room,  he  was  met  by  one  of  his  daughters 

who  exclaimed:  ‘Papa,  dear,  I   suppose  you  got 

your  watch  all  right.  ̂ 

“   ‘Well,  my  dear,^  replied  the  Chief  Magstrate, 

‘as  a   matter  of  fact,  I   went  out  this  morning 

without  it.  ’ 

“   ‘Yes,  I   know,  papa,’  his  daughter  replied,  ‘but 
I   gave  it  to  the  man  from  Bow  street  who  called 

for  it.’ 
“There  had  been  an  old  thief  at  the  back  of 

the  room  who  heard  Sir  James  giving  his  ex- 
perience. He  had  slipped  out,  taken  a   hansom  cab 

and  driven  to  Sir  James  Ingham’s  residence,  and 
representing  hmself  to  be  a   bona  fide  messenger, 

obtained  possession  of  the  valuable  watch  which 

was  never  heard  of  again.” 
The  next  forenoon  I   spent  on  the  bench  with  Mr. 

Newton  at  the  Great  Marlborough  Street  Police 

Court.  He  was  an  exceedingly  genial  and  kindly 

man  and  we  exchanged  a   few  remarks  as  the  court 
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went  on.  I   soon  found  that  his  method  was  in 

great  contrast  to  that  of  Mr.  Vaughan.  He  took 

the  police  evidence  in  face  of  any  contrary  evi- 
dence. A   boy  about  twelve  years  old  was  charged 

with  dsorderly  conduct  on  the  street.  He  was  a 

manly  little  fellow,  and  very  indignant  at  the 

charge  against  him,  and  he  had  two  citizens  to 
corroborate  his  evidence.  Mr.  Newton  seemed  to 

think  that  the  lad’s  bold  manner  to  him  Avas  a 

proof  of  his  having  been  guilty  of  the  charge.  ‘Hf 
you  would  talk  to  me  as  you  do,  I   can  imagine  how 

you  would  talk  to  the  policeman  on  the  street,” 
said  the  magistrate,  I   was  of  the  opinion,  Avatch- 
ing  the  lad  closely,  that  his  conduct  Avas  that  of 

righteous  indignation  at  a   false  charge,  and  Avas 

not  intended  to  show  any  disrespect  to  the  court. 

I,  of  course,  held  my  tongue,  but  Mr.  Newton 

fined  him  forty  shillings.  I   Avas  sorry.  I   would 

have  lilted  to  have  paid  the  fine  for  the  boy,  but 

I   knew  I   could  not  do  it,  Avithout  it  becoming 

knoAvn,  and  that  it  would  have  been  a   reflection 

upon  Mr.  NeAvton,  Avho  had  treated  me  Avith  the 
utmost  kindness. 

A   few  minutes  later  a   young  Avoman  named 

Cass  was  brought  up  charged  Avith  accosting  peo- 
ple on  the  street.  Slie  denied  the  constable,  AAdio 

Avas  the  only  Avitness  against  her,  flatly,  and  I   did 

not  belioA^e  the  constal)le’s  evidence.  T   made  bold 
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to  say  to  Mr.  Newton,  Could  the  constable  hear 

what  passed?’’  He  replied,  ‘‘Oh!  they  know  these 

V7onien.”  I   said  in  a   doubtful  tone,  “Perhaps!” 
My  remark  seemed  to  have  caused  him  to  hesitate, 

and  consider,  and  he  said,  “If  you  are  an  honest 

girl  as  you  say  you  are,  don’t  walk  on  Regent 
street  at  night  after  9.30,  for  if  you  do,  next  time 

you  are  caught  you  will  be  sent  to  prison  or  fined. 

Now  you  can  go.” 
It  turned  out  that  she  was  a   respectable  young 

lady,  had  influential  friends  and  relatives,  and  the 

arrest  was  evidently  a   mistake.  A   complaint  was 

made  to  the  Covernment.  The  matter  was  brought 

up  in  the  House  of  Commons,  and  the  Govern- 

ment was  beaten  on  a   vote  for  adjournment  by  a 

majority  of  five.  Punch  devoted  its  principal 

cartoon  the  next  week  to  the  question,  censuring 
Mr.  Newton. 

Lord  Morris  or  Killanan 

While  in  London  in  May,  1900,  I   met  Lord 

Morris  of  Killanan,  who  was  Chief  Justice  of  Ire- 

land for  a   number  of  years,  and  was  afterwards 

one  of  the  Lords  of  Appeal  of  the  Privy  Council. 

In  the  Ijondon  Sketch  of  May,  in  that  year,  our 

first  meeting  was  described  in  the  following  item: 

“Lord  Morris,  who  has  just  resigned  his  office 
as  a   Lord  of  Appeal,  is  one  of  the  most  familiar 
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figures  in  the  lobby  of  the  House  of  Commons,  of 

which  he  was  a   member  as  long  ago  as  the  Sixties, 

and  where  his  ready  wit,  and  vivacious  gestures, 

make  him  an  object  of  no  little  interest.  Only  a 

few  days  ago  he  was  introduced  by  Mr.  Henneker- 
Ileaton,  M.P.,  to  Colonel  George  T.  Denison,  who 

came  from  Canada  to  attend  the  recent  banquet  of 

the  British  Empire  League.  The  moment  the 

noble  Lord  heard  the  word  Canada,  he  gave  a 

kind  of  ̂ Gvhirroop,’^  seized  the  hand  of  the  gal- 
lant Colonel,  and  shook  it  as  if  he  would  never  let 

goP’ I   had  often  heard  of  his  Lordship  before,  for 

he  was  widely  known  for  his  wit  and  other  pecul- 
iarities. When  Lord  Aberdeen  came  to  Canada  as 

Governor-General,  an  anecdote  was  told  of  Lady 
Aberdeen  and  Lord  Morris,  which  caused  some 

amusement  in  Canadian  crcles.  It  appears  that 

shortly  after  Lord  and  Lady  Aberdeen  were  given 

the  Vice-Regal  position  at  Dublin,  they  entertain- 
ed the  leading  officials,  and  prominent  members  of 

Dublin  society,  at  a   large  dinner.  Lord  Morris, 

so  the  story  went,  was  seated  next  to  Lady  Aber- 
deen who  to  open  the  conversation  turned  to  Lord 

Morris  and  said  in  the  most  friendly  way:  ‘M  sup- 
pose, Lord  Morris,  that  we  are  all  Nationalists 

here.’^  The  old  Chief  Justice  looked  around  the 
room,  and  up  and  down  the  table,  and  in  his  rich 
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brogue,  replied,  ‘‘Well,  your  Excellency,  barring 
your  Excellencies,  and  maybe  one  or  two  of  the 

waiters,  I   don’t  believe  there  is  one  in  the  room.” 
On  meeting  Lord  Morris  this  anecdote  came  to 

my  mind,  and  I   recalled  it  to  his  memory,  and  ask- 
ed him  if  the  story  was  true.  His  reply  was : 

“Av  course  it  was  true.  Why  wuddent  it  be 

true.  It  was  the  God ’s  truth,  and  why  shuddent  I 

say  it.” There  is  another  anecdote  told  of  this  fine  old 

gentleman.  A   counsel  once  in  arguing  some  case 

before  him,  made  use  of  the  argument,  that  public 

sentiment  was  opposed  to  some  prnciple  against 

which  he  Avas  contending,  and  said  that  the  “peo- 

ple” would  never  support  such  a   policy.  Lord 

Morris’  reply  was  amusingly  characteristic: 

“Mr.   ,   I   want  to  say  this  to  ye,  there  is  not 
a   village  in  all  Ireland,  where  there  are  not  two 

or  three  dirty  blackguards  who  call  themselves 

‘   ‘   the  people  ’   ’. 
This  is  one  of  the  very  few  precedents  that  I 

ever  quote.  When  counsel  before  me  use  this  ap- 
peal to  popular  sentiment,  and  the  feeling  of  the 

people,  I   find  this  decision  of  Lord  Morris,  which  I 

presume  has  not  been  reported,  a   most  effective 

reply. 
The  late  Sir  Charles  Fremantle  told  me  of  once 

meeting  Lord  Morris  on  the  steamer  from  Holy- 
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head  to  Dublin  and  on  making  some  inquiry,  Lord 

Morris  replied : 

‘‘You  see,  my  dear  Fremantle,  I   have  been  a 
while  over  there  in  London,  and  I   find  my  brogue 

is  getting  a   bit  faible  and  I   am  going  back  to  Dub- 

lin to  titivate  it  up  a   bitP’ 
I   did  not  think  when  I   talked  to  him  that  it  re- 

quired to  be  titivated.  It  was  delightful. 

Sir  Sydney  Wateelow,  Lord  Mayor  of  London 

When  in  London  in  1874,  I   met  Sir  Sydney 

Waterlow,  who  was  then  the  Lord  Mayor  of  Lon- 

don. He  was  very  kind  to  me  and  when  he  paid  a 

visit  to  Canada  some  years  later  I   remembered  his 

kindness,  and  called  on  him  when  he  came  to  To- 
ronto. While  here  he  visited  the  Police  Court 

one  morning  and  sat  on  the  bench  with  me,  and 

a   day  or  two  later  dined  at  my  house. 

At  the  time  of  his  visit  to  Toronto,  the  National 

Exhibition  was  in  progress.  He  was  received  by 

the  Mayor  and  the  officials  of  the  Association  and 

shown  over  the  Exhibition.  The  Press  devoted  a 

good  deal  of  attention  to  him,  and  reported  his 

doings  at  considerable  length,  and  referred  to  him 

in  complimentary  terms,  one  reporter  describing 

him  as  a   fine,  level-headed,  old  gentleman. 

Two  years  later  I   was  in  London,  with  my  wife 

and  daughters,  and  Sir  Sydney  invited  us  to  din- 



152 RECOLLECTIONS  OP 

ner,  and  asked  me  to  bring  one  of  my  daughters 

to  his  box  at  the  opera  on  the  following  night. 

When  we  arrived  we  found  that  Sr  Sydney  had 

brought  with  him  his  wife’s  sister,  a   young  Cali- 
forjiian  lady. 

In  the  interval  between  the  acts,  Sir  Sydney, 

recalling  his  recollections^  of  his  visit  to  Toronto 

and  the  Exhibition,  said  to  me,  ̂ ^Do  you  re- 
member the  curious  phrase  used  by  one  of  the 

reporters  who  said  that  I   was  a   line  old  gentle- 

man and  a   flathead  1   ’   ’ 

I   laughed  and  said,  ‘‘Oh,  no!  Sir  Sydney,  you 
have  forgotten.  He  did  not  say  you  were  a   flat- 

head.  He  said  you  were  a   fine,  level-headed,  old 

gentleman.  ’   ’ 

Sir  Sydney  replied,  “Oh,  yes!  that  was  it.”  I 
went  on  to  say  the  two  phrases  are  the  exact  op- 

posite in  their  meaning,  flathead  not  being  compli- 

mentary, while  level-headed  was  on  the  contrary 
very  much  so. 

The  young  lady  from  California,  and  my 

daughter,  both  of  whom  understood  the  full  mean- 
ing of  the  American  expression,  laughed  most 

heartily,  and  Sr  Sydney  discovered  for  the  first 

time  that  he  had  been  highly  spoken  of  in  the 

phrase  that  had  been  used. 



CHAPTER  XXIII. 

Circumstantial  Evidence 

IN  1905  a   daring  burglary  was  committed  at  the Dominion  Carpet  Factory,  on  King  St.  West, 

in  Toronto.  The  premises  had  been  carefully 

locked  up  in  the  evening,  and  in  the  locked  offices 

were  two  safes  supposed  to  be  burglar-proof,  with 

about  $500.00  in  each.  The  night-watchman  was 
inside  patrolling  the  building,  which  was  a   large 

one.  Suddenly  four  men  attacked  him.  They  were 

masked,  and  each  had  a   revolver.  They  over- 
powered him,  gagged  him,  and  tied  him  to  the 

steam  pipes  of  the  furnace,  and  while  one  man 

with  a   revolver  mounted  guard  over  him  the  other 

three  blew  up  the  safes  with  dynamite,  and  stole 

tlie  money  and  all  four  got  aAvay.  The  matter  was 

reported  to  the  police,  and  in  investigating  the 

case,  the  detectives  heard  of  four  men  hav- 
ing been  seen  in  the  neighborhood  a   few 

hours  before,  and  suspected  who  they  were  and 
decided  to  arrest  them  on  chance.  A   man  named 

Bennett  was  arrested  in  Montreal  and  the  others 

in  Toronto. 
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The  explosion  of  the  dynamite  had  torn  small 

pieces  from  the  hank  notes  in  the  safe,  and  when 

the  Superintendent  entered  the  office  in  the  morn- 

ing he  picked  up  some  little  scraps  and  gave  them 

to  the  police.  When  Bennett  was  arrested  in 

Montreal  the  police  found  on  him  some  hills  of  the 

Molson’s  and  Home  Banks  of  the  denominations 

which  had  been  stolen,  hut  in  a   little  packet  of 

court  plaster  a   scrap  of  a   hank  note  was  found. 

When  Croshy,  the  second  man,  was  arrested  and 

searched  some  hills  were  found,  hut  particularly 

a   $5.00  Home  Bank  hill  which  had  a   hole  torn  out 

of  it  and  a   scrap  off  one  end  of  it.  When  Hunter, 

the  third  man,  was  arrested  a   ten  cent  silver  piece 

mutilated  was  found,  and  a   fifty  cent  piece  with 

a   hole  in  it  which  had  been  plugged,  and  with 

two  other  marks  upon  it. 

When  Bennett  arrived  from  Montreal  he  and 

Croshy  were  put  in  two  cells  v/ith  an  empty  one 

between,  which  was  occupied  by  two  concealed 

detectives.  After  a   time  believing  they  were 

alone,  they  began  to  talk  cautiously,  but  enough 

Avas  said  to  prove  that  they  knew  each  other,  and 

that  they  had  been  engaged  in  something  similar 

to  what  they  Avere  charged  with. 

The  ten  cent  piece  found  on  Hunter  Avas  identi- 

fied by  a   A¥orkman  employed  in  the  factory,  who 

said  he  had  been  paid  it  not  long  before,  and  had 
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taken  it  back  and  exclianged  it  with  the  cashier  for 

a   sound  one.  TJie  cashier  identified  it,  as  the  one 

that  he  had  in  his  desk  which  had  been  stolen.  The 

same  thing  occurred  as  to  the  fifty  cent  plugged 

coin,  which  was  paid  to  a   workman  who  handed  it 

to  his  wife,  who  found  objections  raised  to  it,  and 

could  not  pass  it,  therefore  she  had  taken  it  back 

to  the  cashier  who  had  it  in  his  desk  for  some  time. 

The  workman  and  his  wife  and  the  cashier  were 

positive  in  identifying  it,  as  it  had  three  peculi- 

arities. Hunter  brought  two  of  his  family  to 

swear  that  they  had  seen  a   ten  cent  mutilated 

coin  and  a   fifty  cent  plugged  one  for  some  weeks 

in  his  possession.  This  I   did  not  believe. 

As  to  Bennett,  the  scrap  of  the  bank  note  found 

on  him  with  his  court  plaster,  exactly  fitted  a 

hole  in  the  $5.00  bank  bill  found  on  Crosby,  and 

die  piece  found  on  the  floor  of  the  office  the  morn- 

ing after  the  burglary  exactly  completed  the  whole 

bill,  proving  therefore  that  Bennett  had  part  of 

the  stolen  bill  on  him,  and  Crosby  a   great  part 

of  the  remainder  of  the  bill,  while  the  piece  found 

on  the  floor,  proved  that  it  was  part  of  one  of  the 

stolen  bills.  This  evidence  with  some  other  cor- 

roborative points  satisfied  me  of  the  guilt  of  the 

three  men  and  I   sent  Bennett  to  the  penitentiary 

for  ten  years,  and  the  other  two  for  eight.  This 
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was  one  of  the  most  peculiar  cases  of  coincidence 

or  circumstantial  evidence  in  my  experience. 

About  twenty-five  years  ago  the  Oulcott  Hotel 
on  Yonge  Street  was  broken  into  and  goods  stolen 

therefrom.  The  detectives  on  examining  the  pre- 

mises afterwards,  found  half  a   coat  button  ir- 

regularly broken.  On  searching  Nelson’s  lodg- 

ing-house (a  well-known  thieves’  resort)  a   man 
was  found  with  a   coat  with  the  remainder  of  the 

button  on  it.  He  was  arrested,  and  the  half  but- 
ton was  an  important  link  in  the  evidence  under 

which  he  was  convicted,  and  sentenced  to  three 

years  in  the  penitentiary. 



CHAPTER  XXIV. 

The  Westwood  Murder 

ON  the  morning  of  the  8th  October,  1894, The  Empire  newspaper  had  an  account, 
the  headlines  of  which  read  as  follows : 

‘‘Shooting  a   Mystery.^’  “Frank  Westwood 

fatally  shot  at  his  own  door.  ̂    ’ 

“Towards  midnight  Saturday  an  unknown  man 
called  at  the  house  of  Mr.  Benjamin  Westwood 

in  Parkdale  and  shot  his  son,  Frank,  at  the  door- 

step. Mr.  Westwood  fired  a   shot  from  his  revol- 
ver but  the  man  escaped.  Parkdale  aroused  by 

the  crime.  Three  city  detectives  were  up  till  a 

late  hour  last  night  hard  at  work  on  the  case  but 
so  far  it  is  said  have  obtained  no  clue.  Was  the 

assailant  one  of  the  crew  of  a   stone  hooker  who 

shot  for  revenge?  Young  Westwood’s  reputation 

good.” 
Shortly  before  11  o’clock  the  young  man  went 

to  answer  a   ring  at  the  door.  On  opening  the 

door  a   revolver  was  presented  at  him  without 

warning  and  discharged.  Westwood  fell  back- 
wards  into  the  doorway,  shot  through  his  right 
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breast.  The  assailant  made  his  escape.  The 

whole  affair  was  shrouded  in  mystery.  Neither 

the  boy,  who  was  eighteen  years  of  age,  or  his 

relatives  conld  imagine  any  motive  for  the  crime. 

Startled  by  the  report  of  the  pistol  the  whole 

household  were  aroused  and  young  Westwood 

was  found  lying  in  the  open  doorway.  He  was 

still  conscious  but  could  not  give  a   clear  descrip- 

tion of  the  murderer,  for  he  was  in  the  shadow, 

but  he  said  he  was  a   middle  aged  man  of  medium 

build  who  wore  a   dark  moustache  and  was  dressed 

in  black. 

There  was  absolutely  no  clue  to  give  any  theory, 

and  consequently  imagination  had  free  play,  and 

rumours  began  to  multiply  and  fly  about,  that 

there  was  a   woman  in  the  case.  That  young  West- 

wood  and  another  man  were  rivals  in  love,  and 

the  shooting  was  done  by  a   jealous  lover.  This 

was  denied  by  the  young  man  and  his  relatives 

and  associates.  The  family  were  wealthy  and 

held  a   prominent  position  in  the  church,  and  were 

highly  respected,  all  of  which  caused  general 

interest  among  the  public  in  the  case. 

On  October  9th,  The  Mail  said,  ‘‘In  the  absence 
of  all  explanation  of  the  affair,  there  have  been 

set  afloat  a   great  number  of  idle  theories,  many 

of  which  are  absolutely  silly,  and  are  annoying 

and  unjust,  not  only  to  the  afflicted  family,  but  to 
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others  who  have  been  dragged  into  the  case  with- 
out sufficient  cause.  The  belief  that  there  must 

be  a   woman  at  the  bottom  of  it  all,  has  been  em- 

braced by  many,  and  as  a   consequence  the  names 

of  certain  young  ladies  who  have  been  seen  in  the 

company  of  young  Mr.  Westwood  have  been  men- 

tioned very  freely.  Up  to  the  present,  however, 
none  of  these  have  been  shoAvn  to  be  connected 

even  in  the  most  remote  manner  with  the  tra- 

gedy.’’ The  paper  went  on  to  say  that  it  was  be- 
lieved that  young  Westwood  could  tell  much  more 

if  he  wished. 

The  young  man  died  on  the  10th  October,  un- 

able to  give  any  clear  information  as  to  who  had 

shot  him.  Then  the  rumours  kept  increasing 

and  it  was  said  that  the  young  man’s  life  was 
heavily  insured,  and  that  his  father  and  he  were 

on  bad  terms.  These  reports  were  both  shown  to 

be  absolutely  false.  The  inquest  began  on  the 

12th  of  October  and  was  adjourned  to  various 

dates  until  the  13th  of  November  when  the  jury 

brought  in  a   verdict  in  the  following  words : 

‘‘From  the  evidence  submitted  we  are  of  the 

opinion  that  the  deceased,  Frank  B.  Westwood, 

came  to  his  death  from  a   bullet  wound  at  the 

hands  of  an  unknown  person.” 
During  the  whole  month  while  the  jury  from 

time  to  time  were  inquiring,  the  wildest  rumours 
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were  floating  about,  and  the  newspapers  were 

commenting  very  strongly  against  the  detective 

force  of  the  city.  The  Saturday  Night  had  an 

article  severely  censuring  the  people,  and  papers, 

who  without  justification  ‘‘had  been  insinuating 
and  suspecting  and  spreading  their  black  lies  all 
over  Toronto  and  all  over  Canada The  verdict 

of  the  13th  November  was  no  answer  to  these 

cruel  rumours  and  scandals,  and  the  whole  affair 

was  a   mystery  apparently  unfathomable. 

The  detectives,  however,  had  not  given  up  all 

hope  and  on  the  21st  November,  seven  days  after 

the  jury  had  given  up  the  case,  the  citizens  of 

Toronto  were  startled  at  reading  in  the  morning 

papers  of  that  day,  that  a   young  mulatto  woman 

named  Clara  Ford  had  been  arrested  on  suspicion 

of  being  implicated  in  the  murder.  She  was  ar- 
rested at  her  home  on  the  20th  November,  and 

when  her  rooms  were  searched,  a   suit  of  man’s 
clothes,  consisting  of  a   gray  tweed  coat,  a   dark 

cloth  vest  and  trousers,  and  a   black  fedora  hat 

were  found,  also  a   .38  calibre  revolver  with  four 

chambers  loaded  and  two  empty.  A   charge  of 

murder  was  laid  therefore  against  Clara  Ford 
for  the  murder  of  Frank  Westwood. 

The  investigation  came  up  before  me  at  the 

police  court  on  the  28th  November.  The  headlines 
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of  the  newspapers  will  give  a   summary  of  the 

investigation : 

‘‘A  minute  and  circumstantial  story  of  the  per- 
petration of  the  Lakeside  Hall  tragedy,  told  to 

the  police  by  the  prisoner  herself.  About  the  1st 

July  last  young  Westwood,  she  said,  acted  im- 

properly towards  her.  To  Mr.  Reburn’s  inquiry 
why  she  did  not  resent  the  insult  at  the  time,  she 

said  that  young  people  were  always  teasing  her 

because  of  her  colour.  Changed  her  attire  at  Do- 
minion and  Dufferin  streets,  putting  her  skirt 

under  the  pavement.  Stood  for  twenty  minutes 

under  a   tree  in  the  grounds  of  Lakeside  Hall,  and 

saw  Frank  pass  in.  The  confession  was  also 

made  to  Inspector  Stark.  Clara  was  about  to 

confess  in  court,  but  was  urged  by  the  detectives 

to  get  a   lawyer.  Mr.  Murdock  was  second  choice 

and  Mr.  Murphy  third.  Dramatic  story  of  the 

prisoner’s  escape  round  by  the  old  Fort  from  the 

scene  of  the  tragedy.  Committed  for  trial.” 
As  soon  as  this  was  done  the  detectives  were 

severely  censured  for  questioning  the  young  wo- 

man after  her  arrest,  and  articles  and  letters  ap- 
peared in  the  papers.  When  the  case  came  for 

trial  the  detectives  were  in  a   sense  put  on  trial 

and  the  jury  gave  a   verdict  of  not  guilty  prin- 

cipally on  account  of  Reburn’s  action  in  getting 
the  confession. 
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After  the  trial  I   told  Eehurn  that  I   was  very 

much  pleased  with  what  he  had  done,  because  he 

had  settled  a   lot  of  horrible  rumours,  and  cleared 

up  a   mystery  that  had  been  a   serious  thing  for  a 

family  that  had  lost  one  of  their  dear  ones.  Of 

course,  neither  Beburn  nor  the  other  detectives 

had  any  personal  feeling  against  the  accused  girl. 



CHAPTER  XXV. 

An  Extradition  Case. 

A   MAN  named  McHolme  had  failed  in  busi- ness in  England,  and  having  appropriated 

money  which  slionld  have  been  handed 
over  to  his  creditors  absconded  to  Canada.  After 

some  time  he  was  discovered  here,  and  arrested, 

and  brought  before  me  for  investigation,  and  for 

authority  to  take  him  back  to  England  for  trial. 

When  the  officer  arrived  from  England  with 

the  warrant  for  his  arrest,  and  with  the  evidence 

taken  before  the  English  Magistrate,  I   was  doubt- 
ful as  to  whether  the  evidence  was  strong  enough 

to  commit  him  on  the  charge  of  theft,  although 
the  evidence  was  clear  that  he  had  committed  an 

offence  against  the  Bankruptcy  Act. 

McHolme  insisted  that  the  charge  of  theft  was 

trumped  up,  to  get  him  to  England,  in  order  to 

try  him  under  the  Bankruptcy  Act.  I   told  him 

they  could  not  do  that,  because  the  British  Govern- 

ment held  that  a   man  extradited  could  only  be 

tried  on  the  exact  charge  on  which  lie  was  sent 

back.  He  and  Ids  lawyer  both  insisted  strongly 
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upon  this,  but  I   pointed  out  that  the  British 

Government  only  a   few  months  before,  had  broken 

off  the  Extradition  treaty  with  the  United  States, 

and  were  refusing  to  extradite  any  more,  on  ac- 
count of  the  United  States  having  taken  that 

course  in  one  case,  and  I   told  the  prisoner  in  the 

dock,  that  if  they  attempted  to  try  him  on  the 

bankruptcy  charge,  to  tell  the  Judge  what  I   said 
about  it,  and  to  refer  him  to  the  case  in  the 

United  States,  and  the  British  Government’s  ac- 
tion thereon. 

McHolme  was  taken  to  England,  brought  up 

for  trial,  and,  as  he  expected  was  charged  under 

the  Bankruptcy  Act.  Either  he  or  his  counsel 

told  the  Judge  my  message,  that  he  could  not  be 

tried  on  any  charge  but  that  on  which  he  had  been 

extradited.  I   can  fully  appreciate  the  horror  and 

indignation  of  a   Judge  of  the  High  Court  of  Jus- 
tice of  England  at  receiving  a   message  from  a 

Colonial  Police  Magistrate.  He  took  no  notice 

of  my  message,  tried  the  man  promptly,  and  com- 
mitted him  to  penal  servitude  for  five  years. 

I   had  told  McHolme  to  let  me  know  if  this  hap- 

pened, and  his  lawyer  promptly  sent  a   full  ac- 
count of  the  matter  to  the  Counsel  that  McHolme 

had  employed  here.  I   was  at  once  informed  of  it. 

I   wrote  a   full  report  to  the  Governor-General 

asking  him  to  forward  it  to  the  Home  Secretary, 
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to  have  the  matter  put  right.  I   did  not  hesitate 

to  express  my  views  in  easily  understood  terms. 

Not  long  afterwards  one  of  our  detectives  was  in 

England,  and  asked  what  had  happened  to  Mc- 
Plolme.  He  was  told  that  he  had  got  five  years, 

but  had  been  released  in  six  weeks,  through  some 
influence  from  Canada. 

It  was  all  the  better  for  McHolme,  for  he  was 

then  free  to  remain  in  England,  and  as  we  had 

recovered  almost  all  the  money  for  his  creditors, 
no  harm  was  done. 



CHAPTER  XXVI. 

Wellwood  Robbery 

ON  the  evening  of  May  1st,  1908,  W.  B.  Well- wood  who  at  that  time  kept  a   fruit  and 

confectionery  shop  at  161  Yonge  Street 

went  home  for  supper,  leaving  Ethel  Sketch, 

a   girl  clerk  in  charge  and  alone.  When  he 

returned  a   little  before  7   o’clock  he  found  her 
lying  in  a   pool  of  blood  at  the  back  of  the 

shop,  with  her  face  and  head  a   bloody  mass 
of  bruises.  A   doctor  was  called  in  at  once 

and  temporary  treatment  given.  She  was  then 

removed  to  her  home.  The  Police  headquarters 

were  then  notified  by  telephone,  and  detectives 

Tipton  and  Wallace  were  put  on  the  case.  They 

Avent  to  the  shop  and  got  all  the  particulars  re- 
garding the  surroundings,  and  also  obtained  the 

information  that  nothing  had  been  stolen,  al- 

though at  the  time  the  cash  register  contained  a 

considerable  sum  of  money.  This  left  the  crime 

Avithout  an  apparent  motive,  which  is  usually  the 

most  unsatisfactory  kind  of  a   case  to  work  on. 

After  everything  possible  was  learned  at  the 
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scene  of  the  brutal  assault,  Miss  Sketch  was  seen 

at  her  home,  lying  in  bed,  with  her  head  swathed 

in  bandages,  and  so  weak  from  the  recent  experi- 
ence and  loss  of  blood,  that  it  was  impossible  to 

get  an  exact  account  of  what  had  happened  from 

her.  Hope  of  recovery  was  very  doubtful.  The 

two  detectives,  however,  visited  her  on  the  follow- 
ing day,  and  were  delighted  to  find  her  somewhat 

stronger,  and  more  rational  and  able  to  give  an 

excellent  account  of  what  had  happened  on  the 

night  before. 

Shortly  after  she  had  been  left  alone,  a   man  of 

Avhom  she  gave  a   very  good  description,  entered 

the  shop  and  asked  to  buy  a   pound  of  biscuits. 

The  biscuits  were  kept  near  the  back  of  the  shop, 

and  not  far  from  the  cash  register.  When  she 

stooped  over  to  get  the  biscuits,  she  got  a   heavy 

blow  on  the  head  which  sent  her  face  against  the 

jagged  edges  of  the  tin  which  contained  the  bis- 

cuits. This  blowg  strange*  to  say,  did  not  knock 
her  unconscious.  She  struggled  and  called  for 

help,  but  no  help  came,  and  she  was  soon  beaten 

and  strangled  into  the  condition  in  Avhich  Mr. 
AVellwood  found  her. 

She  stated  positively  that  she  would  know  the 

brute  anywhere,  if  she  could  ever  get  her  eyes  on 

him.  Another  very  important  thing  she  remem- 
bered, was,  that  while  being  smothered  to  stifle 
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her  cries,  she  had  got  one  of  the  man’s  fingers  in 
her  mouth,  and  bit  into  and  held  on  to  it  until 

she  fainted  away. 

Shortly  before  this  outrage,  two  women  belong- 

ing to  the  unfortunate  class,  one  living  on  Ade- 

laide Street,  the  other  on  St.  Patrick  Square,  re- 
ported that  they  had  been  held  up  in  their  homes, 

in  broad  daylight  by  a   man  with  a   revolver,  who 

robbed  them  of  whatever  money  they  had.  And 

shortly  after  it  a   man  named  Duncan,  who  kept  a 

grocery  shop  on  Adelaide  and  John  Streets,  was 

also  robbed  one  night  just  as  he  was  about  to  close 

his  shop.  This  robber  also  had  a   revolver. 
At  the  time  I   refer  to  four  crimes  of  a   serious 

nature  had  occurred  within  a   few  days,  and  noth- 
ing had  been  done. 

Some  of  the  newspapers  had  made  sketches  of 

the  City  Hall,  and  of  Wellwood’s  shop,  and  gave 
the  number  of  yards  that  separated  them. 

On  occasions  of  this  kind,  members  of  the  police 

department  who  have  any  pride  in  their  organiza- 
tion, feel  worse  than  any  citizen,  and  the  general 

public  know  but  little  of  the  strenuous  work  in- 

volved in  keeping  a   city  clean  of  dangerous  crim- 
inals. 

A   few  days  after  the  atfair  at  Wellwood’s,  in- 
formation came  to  the  department,  that  a   man 

who  had  been  away  from  the  city  for  a   great  num- 
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her  of  years,  had  recently  returned  after  having 

served  out  a   sentence  in  a   United  States  Prison. 

This  man  was  known  to  be  capable  of  almost 

any  act  of  viciousness  but  he  had  been  absent  for 

so  long  that  no  one  in  the  police  force  knew  much 

about  his  appearance. 

Inquiries  soon  revealed  where  he  was  living, 

also  that  since  his  return  home  he  had  joined  a 

hockey  team.  It  was  further  learned  that  this 

hockey  team  had  their  photographs  taken  by  a 

Yonge  Street  photographer  recently. 

A   little  careful  negotiation  soon  put  the  police 

in  possession  of  the  group  picture.  It  was  taken 

at  once  to  Miss  Sketch,  and  at  first  glance  she 

placed  her  finger  on  the  man  suspected,  although 

there  were  about  twenty  in  the  group,  and  all 

wearing  sweaters  which  gave  them  an  appearance 

of  sameness,  and  said  ̂ Uhat  is  the  man’\ 
That  night  Tipton  and  Wallace  secured  a   quiet 

spot  where  they  had  full  view  of  the  house  where 

the  suspect  was  supposed  to  live.  Next  morning 

about  five  o   ’clock  they  took  up  their  watch.  It  was 
about  seven  before  any  one  came  out  and  between 

that  and  8.30  four  had  left  the  premises,  but  none 

of  them  quite  answered  the  description  of  the 

man  wanted.  A   false  move  at  this  point  would 

have  spoiled  everything. 
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Just  a   little  after  nine  another  man  came  out 

who  filled  the  bill  fairly  well.  He  had  both  hands 

in  his  pockets  and  kept  them  in  that  position  until 

he  got  a   block  and  a   half  away  from  the  house. 

Then  he  pulled  out  his  left  hand  which  held  his 

pipe  and  in  a   few  more  seconds  pulled  out  the 

right  with  a   match  to  light  it.  As  he  reached  out 

the  hand  to  strike  a   match  against  a   telegraph 

pole,  a   white  bandage  was  quite  noticeable  on  one 

finger ;   one  of  the  detectives  walked  up  on  the  left, 

the  other  on  the  right.  Both  arms  were  caught  at 

the  same  time.  He  was  supposed  to  have  a   revol- 
ver in  his  possession,  and  there  was  no  reason  to 

think  that  he  would  hesitate  to  use  it.  He,  of 

course,  denied  all  knowledge  of  the  charges  pre- 
ferred against  him,  but  Miss  Sketch,  Mr.  Duncan 

and  two  others  who  saw  him  running  from  Dun- 

can’s door  after  the  robbery,  as  well  as  the  two 
women  who  had  been  robbed,  positively  identified 
him.  Then  there  was  the  silent  witness  of  teeth 

marks  well  into  the  bone  on  both  sides  of  one 

finger.  I   committed  him  for  trial  and  while 

awaiting  the  sitting  of  the  Sessions  Court,  he  with 
a   number  of  others  made  a   most  sensational 

escape  from  the  jail.  He  was  rearrested  in 

Huntington,  West  Virginia,  a   few  months  after- 
wards and  brought  back  to  Toronto  for  trial. 
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The  evidence  was  very  clear  in  all  the  cases, 

and  he  was  found  guilty  and  sentenced  by  Judge 

Winchester  to  imprisonment  for  life  in  Kingston 

Penitentiary.  Miss  Sketch  recovered  in  time. 

Robbery  was  undoubtedly  the  motive  of  the 

brutal  assault,  but  in  some  way  he  decided  that  it 

was  wise  to  make  good  his  escape  before  he  had 

accomplished  his  purpose. 



CHAPTER  XXVII. 

Turner  Murder  Case  and  Josephine  Carr  and 

Murder  of  Hon.  George  Brown. 

A   SECTION  man  of  the  New  York  Central Railway  was  walking  along  the  com- 

pany’s track  about  three  and  a   half 
miles  north  of  Niagara  Falls,  when  he  noticed 

a   parcel  (which  had  been  thrown  out  of  a 

passing  train)  rolling  down  the  embankment. 

He  followed  the  parcel  to  the  edge  of  the 

river  and  found  the  dead  body  of  a   new-born  child 

tied  up  in  a   shoe  box.  He  at  once  notified  the 

Coroner  at  Niagara  Falls,  who  ordered  its  remov- 

al to  the  undertaker’s,  where  an  inquest  was  held. 
The  inquest  showed  that  the  infant  had  been 

murdered  by  strangulation,  and  that  a   corset 

string  had  been  used  for  the  purpose.  It  also 
revealed  the  fact  that  the  child  had  been  born  in 

a   hospital  or  maternity  home,  as  there  was  a   piece 

of  adhesive  plaster  bearing  the  name  ‘‘Anthers” 

stuck  on  the  back.  The  Coroner’s  jury  returned 
an  open  verdict  and  the  body  was  buried. 
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A   short  account  of  the  case  appeared  in  a 

Niagara  Falls  paper  and  was  copied  by  a   Toronto 

paper,  and  read  by  a   man  on  Booth  Avenue  who 

had  a   woman  named  Anthers  occupying  rooms  at 

his  home.  She  had  left  to  go  to  the  General  Hos- 
pital for  her  confinement  about  ten  days  before. 

He  knew  that  this  woman  had  been  negotiating 

with  some  one  for  the  adoption  of  her  child,  and 

that  papers  were  to  be  made  out  and  possession 
transferred  soon  after  birth.  These  facts  were 

given  to  the  police,  and  an  investigation  started. 

It  was  found  that  Mrs.  Anthers  had  given  birth 

to  her  child,  that  it  had  been  adopted,  and  taken 

away  a   day  or  so  after  birth  by  a   woman  supposed 

to  be  Mrs.  Turner,  the  wife  of  a   commercial  tra- 
veller from  Niagara  Falls,  N.Y.,  the  mother  of 

the  child  paying  two  hundred  dollars  to  the  woman 

to  whom  she  had  given  it. 

Tlie  investigation  further  led  to  the  arrest  of  a 

]\[fs.  Miller  who  was  living  in  a   house  on  Wood 
Street. 

This  Mrs.  Miller  turned  out  to  be  Mrs.  Turner, 

who  had  adopted  the  Anthers  baby,  the  object  be- 

ing to  get  the  two  hundred  dollars.  She  strangled 

it  the  night  she  brought  it  home. 

The  body  was  exhumed,  and  brought  back  to 

Toronto  and  a   second  iiuiuest  was  held,  and  the 

woman  was  found  guilty  of  murder  by  the  Cor- 
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oner’s  jury.  Evidence  in  the  Police  Conrt,  and  at 
the  Assizes  showed  that  the  morning  after  the 

murder,  she  left  the  house  carrying  a   parcel,  that 

she  was  seen  getting  on  the  Niagara  boat  with 

same  parcel,  and  also  seen  getting  otf  the  boat  at 

Lewiston  with  the  parcel,  and  getting  on  a   N.  Y.  C. 

train  with  it.  She  was  also  seen  getting  off  the 

train  at  Niagara  Falls  without  the  parcel,  and 
this  was  the  same  train  from  which  the  section 

man  saw  the  parcel  thrown  from  the  window.  A 

new  pair  of  boots  was  found  in  Mrs.  Turner’s  bed- 
room, with  a   certain  number  stamped  inside;  a 

corresponding  number  was  found  on  the  shoe  box 

which  contained  the  infant’s  body,  although  an 
attempt  had  been  made  to  obliterate  it.  The  sale 

slip  with  the  same  number  was  found  on  file  in 

Eaton’s  office,  and  also  on  the  driver’s  sheet  who 
had  delivered  the  boots,  and  Mrs.  Turner  was 

identified  by  the  saleswoman  who  had  sold  her 

the  boots.  The  tag  on  the  baby’s  back  had  been 
preserved,  and  the  nurse  who  had  attended  Mrs. 

Anthers  identified  her  own  handwriting  on  the 

tag.  The  tag  and  handwriting  were  both  identi- 
fied by  another  nurse  who  had  been  assisting  and 

had  stuck  it  on  the  baby. 

Mrs.  Turner  was  found  guilty  of  murder,  and 

sentenced  to  fifteen  years  in  Kingston  Peniten- 
tiary. 
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Josephine  Carr 

An  extraordinary  and  tragic  case  was  that  in 

which  Josephine  Carr,  a   girl  of  about  eleven 

years  of  age,  was  tried  for  murder.  A   young 

married  woman  left  her  little  baby  not  yet  a   year 

old,  in  a   baby  carriage  in  front  of  Eaton’s  on 
Queen  Street,  and  went  in  to  make  some  purchase. 

When  she  came  out  the  baby  carriage  and  baby 

had  both  disappeared,  and  she  could  find  no  trace 

of  either. 

It  appeared  afterwards,  that  Josephine  Carr 

had  taken  the  carriage  and  the  baby  and  had  gone 

east,  and  at  some  distance  from  the  built-up  por- 

tion of  the  city,  had  killed  the  baby  and  hidden 

its  body  in  a   culvert,  where  it  was  found  not  long 

after.  It  was  a   stupid  and  unaccountable  murder. 

The  girl  was  tried  and  convicted,  and  sent  to 

prison,  and  I   understood  that  she  died  not  long 

after. 

The  Murderer  of  George  Brown 

On  the  19th  of  March,  1880,  I   had  among  the 

list  of  prisoners  on  my  calendar  one  George  Ben- 

nett, charged  with  non-support  of  his  wife.  I   ar- 

raigned him  and  heard  something  of  the  charge, 

remanded  him  for  a   week  on  his  own  bail  and  let 

him  go.  As  he  went  out  I   said  to  Mr.  Nudel, 

Police  Court  Clerk,  I   am  sorry  I   had  to  let  that 
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man  go,  as  he  is  one  of  the  worst  men  that  I   have 
ever  had  before  me.  Nudel  said  that  he  had  not 

noticed  him.  I   remarked,  ̂ ‘that  man  fears  neither 
God,  man  or  deviP\ 

Before  the  week’s  remand  was  np,  this  man, 
who  was  employed  in  The  Globe  office  in  some 

capacity,  went  into  the  private  office  of  Hon. 

George  Brown,  who  was  the  Editor  of  The  Globe, 

and  after  a   short  altercation  drew  a   pistol,  and 

shot  Mr.  Brown  through  the  thigh.  Bennett  was 

arrested  and  brought  before  me  on  the  morning 

of  the  27th  March,  charged  with  shooting  with 
intent  to  kill.  He  was  remanded  from  week  to 

week  to  await  the  result.  Mr.  Brown  lingered  for 

some  weeks  and  died  on  the  9th  May  from  the 

effects  of  the  wound.  The  Coroner’s  jury  on  the 
11th  May  brought  in  a   verdict  against  the 

prisoner,  and  he  was  committed  for  trial  on 

the  charge  of  wilful  murder.  After  a   careful 

trial  in  which  he  was  defended  with  great 

ability  by  the  late  Nicholas  Flood  Bavin  he  was 

convicted  and  sentenced  to  be  hanged. 

He  was  hanged  on  the  24th  July,  1880,  and  the 

day  before,  the  late  Major  Draper,  our  then  Chief 

of  Police,  told  me  he  was  going  the  next  morning 

with  other  officials  to  the  jail,  to  see  the  execution, 

which  even  then  was  prohibited  from  taking  place 

in  public. 

Remembering  my  impression  about  Bennett  be- 
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fore  the  murder,  I   asked  Major  Draper  if  he  would 

pay  close  attention  to  the  man’s  demeanour  on  the 
scaffold,  and  let  me  know  whether  he  showed  any 

signs  of  fear  or  trepidation,  for  I   believed  that 

he  did  not  fear  anything  in  heaven  above  or  in  the 

earth  beneath.  The  next  morning  Major  Draper 

told  me  that  he  never  wanted  to  see  another  exe- 

cution, that  Bennett  was  cool  and  collected,  show- 

ed no  sign  of  fear,  and  was  in  fact  the  most  uncon- 

cerned man  of  all  those  who  were  present.  He 

asked  permission  of  the  Sheriff  to  speak  to  the 

assembled  officials,  and  made  a   speech  of  about 

ten  minutes  in  length,  in  a   calm  and  self-possessed 

manner,  and  then  turned  to  the  trap  door  to  be 

hanged. 

The  next  morning  in  the  Toronto  Globe  of  the 

25th  July,  there  was  a   very  full  description  of  the 

whole  affair,  and  I   quote  the  following  extracts 
from  it : 

^Tmmediately  after  the  commission  of  the  crime,  and 
indeed  until  very  lately,  the  prisoner  spoke  about  the 

deed,  and  acted  in  the  most  nonchalant  manner.  His  air 

at  the  coroner’s  inquest  had  a   certain  amount  of  bravado 
about  it,  and  since  then  he  has  frequently  expressed  to 

fellow  prisoners,  and  to  his  keepers,  his  utter  indifference 

to  his  fate   Ilis  last  artistic  effort  being  a   picture 

of  himself  dangling  at  the  end  of  a   rope.  This  last  inci- 
dent will  serve  to  illustrate  the  flippant  manner  in  which 

he  regarded  the  awfnl  doom  whose  consummation  was 

but  a   few  days  off     He  walked  with  a   firm  tread." 



CHAPTER  XXVIII. 

The  Irish  Element — Jack  0   Heart  Trial — 

Meeting  in  Paddy  Daly^s — John  Maher,  Etc. 

The  Irish  forty  years  ago,  as  I   have  said, formed  a   very  large  proportion  of  the 

population,  the  labouring  classes  at  that 

time  being  almost  all  of  that  nationality.  They 

added  very  much  to  the  humour  of  the  proceed- 
ings in  the  Court  when  I   first  occupied  the  Bench. 

Many  years  ago  there  was  a   street  called  March 

Street.  It  was  one  of  the  slums  of  the  city,  and 

had  acquired  a   very  unsavoury  reputation.  In 

order  to  improve  its  standing,  the  City  Council 

changed  its  name  to  Stanley  Street.  The  old  say- 
ing that  a   rose  by  any  other  name  would  smell  as 

sweet  was  verified  in  the  opposite  sense,  for 

Stanley  street  smelt  as  bad  as  March  Street.  An- 
other attempt  was  made  to  improve  it  by  naming 

it  Lombard  Street,  and  I   think  that  then  it  was 

worse  than  ever,  for  the  old  wooden  shanties  were 

continually  becoming  more  decrepit. 

It  was  inhabited  by  Irish  labourers,  carters, 

woodsawyers,  etc.  A   well  known  character  nam- 
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ed  Dan  Dwan,  a   labourer  on  the  docks,  was 

popularly  known  as  the  Mayor  of  Stanley  Street, 

for  he  had  great  influence  among  the  residents, 

and  was  an  active  politician.  He  was  a   witty, 

humorous  fellow,  and  well  known  in  the  city.  I 

met  him  once  many  years  ago,  long  before  I   was 

on  the  Bench  and  said  to  him : 

‘‘Good  morning,  Dan.  I   hope  you  may  live  long, 

and  always  be  “able  to  keep  a   pig,  and  always 

have  a   barrel  of  whiskey  in  the  corner.  ̂    ̂ 

“Well,  sir,’^  he  replied,  “whaHs  one  barrel  of 

whiskey  in  a   large  family  and  no  cowV^ 
The  jail  is  situated  to  the  east  of  the  Don  River, 

and  prisoners  going  from  court  to  jail  crossed 

the  Don  Bridge.  About  fifty  years  ago  there  was 

a   very  popular  music  hall  song  called  “One  more 

River  to  Cross’’.  One  day  a   couple  of  young 
dandies  were  walking  along  the  street  singing  it. 

Dan  looked  at  them  and  said: 

“Yes,  boys,  and  I   know  the  river,  it’s  the  Don.” 
Another  day  he  was  talking  to  a   stranger  when 

the  van  called  “Black  Maria”  was  being  driven 
down  to  the  jail  with  the  prisoners  convicted  for 

drunkenness,  etc.,  the  usual  term  being  thirty 

days. 
Dan  said  to  the  man : 

“Do  you  see  that  team?  That’s  Curnel  Dini- 

son’s  team,  and  they  are  the  fastest  in  the  city.” 



180 RECOLLECTIONS  OF 

‘‘They  do  not  look  very  fast,”  said  the  stranger. 
“But  they  are,”  said  Dan.  “They  would  take 

yon  as  far  in  half  an  hour,  as  it  would  take  you 

thirty  da^^s  to  get  back.  ’   ̂ 

Jack  O’Leary's  Trial 

When  I   was  quite  a   young  barrister  I   was 

asked  to  defend  a   man  named  Jack  O’Leary 
for  burglary.  He  was  almost  caught  in  the  act, 

being  found  in  a   lane  in  his  shirtsleeves,  at  the 

back  of  the  shop  that  had  been  broken  into,  and  in 

the  shop  was  found  his  coat.  There  was  little 

chance  of  getting  him  otf,  but  I   did  the  best  I   could 

with  the  jury,  making  a   strong  point  of  the  fact 

that  the  Crown  had  not  proved  that  the  coat  was 

his,  and  that  there  was  no  evidence  that  it  was  his 

coat.  To  my  amazement  the  jury  acquitted  him. 

I   left  the  Court  and  O’Leary  came  after  me,  and 
asked  me  to  apply  to  Chief  Justice  Draper  for  the 

restitution  of  the  coat.  I   refused  most  em- 

phatically, and  told  him  to  say  nothing  about  it, 

and  advised  him  to  leave  the  city  at  once. 

The  next  morning  I   was  passing  through  the 

Court  House  when  Dan  Dwan  came  up  to  me  and 

said : 

“Good  morning,  Mr.  Dinnison,”  and  he  went 

on  to  say,  “I  was  in  the  Court  yesterday.  I   heard 
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ye  pleading  for  Jack  O’Leary.  Be  japers  ye 
did  it  well!  Ye  mulvathered  that  jury  till  they 

didn’t  know  where  they  were  at.  For  he  was 

bloody  guilty.” 

am  afraid  he  was,”  said  I. 

^^Yes,”  said  Dan.  ̂ ‘But  you  know,  he  had  no 

business  to  ask  for  his  coat.” 

I   replied:  refused  to  apply  for  it.”  He  then 

told  me  that  0   ’Leary  had  gone  in  himself,  just  as 
the  Court  was  opening  that  morning,  and  had  ask- 

ed the  Chief  Justice  to  order  the  return  of  his 

coat. 

The  Chief  Justice  said:  ̂ ^But  you  said  that  it 

was  not  your  coat.” 

^‘No,  my  Lord,  I   did  not.” 

‘‘Well  your  Counsel  did.” 

“No,”  said  O’Leary,  “he  did  not.  He  only 
said  that  they  did  not  prove  it  was  my  coat,  but  I 

can  prove  it  is  my  coat.” 
The  Chief  Justice  said: 

“I  think  this  is  the  most  impudent  request  ever 

made  to  me,”  and  he  ordered  the  coat  to  be  sold, 
and  the  proceeds  given  to  a   charitable  institution 

and  ordered  O’Leary  to  be  removed  from  the 
Court. 

I   do  not  think  I   ever  defended  anotlier  prisoner. 

I   was  not  pleased  with  my  experience  in  that  case. 
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Meeting  in  Daly^s  Back  Yakd. 

Lombard  Street  reminds  me  of  another  famous 

settlement  of  fifty-five  years  ago,  principally  com- 
posed of  Irish  emigrants  from  the  County  of 

Clare,  and  popularly  known  as  Claretown.  It  was 

situated  on  what  are  now  known  as  Eyerson, 

Wolseley  and  Carr  Streets.  The  principal  man  in 

the  settlement  was  Pat  Gibson,  a   railway  labourer, 

who  was  known  as  the  Mayor  of  Claretown.  He 

was  a   tall,  well  built,  powerful  man  more  than  six 

feet  in  height. 

A   man  named  Standish  Wilson,  who  kept  a 

tavern  on  the  opposite  side  of  Queen  Street,  was 

the  bailiff  or  agent  of  the  owner  of  Claretown.  He 

was  a   stout  old  man,  with  a   large  way  of  talking, 

and  sometimes  used  Latin  quotations  in  a   very 

amusing  way.  I   remember  him  once  telling  of  a 

row  that  occurred  between  two  neighbours  in  the 

settlement,  and  he  told  me  that  from  what  he  over- 

heard about  the  trouble,  he  was  under  the  im- 

pression ^Hhat  there  had  been  a   prior  fracas 

among  them,  but  that  they  ̂ ^were  of  a   very  pug- 

nacious dispisition  intirely^’. 
Not  far  from  Standish  Wilson  ̂ s  tavern  was  an- 

other small  tavern  kept  by  a   rival  named  Paddy 
Daly. 

There  was  a   general  election  for  the  old  Parlia- 
ment of  Canada  about  the  year  1862.  I   was  then 
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a   very  young  man  and  was  one  of  the  Committee 

for  the  Conservative  candidate,  and  John  Cana- 
van,  a   young  Irish  lawyer,  a   friend  of  mine,  was 

another.  In  those  days  elections  were  very  dif- 

ferent from  what  they  are  now.  The  polling  last- 
ed two  days,  there  was  open  voting,  open  treating, 

and  almost  open  bribing.  Our  opponents  in  this 

election  had  called  a   meeting  of  electors  to  be  held 

at  Paddy  Daly’s,  to  be  addressed  by  the  candidate 
and  other  prominent  politicians.  Canavan  con- 

ceived the  idea  of  breaking  up  the  meeting  and  I 

agreed  to  help  him.  Daly’s  tavern  was  too  small 
for  a   meeting,  but  he  had  a   fair-sized  yard  at  the 

back  of  his  place  with  the  usual  wood-shed  running 
along  one  side  of  it.  Standish  Wilson,  and  Pat 

Gibson  the  Mayor,  brought  down  the  male  popu- 
lation of  Claretown,  and  they  filed  into  the  yard, 

and  took  up  an  advantageous  position  on  the  roof 

of  the  wood-shed.  It  was  a   fine  summer  evening 
and  Paddy  Daly  had  brought  out  the  kitchen  table, 

and  placed  two  candles  on  it,  with  a   pair  of  snuf- 
fers between  them,  and  two  or  three  chairs  for  the 

Chairman  and  Secretary.  The  yard  was  packed, 

and  when  the  meeting  had  got  fairly  started, 

Canavan  stood  upon  a   chair  by  the  table  and  be- 

gan to  speak  and  to  move  a   resolution  in  favour  of 

our  candidate.  The  other  side  had  brought  a   well- 

known  mob  leader  named  Bob  Moody  from  the 
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St.  John’s  Ward  district,  with  a   number  of  his 
followers,  and  as  soon  as  Canavan  began  to 

speak,  there  was  a   great  uproar  and  Moody  got 

upon  the  other  side  of  the  table.  Canavan  got  up  on 

his  side  and  the  noise  and  yelling  was  so  furious, 
that  not  a   word  could  be  heard  from  either  of 

them.  I   was  standing  right  behind  Canavan  hold- 

ing him  from  falling  from  the  table,  when  Pat  Gib- 
son, who  was  standing  at  the  back  of  the  roof  of 

the  shed,  said  to  his  Claretown  boys,  ‘‘Make  a   way 

for  me  boys”,  and  he  ran  down  the  roof  and  made 
a   flying  leap  over  the  heads  of  those  near  and  land- 

ed on  the  table,  seized  Moody  in  his  arms,  and  they 

both  fell  into  the  crowd  beyond.  The  table  was 

broken  and  tumbled  over,  Canavan  and  I   were 

thrown  aside.  The  chairman  ran  through  the 

house  and  away  went  the  candidate  after  him. 

The  Claretown  people  cleared  the  yard  in  a   few 

minutes,  and  Canavan  invited  everybody  to  go  to 

Standish  Wilson’s,  where  he  would  treat  them. 
When  we  went  up  there  the  place  was  jammed. 

AVilson’s  wife  and  family  were  handing  out  the 
liquor  as  fast  as  it  could  be  done,  and  Wilson  in 

his  shirt  sleeves  standing  with  his  thumbs  in  his 

waistcoat  arm  holes,  smiling  benignantly  upon  the 

scene.  He  came  up  to  me  and  said : 

“Mr.  Dinnison,  did  you  ever  see  a   meeting  more 

beautifully  cleaned  out  than  that?” 
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I   said  I   had  not. 

He  replied:  ‘H  do  not  belave,  Mr.  Dinnison, 
that  in  the  whole  coorse  of  my  political  ex- 

parience,  I   ever  saw  a   meeting  so  illigantly  dis- 

turbed as  that  was  ’   and  he  went  on  to  speak  very 
highly  to  me  about  Canavan. 

‘‘Canavan  is  a   smart  little  chap,  but  I   think  he 
is  too  abusive  intirely.  He  reiterates  his  abuse 

^ad  nauseam’.’’ 
Wilson  afterwards  asked  us  to  get  him  some 

kind  of  employment  under  the  Government,  and 

we  tried  to  do  so.  About  four  years  or  more  after- 
wards I   met  him  one  morning  in  the  street  with  a 

bundle  of  papers  in  his  hand.  He  had  been  ap- 
pointed a   census  enumerator.  He  held  the  papers 

up  for  me  to  see  and  said : 

<<  There,  Mr.  Dinnison,  after  waiting  four  years 
‘ridiculus  mus  nascitur’.” 

This  all  happened  when  I   was  quite  a   young 

man,  long  before  I   was  a   Magistrate,  but  I   have 

described  the  event  as  throwing  light  upon  a 

method  of  electioneering  which  has  long  since 

disappeared. 

John  Maher 

A   well  known  Irish  character  some  years  ago 

was  John  Maher.  He  had  been  employed  in  a 
book  shop  on  King  Street,  and  I   often  saw  him 
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there.  I   think  his  people  in  Ireland  had  partly 

educated  him  for  the  Catholic  priesthood,  but 

from  his  after  career,  I   do  not  think  that  that  was 

his  natural  calling.  He  began  to  drink  too  much, 

and  soon  lost  his  employment,  and  was  often  sent 

to  jail  for  drunkenness.  In  time  he  came  to  look 

upon  the  jail  as  his  home.  The  jailer  treated  him 

very  well,  for  as  I   have  said  he  was  fairly  well 

educated,  and  pleasant  in  his  manner.  When  in 

jail,  he  was  generally  employed  as  a   clerk  in  the 

office,  and  was  very  useful. 

When  he  would  come  out  of  jail  on  the  con- 

clusion of  his  term,  his  friends  would  treat  him 

too  well,  and  in  two  or  three  days  he  would  go 

down  again.  After  a   time  he  would  sometimes  not 

take  the  trouble  to  get  drunk,  but  would  give  him- 

self up  as  a   vagrant,  and  ask  to  be  sent  down.  I 

would  always  ask  him  how  long  he  would  like, 

and  give  him  the  number  of  months  he  indicated. 

Sometimes  he  would  be  out  for  a   day  or  two  and 

would  be  up  again  for  drunkenness,  and  would 

say: 

^   ‘   Give  me  another  chance  this  time.  Colonel.  I 

have  a   few  friends  I   want  to  see.’’ 

I   always  gave  him  the  chance. 

When  he  would  came  up  for  drunkenness,  he 

generally  made  some  very  humorous  remarks.  On 
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one  occasion  when  I   asked  him  if  he  had  been 

drunk,  he  said : 

was,  Colonel,  but  I   could  not  help  it.  They 

had  set  me  to  make  out  the  Criminal  Statistics  re- 

turns, and  I   worked  hard  at  them  for  a   long  time, 

and  it  was  the  dryest  job  I   ever  had.  You  have 
no  idea  how  dry  they  are,  and  when  I   came  out  I 

naturally  had  to  take  a   few  drinks.  I   plead 

guilty.'’ 
‘^Well,  Maher,"  said  I,  ̂‘you  will  not  have  any 

more  statistics  for  awhile  to  work  at,  so  you  can 

go  but  try  to  keep  sober,"  which  he  did  for  a   day 
or  two. 

On  another  occasion,  when  I   asked  him  when  he 

came  up  if  he  was  drunk  or  not,  he  replied, 

‘‘Yes,  Colonel,  I   was.  I   happened  to  get  a   copy 
of  that  last  article  of  yours  in  The  W estminster 

Review,  and  I   got  so  worked  up  over  it  that  I   took 

a   few  drinks  and  here  you  see  I   am." 

I   said,  “Well  Maher,  I   don't  blame  you,  that 
article  was  enough  to  drive  any  man  to  drink.  You 

can  go,  you  are  discharged." 
About  eighteen  years  ago,  I   published  a   volume 

of  my  military  reminiscences,  under  the  title  of 

“Soldiering  in  Canada".  Maher  had  been  in  the 
Toronto  Field  Battery  in  his  early  days;  I   first 

knew  him  in  that  capacity,  for  my  corps  was 

brigaded  with  the  Battery,  in  the  old  Active 
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Mounted  Force  of  Toronto.  While  in  jail  Maher 

happened  to  see  a   review  of  my  hook,  so  he  wrote 

me  a   note  saying  that  he  was  very  anxious  to  read 

it,  and  asked  me  if  I   would  lend  him  a   copy,  which 

after  reading  he  could  return  to  me  by  the  police- 
man driving  the  van.  I   sent  a   copy  to  him,  which 

he  returned  in  a   couple  of  weeks  with  a   warm  note 

of  thanks.  The  police  and  the  jail  people  were 
much  surprised  at  the  friendly  relations  between 

the  magistrate  and  probably  the  most  impecunious 

tramp  in  the  city. 

Harry  Henry 

Another  very  well  known  character  in  the  olden 

days  was  Harry  Henry,  whose  record  of  convic- 
tions far  surpassed  that  of  any  other  offender.  For 

a   great  many  years  he  was  constantly  spending 

his  time  in  jail.  He  would  serve  his  thirty  days, 

get  out  for  a   day  or  two,  and  go  down  again  year 

after  year  for  more  than  forty  years. 
When  I   first  went  on  the  Bench  he  was  still 

coming  regularly.  He  had  hundreds  of  convictions 

recorded  against  him,  300  or  400.  The  first  time 

I   sent  him  down  he  told  me  that  he  had  many 

times  been  sent  down  by  my  grandfather,  and  my 
father,  both  of  whom  in  their  day,  as  Justices  of 

the  Peace,  had  often  sat  on  the  Bench  before  the 

days  of  Police  Magistrates.  Harry  Henry  really 
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looked  upon  the  jail  as  his  home,  and  was  always 

employed  by  Governor  Allen  of  the  jail  as  a   butler, 

and  the  strange  thing  about  him  was,  that  he  was 

absolutely  reliable  for  he  had  charge  of  the  Gov- 

ernor's sideboard  and  liquors.  The  Governor  used 
to  send  him  into  town  sometimes  on  messages,  and 

he  would  carry  out  his  errands  with  strict  care 

and  return  promptly.  On  one  occasion  Governor 

Allen  sent  him  into  the  city  with  a   new  turnkey, 

or  guard,  to  make  some  purchases  and  bring  them 

back  to  the  jail.  The  guard  was  very  uneasy  and 

anxious,  and  watched  Harry  with  such  close  care, 

that  Harry  bcame  annoyed,  and  waitching  his 

chance,  gave  him  the  slip,  and  made  his  way  back 

to  the  jail  as  fast  as  he  could  go.  The  guard  was 

very  disturbed,  and  hunted  about  and  searched 

for  him  for  some  hours,  being  afraid  to  return 
without  him.  When  he  did  return  he  found  his 

escaped  prisoner  quietly  waiting  to  welcome  him. 
A   few  years  after  my  appointment  some  of  his 

friends  made  arrangements  for  Henry  to  be  cared 

for,  and  the  last  two  or  three  years  of  his  life  he 

was  quite  comfortable,  and  lived  as  a   respectable 

citizen.  A   short  account  of  liis  life  was  published, 

and  I   believe  had  a   large  circulation.  Harry 

Henry  and  Doc  Sheppard  wei’e  the  only  two  of 
my  regular  customers  who  were  distiiiguislied  by 
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having  their  biographies  published  in  their  life- 
time. 

Maukice  Cosmer 

Coming  ont  of  my  office  one  day,  an  Irish 

labourer  named  Maurice  Cosmer  spoke  to  me  and 

said  he  was  anxious  to  get  a   man  out  of  jail. 

‘‘What  is  he  in  jail  forT’  I   asked 

“Well,  sir,  it  was  for  threatenin’.’’ 

“I  suppose  he  was  ordered  to  find  sureties  to 

keep  the  peace,”  said  I. 

“Yes,  sir,  he  was  to  find  one  surety  in  $100.00.” 

“Well,  if  you  get  a   man  who  will  go  surety,  I 

will  arrange  it.” 

“Would  your  Worship  take  me  for  bail  for 

Rooney!” 

I   replied,  “I  would  like  to  know  who  he  was 

threatening!” 

“It  was  me,  sir,  he  was  threatening.” 

“And  you  will  go  bail  for  him!” 

“Yes,”  he  replied. 

I   took  him  into  the  Clerk’s  office,  had  a   bail 
bond  drawn  out,  took  his  bail,  gave  him  a   warrant 

of  deliverance,  and  told  him  to  take  it  to  the  jail, 

and  the  jailer  would  let  Rooney  out,  but  I   said, 

‘   ‘   Remember  if  he  beats  you  now,  you  will  get  the 

beating,  and  may  have  to  pay  the  $100.” 

“Well,  sir,  I   don’t  care  if  I   do.  Rooney  has  a 
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wife  and  childer,  and  they  want  him,  and  I   would 

rather  take  the  bating  than  see  them  ‘‘wanting’’, 
and  he  went  off  and  released  his  enemy. 

Some  months  after  Cosmer  was  up  before  me 

for  being  drunk,  and  pleaded  guilty.  I   said  to 

him,  “I  remember  you,  Cosmer,  you  are  too  good 
hearted  a   fellow  to  send  to  jail,  go  home  and  try 

and  keep  sober  in  future.” 

The  Fairbank  Murder 

A   case  that  impressed  me  very  much  was  a 

charge  against  Edward  Handcock  and  his  wife  for 

the  murder  of  their  daughter,  which  occurred  on 

the  16th  of  July,  1891,  in  the  village  of  Fairbank, 

about  three  miles  north  of  the  then  limits  of  To- 

ronto. Sophia  Handcock  was  found  in  the  little 

shop  which  was  the  front  room  of  the  residence, 

dead  with  a   wound  in  the  head,  that  looked  as  if  it 

had  been  cut  open  Avith  a   lath  hammer,  the  skull 

being  cut  open  in  a   break  about  two  or  two  and  a 

half  inches  long.  The  father  said  he  had  been 

working  in  the  garden,  and  on  coming  into  the 

house  had  found  his  daughter  lying  dead  on  the 

floor.  He  had  seen  no  one  passing  along  the  road, 

and  had  heard  no  noise,  but  this  might  be  explain- 

ed by  the  fact  that  he  was  rather  deaf. 

An  inquest  was  held  Avliich  did  not  result  in  anj^ 

satisfactory  solution  of  tlie  mystery.  Then  the 
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newspaper  reporters  went  on  investigating,  and 

tlie  detectives  took  np  the  case  with  the  result  that 
the  father  and  mother  were  arrested  for  the 

murder.  When  Handcock  was  arrested  he  said, 

‘‘Well,  I   can’t  help  it,  God  has  taken  care  of  me  in 

the  past,  and  will  in  the  future.  I   am  not  guilty.” 

When  he  was  brought  into  the  Governor ’s  office  in 

the  jail  he  said:  “This  is  a   terrible  business  but 
the  Lord  knows  that  we  are  innocent  and  He  will 

not  desert  us  now.” 
A   number  of  points  of  evidence  were  brought 

up,  and  it  was  shown  that  there  was  an  insurance 

on  the  young  woman’s  life.  When  all  the  evidence 
was  in,  there  was  enough  for  me  to  commit  the 

man  for  trial — but  I   remember  how  puzzled  I   was. 

I   asked  Deputy  Chief  Stuart,  who  had  a   lifetime ’s 
experience  in  criminal  cases,  what  he  thought 

about  it.  His  reply  was  that  he  was  quite  puzzled. 

I   said,  ‘   ‘   My  feeling  is  very  curious.  I   can  generab 
ly  feel  that  after  I   have  heard  the  evidence  I   lean 
a   little  to  one  side  or  the  other  in  criminal  cases, 

but  this  is  almost  the  only  one  I   remember  where  I 

could  not  say  which  side  I   could  lean  on.”  The 

Deputy  said,  “The  same  idea  has  impressed  me.” 
A   very  careful  search  had  been  made  to  find  a 

lather’s  hammer,  but  it  could  not  be  found.  After 
the  man  was  committed  for  trial,  Mr.  Murdock, 

who  was  employed  to  defend  him,  obtained  an 
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order  for  the  exhumation  of  the  remains,  and  had 

a   very  minute  examination  made  of  the  skull.  The 

break  was  found  to  have  on  the  edges  two  or  three 

small  traces  of  lead  showing  that  the  blow  was 

not  done  with  an  iron  weapon.  Then  the  question 

of  a   pistol  shot  was  considered,  and  it  was  found 

that  a   glancing  shot  on  the  head  might  have 

ploughed  the  break  in  the  skull.  A   careful  ex- 
amination of  the  room  then  resulted  in  the  dis- 

covery of  a   pistol  bullet  imbedded  in  the  plaster 
of  the  ceiling  at  the  back  end  of  the  room.  This 

indicated  that  a   pistol  was  fired  at  the  woman 

from  just  inside  the  doorway — which  broke  her 
skull,  and  glanced  upward  into  the  ceiling.  The 

result  of  the  trial  was  the  acquittal  of  the  pris- 

oner. It  was  the  general  belief  that  a   tramp  who 

had  been  seen  in  the  neighborhood  had  walked 

into  the  shop  and  shot  the  girl,  who  was  alone  in 

it,  and  having  taken  what  was  in  the  till,  got  oft 

without  being  seen,  for  it  was  at  that  time  a 

lonely  locality. 



CHAPTER  XXIX. 

The  Receiver  General  Robbery. 

ONE  of  the  most  clever  and  successful  rob- beries carried  out  in  Toronto  in  my  time, 

was  the  robbery  of  about  $12,000  in  cash 
from  the  Assistant  Receiver  GeneraPs  office  in 

Toronto,  about  twenty-five  years  ago.  The  late 
Mr.  Eraser  was  the  Assistant  Receiver  General  in 

charge.  To  understand  the  way  in  which  the  theft 

was  carried  out  it  will  be  necessary  to  study  the 

diagram  of  the  office  as  presented  on  the  page 

following  this.  ^ 
Shortly  after  noon  when  the  messenger  had 

gone  to  lunch,  and  one  of  the  clerks  was  also  out, 

three  men  came  in  and  inquired  for  Mr.  Fraser. 

Two  of  them  were  shown  into  his  office.  They  were 

tall,  stout  men  with  overcoats  on,  which  were  un- 
buttoned. They  went  up  to  his  desk  and  told 

him  they  had  been  informed  that  he  owned  a   lot 

of  land  at  the  corner  of  King  and  Bathurst 

Streets,  which  they  wished  to  buy  in  order  to  erect 
a   factory.  They  stood  so  as  to  intercept  his  view 

through  the  glass  partition  into  the  main  office. 

194 



Ba
ck
  
Do
or
 

A   POLICE  MAGISTRATE 195 

pj 

Mr
. 
 

F
r
a
s
e
r
 
 

2.
  

Fi
rs
t 
 

c
a
l
l
e
r
 
 

3.
  

S
e
c
o
n
d
 
 

Ca
ll
er
 

4>,  
M
a
n
 
 

with  

n
e
w
s
p
a
p
e
r
 
 

5.  
Clerk 



196 RECOLLECTIONS  OF 

The  third  man  came  up  to  the  counter,  and  told 

the  clerk  he  was  just  waiting  for  the  others.  He 

had  a   large  newspaper  which  he  took  out  of  his 

pocket  to  glance  over  while  he  was  waiting,  and 

held  it  up  in  both  hands  wide  open,  looking  up 

and  down,  and  making  sufficient  noise  with  the 

paper  to  prevent  the  movement  of  a   fourth  man 

from  being  heard.  This  last  was  a   small,  active 
fellow,  who  crept  along  under  the  level  of  the 

counter,  slipped  into  the  safe,  seized  a   couple  of 

bundles  of  notes,  and  then  under  the  cover  of  the 

rattling  of  the  paper  opened  the  spring  lock  of 

the  back  door,  and  got  away  with  about  $12,000. 

The  man  with  the  paper,  as  soon  as  this  was  done, 

folded  up  his  paper  and  put  it  in  his  pocket.  This 

was  the  signal  to  the  two  in  Mr.  Fraser’s  room  to 
leave,  and  they  thanked  him  for  some  information 

he  had  given  them  as  to  where  they  could  find 

another  Mr.  Fraser  who  might  own  this  property, 

and  the  three  men  went  away.  It  is  supposed  they 

went  straight  to  the  Union  Station  and  caught  a 
train  for  the  States. 

The  loss  of  the  bills  was  not  discovered  for 

some  hours,  and,  of  course,  no  one  knew  how  it 

could  have  been  done.  Suspicion  fell  on  the  two 

men  who  had  talked  to  Mr.  Fraser,  more  par- 
ticularly when  it  was  discovered  that  the  lot  they 

had  inquired  about  had  never  been  owned  by  a 
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man  of  the  name  of  Fraser.  The  Government 

employed  two  Pinkerton  detectives,  and  every  ef- 

fort was  made  to  discover  the  thieves,  but  with- 

out success.  The  detectives  obtained  enough  in- 
formation from  various  sources  to  satisfy  them 

that  the  theft  had  been  effected  in  the  way  I   have 
described. 



CHAPTER  XXX. 

Legal  Quibbles 

I   HAVE  always  had  a   decided  objection  to  the technical  quibbles  which  appeal  to  so  many 

lawyers.  They  are  often  very  clever  and  in- 

genius ;   they  may  be  called  principles  of  law,  but 

are  certainly  not  in  the  interest  of  real  justice. 

One  case  will  well  illustrate  the  difference  be- 

tween so-called  law,  and  real  justice  and  common 
sense.  A   pickpocket  robbed  a   man  of  about  $50 

on  a   ferry  running  across  the  Toronto  Bay  to 

Hanlan’s  Point  on  the  island  opposite.  The  thief 
was  caught,  the  evidence  was  conclusive,  and  the 
man  was  tried  before  me,  and  committed  to  the 
Central  Prison  for  four  months.  A   conviction 

was  made  out,  and  filed  away,  and  the  Warrant 

of  Commitment  to  the  prison  issued. 

The  clerk  who  made  out  the  conviction  (and  it 

must  be  remembered  that  only  about  one  in  every 

500  or  1,000  is  ever  seen  again),  copying  out  the 

charge  from  the  information,  put  it  that  the 

prisoner  on  a   certain  day,  in  the  Bay  of  the  City 

of  Toronto,  did  contrary  to  law  steal  from  the 
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person  and  against  the  will  of  complainant  $50. 

The  information  read  that  on  a   certain  day  in  the 

City  of  Toronto,  in  the  Bay  of  the  City 

of  Toronto,  the  prisoner  did,  etc.  The  clerk, 

who  was  a   new  hand,  thought  it  unnecessary  to 

repeat  City  of  Toronto.  A   lawyer  saw  the  omis- 

sion a   few  days  later  and  had  the  prisoner  brought 

before  a   Superior  Court  Judge,  and  asked  to  have 

the  conviction  quashed,  because  it  did  not  state 

that  the  offence  had  occurred  in  the  City  of  To- 

ronto. The  line  of  argument  was  that  if  it  had  not 

occurred  in  the  City  of  Toronto,  I   had  no  jurisdic- 

tion; if  I   had  no  jurisdiction  the  conviction  was 

bad,  and  the  prisoner  should  be  set  at  large. 

This  was  actually  done  and  the  prisoner  was 

discharged.  He  had  not  been  wrongly  convicted ; 

I   did  have  the  jurisdiction,  but  on  this  techni- 

cality the  thief  was  set  free.  That  is  called  law. 

The  curious  point  about  this  case  however  was 

that,  as  I   understand,  the  statute  setting  out  the 

boundaries  of  the  City  of  Toronto  includes  the 

Bay  of  the  City  of  Toronto,  and  the  Judge  should 

have  taken  judicial  notice  of  the  statute,  so  that 

he  was  wrong  anyway. 

The  difference  between  that  method  of  ad- 

ministering so-called  law,  and  the  common  sense 

method  of  doing  substantial  justice,  was  well  il- 

lustrated in  another  case  by  the  action  of  Chief 



200 RECOLLECTIONS  OF 

Justice  John  Armour,  one  of  the  greatest  Judges 

who  ever  sat  in  the  Canadian  courts.  A   lawyer 
had  found  some  case  where  no  sworn  evidence 

was  recorded,  that  the  offence  had  occurred  in 

the  City  of  Toronto,  although  it  was  sworn  to  in 

the  information.  The  argument  was  short  and  to 

the  point.  The  Chief  Justice  said: 

‘^Then  tile  an  affidavit  that  it  did  not  occur  in 

the  City  of  Toronto.’’ 

‘‘I  cannot  do  that,”  said  the  lawyer. 
“Why  not?” 

“Because  it  did  occur  in  the  City  of  Toronto.” 

“Then  what  are  you  complaining  of?  Rule  re- 

fused,” said  the  Judge. 
Could  there  be  a   greater  contrast  than  in  these 

two  cases.  One  was  supposed  to  be  law,  but  was  a 

failure  of  justice,  the  other  was  sound  common 

sense  and  straight  justice. 

Another  amusing  illustration  of  legal  quibbling 

was  in  a   case  in  which  there  was  a   by-law  pro- 
hibiting the  playing  of  the  drum  in  the  streets  of 

the  City  of  London,  Ontario,  on  Sundays. 

The  by-law  was  passed,  I   understand,  to  pre- 
vent the  Salvation  Army  from  playing  with  drums 

on  the  street  on  Sunday.  A   man  was  charged  be- 
fore the  Magistrate  with  the  offence,  and  two  or 

three  witnesses  swore  that  they  saw  the  defendant 

walking  along  the  street  vigorously  beating  a 
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drum.  The  magistrate  convicted  the  defendant 

and  put  on  a   small  fine.  The  case  was  taken  np 

before  a   High  Court  judge,  who  quashed  the  con- 
viction because  while  there  was  plenty  of  evidence 

that  the  man  had  been  ̂  Heating^’  the  drum,  there 

was  no  evidence  that  he  had  been  playing^’  the 
drum. 

This  judgment  was  criticized  rather  severely  in 

a   United  States  law  journal,  but  the  best  com- 
ment was  in  an  Irish  law  journal,  which  said  there 

was  only  one  precedent  for  such  a   reading  of  a 

regulation,  and  that  was  in  the  case  of  an  Irish 

station  master,  who  came  upon  a   man  quietly 

smoking  his  pipe  in  the  waiting-room  and  censur- 
ed him. 

‘AVhy  shudn’t  I   smoke  I”  said  the  Irishman. 

‘H)on’t  you  see  that  notice,  ̂ ‘No  smoking  al- 

lowed’?’’ 
^‘Well,  I   am  not  smoking  aloud,”  he  said,  and 

calmly  went  on  with  his  smoking. 

In  Poulin  vs.  City  of  Quebec,  13,  Canadian 

Criminal  Cases,  391:  The  Statute  provided  that 

in  this  case  upon  conviction  the  prisoner  was 

liable  to  a   penalty  of  thirty  days’  imprisonment 
with  hard  labour.  The  magistrate  imposed  thirty 

days,  but  no  hard  labour.  The  prisoner  complain- 

ed and  had  the  conviction  quashed,  on  the  ground 

that  the  magistrate  had  no  discretion  and  must 
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impose  hard  labour  with  the  thirty  days.  A   com- 
mon sense  method  of  dealing  with  that  case  would 

have  been  to  order  the  hard  labour,  but  courts  are 

not  supposed  to  have  common  sense,  and  very 

often  they  have  not.  This  case  shows  that  in  the 

Province  of  Quebec  the  same  principle  prevails 
as  in  Ontario. 

From  September,  1908,  until  September,  1919, 
the  total  of  cases  dealt  with  in  the  Police  Court  in 

Toronto  amounted  to  331,036!  Now  while  in  by- 
law cases  and  petty  offences,  which  are  generally 

dealt  with  by  the  Assistant  Magistrates,  there  has 

been  a   small  proportion  of  decisions  reversed,  I 

felt  that  in  my  special  branchy  fthe  trying  of 

indictable  offences  and  offences  under  the  Crim- 

inal Code,  the  number  of  my  decisions  quashed  by 

the  Superior  Courts  was  very  small  indeed.  I   ask- 

ed Mr.  Arthur  Webb,  who  has  charge  of  the  ap- 

peal books,  to  examine  carefully  and  give  me  a   re- 

port on  the  convictions  appealed  from  my  de- 
cisions during  the  last  eleven  years  and  received 

the  following  report: 
20th  September,  1919. 

Dear  Colonel  Denison: 

In  answer  to  your  inquiry  I   beg  to  say  that  I   have 

gone  carefully  through  my  appeal  books,  and  find  that 

from  1st  September,  1908,  to  1st  September,  1919,  (a 

period  of  eleven  years)  out  of  a   total  of  some  31,800 

indictable  offences  finally  disposed  of  in  the  Police  Court 
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(the  large  majority  of  which  have,  of  course,  been  tried 

by  yourself)  there  has  been  a   total  of  nine  cases  in  which 

an  appeal  has  been  taken  from  convictions  made  by  you. 

Of  these  nine  convictions  only  one  has  been  quashed  on 

appeal — six  have  been  sustained  after  argument  in  the 

Superior  Court — and  the  remaining  two  appeals  were 
not  proceeded  with  by  the  parties  convicted,  and  these 
two  convictions  are  also  confirmed. 

The  net  result  therefore  is  that  in  these  nine  appeals 

during  past  eleven  years,  eight  convictions  were  upheld 

and  one  quashed. 

Yours  sincerely, 

Arthur  A.  Webb, 

Deputy  Police  Court  Clerk. 



CHAPTER  XXXI. 

CoNFiDEisrcE  Games 

IN  July,  1891,  we  heard  of  a   swindle  perpetrat- ed in  Manchester,  England,  which  interested 

me  as  one  of  the  swindlers  passed  himself  off 

as  my  son.  A   man  named  Mercer  had  kept  a   hotel 

for  some  years  on  Queen  Street,  Toronto,  a   little 

over  a   mile  from  my  residence.  He  died  about 

1888.  Shortly  after,  his  widow  went  to  England, 

and  in  time  married  a   hotelkeeper  named  Fisher 

in  Manchester.  She  knew  me  well  by  sight,  and 

knew  of  the  late  County  Court  Judge  Boyd,  who 

was  Avith  me  on  the  Board  of  Police  Commis- 
sioners. 

Two  respectable  and  gentlemanly  young  men, 

as  she  described  them,  came  to  her  husband’s 
hotel  in  Manchester  and  gave  their  addresses  as 

Toronto,  and  their  names  as  W.  F.  Boyd  and  E.  G. 

Denison.  Mrs.  Fisher  hearing  they  were  from 

Toronto  and  hearing  the  names,  asked  aaJio  they 

were,  and  one  claimed  to  be  the  son  of  Judge 

Boyd,  and  the  other  said  he  Avas  my  son.  Mrs. 

Fisher  knowing  that  Judge  Boyd  and  I   were 
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friends,  thought  it  very  natural  that  the  young 

men  should  be  travelling  together. 

To  give  an  impression  that  they  were  all  right, 

the  one  passing  himself  off  as  my  son  said,  that  I 

had  instructed  him  to  buy  some  carpets,  and  he 

went  to  a   shop  and  ordered  about  £80  worth  of 

carpets,  A^dlicll  he  directed  to  be  sent  to  my  ad- 

dress in  Toronto  to  be  paid  for  on  delivery.  The 

carpet  dealer  evidently  understood  his  business, 

and  apparently  sized  up  the  young  man  accurate- 

ly, and  of  course  knew  nothing  of  me,  so  fortunate- 

ly he  did  not  fill  the  order.  Mrs.  Fisher  had  con- 

fidence in  the  young  men  and  it  ended  in  the  so- 

called  Boyd  making  a   draft  for  £100  on  his  father 

('?)  and  asking  her  husband,  Mr.  Fisher,  to  en- 
dorse the  draft,  so  that  the  £100  might  be  got 

without  waiting  to  send  the  draft  first  to  Toronto. 

Fisher  endorsed  the  draft  and  was  swindled  out 

of  the  money.  The  men  were  not  captured  for 

this  fraud,  but  the  detectives  believed  they  were 

convicted  somewhere  in  Western  Ontario  not  long 

afterward  for  another  crime. 

On  another  occasion  I   received  a   telegram  from 

a   hotelkeeper  in  London,  Ontario,  saying  that  a 

man  claiming  to  be  my  son  was  stranded,  and 

wanted  him  to  advance  him  money  to  take  him  to 

Toronto.  I   promptly  wired  back,  ̂ ‘The  man  is  a 
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fraud;  I   have  no  son  in  London.’’  This  hotel- 
keeper  acted  wisely. 

Another  time  a   confidence  man  swindled  a   large 

business  firm  in  Toronto  out  of  about  $200  by  pre- 
tending that  he  was  a   partner  of  mine  in  some 

mining  operations  in  Cobalt.  This  was  very  care- 
less on  the  part  of  the  firm,  for  they  could  have 

inquired  of  me  in  a   quarter  of  an  hour,  but  it  is 

very  annoying  to  me  to  hear  of  swindlers  using 

my  name  to  defraud  people. 

James  Heaman  alias  Chas.  E.  Hall 

In  August,  1914,  a   man  named  James  Heaman 
arrived  in  Toronto  from  Vancouver.  He  claimed 

to  have  been  in  the  grain  business  in  the  West  and 

to  have  cleared  up  a   fortune  in  wheat.  Shortly 

after  his  arrival  in  the  city  he  purchased  a 

grocery  business  on  Bathurst  Street,  in  which  he 

installed  a   young  Scotch  girl  as  manager.  He  also 

interested  himself  in  a   concern  for  manufactur- 

ing shop  fixtures  and  for  doing  electro-plating. 
This  business  was  situated  near  the  corner  of 

Church  and  Queen  Streets.  He  took  up  his  resi- 
dence with  a   very  respectable  family  on  Madison 

Avenue.  He  also  opened  a   bank  account  with  one 

of  the  banks  near  the  corner  of  Queen  and  Yonge. 

He  showed  a   typewritten  statement  of  his  assets, 

wliich  included  10,000  acres  of  fruit  land  and  a 
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large  tract  of  mining  property,  both  in  British 

Columbia.  He  seemed  to  have  plenty  of  money 

and  spent  it  freely. 

On  September  the  10th  of  the  same  year  a   man 

called  at  the  head  office,  here,  of  one  of  the  largest 

milling  companies  in  Canada  and  introduced  him- 

self as  Chas.  E.  Hall,  of  Yorkton,  Sask.  He  said 

he  owned  a   large  farm  in  that  locality,  which  is 

well  known  as  one  of  the  best  wheat  sections  of 

Canada,  and  that  he  had  come  east  to  dispose  of 

50,000  bushels  of  wheat,  which  was  loaded  in  cars 

and  awaiting  his  orders  as  to  where  it  was  to  be 

forwarded.  He  produced  bills  of  lading,  signed 

by  the  C.  P.  B.  agent  of  that  station,  showing  that 

amount  of  wheat  on  the  cars  there,  and  also  giv- 

ing the  numbers  of  the  cars.  The  manager  of  the 

milling  company  and  he  could  not  agree  on  the 

price  the  first  day,  but  on  the  following  day  the 

deal  was  closed  and  the  price  was  $50,000  cash.  He 

asked  to  have  a   draft,  on  a   New  York  bank,  for 

$20,000,  a   draft  for  $20,000  on  a   local  bank,  and  a 

check  for  $10,000,  to  be  given  him.  This  was  done. 

He  then  said  that  he  was  unknown  to  any  of  the 

banks  in  Toronto  and  asked  that  someone  from 

the  company  would  go  over  and  identify  him. 
This  was  done  and  he  cashed  the  check  for  the 

$10,000. 
To  make  sure  about  the  wheat  a   telegram  was 
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sent  to  Yorkton  and  it  was  then  found  out  that 

Hall  was  not  known  and  no  wheat  was  in  cars 

there.  It  was  also  fonnd  that  the  signatures  to 

the  bills  of  lading,  although  having  the  proper 

name  of  the  agent,  were  forgeries.  The  matter 

was  reported  to  the  Detective  Department  at  11 
oYlock  on  the  12th  and  Detective  Guthrie  was 

sent  out  on  the  case.  A   private  detective  had  al- 
ready been  on  it.  It  was  learned  that  a   draft  for 

$20,000  had  been  deposited  to  the  credit  of  James 

Heaman  in  the  latter  ̂ s  bank  and  also  that  Heaman 
had  purchased  a   new  automobile.  Inquiries  at  the 

Parliament  Buildings  disclosed  that  Heaman  had 

just  taken  out  a   new  license  and  the  number  was 

obtained.  The  private  address  could  not  be  ob- 
tained, but  it  was  learned  that  he  had  a   grocery 

business  on  Bathurst  Street.  Hiring  an  auto- 
mobile, the  detectives  hurried  to  Bathurst  Street, 

and  after  a   search  the  shop  was  located.  Guthrie 
entered  the  store  and  asked  for  Heaman.  The 

young  woman  in  charge  said  he  was  not  in,  but 

she  had  just  received  a   telephone  message  that  he 

was  on  his  way  over.  Seating  themselves  in  the 

car,  the  men  waited,  and  presently  Heaman  drove 

up  in  a   new  car.  He  was  accompanied  by  a   party 
of  four.  When  he  was  asked  if  he  had  had  any 

dealings  with  a   milling  company  in  regard  to 

wheat  he  laughed  and  said  no.  He  was  then  told 
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he  had  to  go  to  headquarters.  Taking  a   pass  out 

of  his  pocket  he  handed  it  to  one  of  the  party  and 

told  them  to  go  on  down  to  the  Exhibition,  which 

was  then  on,  and  he  would  meet  them  there  as  he 

had  to  go  down  town  on  some  business.  Arriving 

at  the  City  Hall  Heaman  was  seated  in  one  of  the 

rooms  there  and  the  complainant  was  sent  for. 

When  he  arrived  he  was  shown  Heaman  and  ask- 

ed if  he  knew  him.  He  said  he  did  not,  and  that  he 

was  not  the  man  who  sold  the  wheat.  Then  Hea- 
man was  asked  to  remove  his  hat  and  even  then 

he  was  not  sure  but  thought  it  looked  more  like 
him.  Guthrie  insisted  that  it  was  the  man  and 

began  to  search  Heaman.  In  the  inside 

pocket  of  his  vest  he  found  the  draft  on 

New  York  for  the  $20,000  and  about  $8,000 

in  cash.  Heaman  still  maintained  his  in- 

nocence but  said  that  if  we  would  give  him  till  the 

next  day  he  would  produce  the  right  man.  Four 

hours  after  the  case  was  reported  to  the  Police 

Department  Heaman  was  in  custody.  A   search  of 

his  room  disclosed  a   bundle  of  bills  of  lading  all 

signed  with  the  name  of  the  agent  at  Yorkton. 

What  had  deceived  tlie  milling  man  in  the  identifi- 
cation was  the  fact,  that  on  the  day  following  the 

deal  Heaman  had  the  barlier  remove  his  mous- 

tache. AVe  also  found  the  rough  clothes  which 

Heaman  had  used  to  act  the  ])art  of  a   farmer.  He 
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was  held  and  appeared  before  me,  and  when  the 
evidence  was  heard  he  was  committed  for  trial.  He 

still  denied  having  sold  wheat  to  anyone.  He 

finally  pleaded  guilty  and  was  sentenced  to  two 

years  in  Kingston.  All  the  money  except  $200  was 
recovered. 

It  was  learned  that  this  man  had  been  convicted 

of  bigamy  in  Vancouver  and  was  wanted  in  Wood- 

stock,  Ont.,  for  the  same  offence.  Later  we  learn- 
ed that  a   man  answering  the  same  description  had 

played  the  same  kind  of  game  in  the  West,  and  it 

is  supposed  that  the  money  he  had  received  there 

had  gone  into  the  grocery  business  here. 
*   *   #   * 

A   lady  was  standing  in  front  of  Eaton  ̂ s  shop 
one  day  when  there  was  a   large  crowd  on  the 

'street  and  she  happened  to  notice  a   man  who 
among  others  was  standing  beside  her.  After  she 

left,  she  found  that  her  chatelaine  had  been  open- 
ed and  that  her  purse  had  been  stolen  out  of  it. 

The  purse  contained  $25  and  a   ring  mounting 

three  diamonds,  the  centre  one  larger  than  the 
two  outside  ones.  She  advertised  her  loss  in  the 

papers,  and  offered  a   liberal  reward,  and  she 

notified  the  police. 

The  detectives  a   few  days  before  had  been 

watching  three  men  acting  very  suspiciously  at  a 

street  car  junction,  where  passengers  transferred. 
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They  would  crowd  in,  and  as  if  it  were  too  crowd- 
ed back  out,  and  they  watched  them  for  some 

twenty  minutes.  They  succeeded  in  catching  one 

of  them  in  a   theft,  and  he  was  convicted  and  sent 

to  prison  for  a   year.  The  detectives  suspected 
that  one  of  the  other  two  men,  who  seemed  to 

have  been  working  together,  might  be  the  thief 

who  stole  the  lady’s  purse.  The  lady  recognized 
one  of  them  when  arrested  as  the  man  who  had 

been  standing  close  to  her  in  the  crowd  just  be- 
fore she  missed  the  purse.  When  he  was  searched 

three  unset  diamonds  wrapped  up  in  a   scrap  of 

paper  were  found  on  liim.  The  lady  said  the 

diamonds  were  exactly  like  the  three  that  had 

been  in  her  ring,  but  of  course  unset  diamonds 

cannot  be  absolutely  identified,  and  I   was  much 

puzzled  what  to  do,  for  I   believed  they  were  hers, 
and  that  we  had  the  thief.  Then  the  Counsel  for 

the  defence  began  to  cross-examine  the  witness, 
and  asked  her  if  she  had  not  thought  she  had  lost 

the  pocket  book,  and  he  produced  a   small  news- 
paper cutting  of  her  advertisement  and  read  it 

to  her.  I   broke  in  at  once :   ‘   ̂   Where  did  you  get 

that  cutting  Mr. —   V’  Pie  suddenly  saw  his  mis- 
take, hesitated  and  said  a   man  gave  it  to  him. 

This  was  enough  to  satisfy  me  that  the  thief 
was  connected  with  the  affair  or  he  would  not  be 

likely  to  liave  eitliei’  the  diamonds  or  the  news- 
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paper  cutting,  so  I   convicted  him  and  sent  him  to 

prison,  and  gave  the  lady  the  diamonds  and  five 

dollars  in  money  found  on  him. 
^   ^   ^   ^ 

A   man  found  that  his  milk  which  was  left  on 

his  doorstep  in  the  early  morning,  was  sometimes 
stolen.  He  was  anxious  to  catch  the  thief  so  one 

Sunday  morning  he  and  his  son  got  up  early,  and 

they  prepared  a   hottle  of  soap  and  water  which 
looked  like  a   bottle  of  milk  with  the  cover  on. 

The  milkman  left  the  bottle  of  milk  on  the  door- 

step as  usual  about  5.30  a.m.  and  went  on.  The 

occupant  opened  the  door  quietly,  and  took  in  the 

milk  bottle,  and  immediately  replaced  it  with  the 

bottle  of  soap  and  water.  Around  the  neck  of  this 
he  had  a   white  cotton  thread  attached  with  the 

end  of  the  thread  through  the  crack  of  the  door, 

and  stretched  on  the  floor,  and  then  the  man  and 

his  son  waited  developments.  About  7.30  they 

heard  stealthy  footsteps  and  saw  the  thread  mov- 
ing. They  opened  the  door  quickly  and  saw  the 

next  door  neighbour,  who  was  their  landlord,  with 

the  bottle  hurriedly  entering  his  door.  The  man 

was  brought  before  me  for  the  theft.  I   kept  him 

in  jail  a   day  and  then  fined  him  $5.00  and  costs 

or  thirty  days. 
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The  Bow  oisr  Lombard  Street. 

About  tliirty-five  years  ago  we  had  the cases  connected  with  a   row  on  Lombard 

Street  tried  before  me.  I   had  the  sworn 

evidence  given  in  the  several  charges,  so  that  I 

am  able  to  give  a   detailed  account  of  the  whole 

affair.  At  that  time  there  were  two  brothers 

living  on  Lombard  Street  about  a   hundred  yards 

apart,  named  Jerry  and  Jack  Sheehan,  typical 

Irishmen  of  the  lower  class.  Jerry  and  his  wife 

had  no  family.  Jack  Sheehan  had  married  a 

widow  named  Cronin,  who  had  a   son  Billy  Cronin, 

who  at  this  time  was  about  twenty-two  years  of 

age.  Jack  Sheehan  had  a   daughter  about  ten 

yoai's  of  age  l)y  his  vafe,  who  was  Billy  Cronin  ̂ s 
mother,  and  the  four  lived  together. 

One  day  at  the  races  Jerry  Sheehan  and  Billy 

Cronin  had  some  words,  and  there  was  a   little 

temporary  bad  feeling  between  them.  Two  or 

three  days  after,  Billy  Crojiin  having  a   little  stim- 

ulant on  board,  thought  it  would  be  his  duty  io 

call  on  Jerry  just  to  talk  it  over,  and  about  9.30 

213 
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p.m.  went  into  Jerry  house,  and  as  soon  as  Mrs. 

Sheehan,  who  was  alone,  saw  him,  she  said : 

‘‘Now  Billy  what  brought  you  here?  Now  like 
a   good  boy  go  home.  If  Jerry  comes  in  there  will 

be  trouble.’’ 

“I  will  not,”  said  Billy.  “I  am  going  to  ask 
Jerry  what  he  meant  by  what  he  said  at  the 

races.” 
Mrs.  Sheehan  anxious  to  get  rid  of  him  said, 

“Now  Billy  if  you  will  be  a   good  boy  and  go 

home.  I’ll  treat  you.” 

“Oh  well,”  said  Billy  quite  mollified,  “you 
know  Mrs.  Sheehan  you  and  me  have  always  been 

good  frinds,  and  I   do  not  know  anyone  that  I   am 

more  willing  to  take  a   drink  with  than  yoursilf 

Mrs.  Sheehan.” 
So  she  got  out  the  whiskey,  and  gave  him  a 

drink  and  he  went  off.  Shortly  after  Jerry  Shee- 
han came  in,  went  through  the  front  room  into 

the  kitchen  behind,  and  sat  down  by  the  stove  to 

have  a   smoke  before  going  to  bed.  In  a   few  min- 
utes Billy  Cronin  came  back.  I   did  not  discover 

the  reason,  but  it  was  either  to  get  another  drink, 

or  because  he  had  been  taunted  outside  by  some 

of  his  chums,  that  he  was  afraid  of  Jerry.  As 

soon  as  Jerry  saw  him  he  jumped  up  and  said, 

“Get  out  of  my  house  Billy  Cronin!” 
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won%’’  said  Billy.  ‘^What  made  you  spake 

to  me  the  way  you  did  at  the  races  T’ 

ye  don’t  git  out  at  once  I’ll  put  ye  out.” 
Billy  answered,  ye  think  you  can  pit  me 

out  this  is  a   good  time  to  try.” 
Then  the  fight  began.  They  struggled  for  some 

time,  the  furniture  was  tumbled  about,  and  with 

much  difficulty  Jerry  forced  Billy  into  the  front 

room,  and  over  to  the  door.  The  noise  of  the 

struggle  was  heard  on  the  street,  and  a   crowd 

gathered  in  front  of  the  house.  A   constable  saw 

the  crowd  and  walked  up  to  see  what  was  the 

matter.  He  arrived  there  just  as  Jerry  had  over- 

mastered Billy,  and  had  opened  the  door,  intend- 
ing to  throw  him  out. 

Billy  noticed  the  constable  and  said, 

Jerry,  there’s  a   cop;  I   don’t  want  to  be 

arrested.” 
Jerry  stopped,  looked  out,  saw  the  constable 

and  said, 

‘H’ll  not  be  the  manes  of  putting  any  man  in 
the  hands  of  the  police,  and  he  pulled  Billy  in  and 
shut  the  door. 

The  position  then  was  peculiar.  They  were 

both  out  of  breath,  the  furniture  was  all  tumbled 

about,  and  Billy  was  still  in  Jerry’s  house.  They 
stood  looking  at  each  other  for  some  minutes  and 

then  Jerry  said. 
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^^Now  Billy  you  will  go  out  the  back  door.’’ 
‘^No  I   won’t.” 

you  do  not  go  out  the  back  door  I’ll  put  you 

out.  ’   ’ 
Billy  said,  you  think  you  can  do  it,  put  me 

out,  just  try.” 
Then  the  struggle  began  again,  and  with  great 

efforts  Jerry  got  him  back  through  the  front  room 

and  kitchen  to  the  back  door.  He  got  the  back 

door  open  and  flung  Billy  out,  sending  him  spraw- 
ling on  the  ground  in  the  back  yard.  Then  Jerry 

called  out  to  him. 

Billy,  if  you  jump  over  the  fince,  and  go  round 

by  the  lane  you  will  miss  him.”  He  then  bolted 
the  door,  and  began  to  rearrange  the  furniture. 

While  all  this  was  going  on,  the  rumour  spread 

down  the  street,  and  Billy  Cronin’s  mother  heard 
that  Jerry  Sheehan  was  murdering  her  son  Billy. 

She  ran  down  and  burst  into  Jerry’s  front  door, 

crying  out  Who’s  murthering  my  son  Billy?” 
Jerry  had  just  returned  to  the  front  room  as  she 

came  in.  ‘‘Get  out  of  this,”  he  shouted,  and 
shoved  the  door  against  her,  which  threw  her  to 

the  pavement,  where  she  straightened  herself  out, 

and  was  temporarily  “kilt  intirely”.  She  was 
picked  up  by  the  neighbours  and  carried  to  her 

house,  and  put  on  her  bed,  and  they  ran  for  the 
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whiskey  bottle,  and  gave  her  a   potion  which  cured 

her  with  marvellous  rapidity. 

At  this  time  Jack  Sheehan,  her  husband,  was 

over  at  Dan  Dwan’s  spending  the  evening  talking 
politics,  with  a   few  of  the  elite  of  the  street.  His 

little  girl  had  seen  her  mother  carried  into  her 

house,  and  ran  over  to  Dan  Dwan’s,  and  rushed 
in  and  up  to  her  father  who  was  quietly  smoking, 

calling  out, 

‘‘Oh,  Da,  Da!  Ma’s  killed.’^ 

Jack  says,  “Your  Ma’s  killed,  who  was  it  killed 

her!’’ 
“It  was  Uncle  Jerry  killed  her.’’ 

“Humph,  I   must  see  about  that,”  said  Jack, 
and  shaking  the  ashes  out  of  his  pipe,  he  put  it 

into  his  pocket,  and  went  over  to  his  wife  do  find 

her  recovered,  under  the  peculiar  system  of  first 

aid  to  the  wounded  that  prevailed  in  Lombard 
Street. 

The  story  of  Jerry  Sheehan  having  “kilt”  Mrs. 
Jack  spread  from  end  to  end  of  the  short  street, 

and  a   considerable  crowd  gathered  in  front  of 

Jerry’s,  thinking  that  something  should  be  done 
to  express  the  sentiments  of  the  Lombard  Street 

people,  and  their  strong  disapproval  of  Jerry’s 
conduct.  Lombard  Street  in  those  days  was 

macadamized,  and  very  soon  the  crowd  began 

throwing  stones  through  the  windows.  Jerry 
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being  inside  would  have  been  in  a   bad  way,  but 

for  one  fact,  and  that  was  that  his  wife  had  a 

taste  for  flowers,  and  she  had  two  little  shelves 

along  her  two  front  windows,  and  on  each  shelf 

a   row  of  little  flower  pots  about  four  inches  high 

with  little  plants  sticking  up  in  each.  As  the 

stones  flew  in  Jerry  kept  up  a   fusilade  with  the 

flower  pots  as  long  as  they  lasted,  and  by  the  time 

they  gave  out,  a   posse  of  police  hurried  up,  dis- 
persed the  crowd  and  arrested  a   number  of  them. 

Every  window  in  the  front  of  the  house  was 
broken. 

The  next  morning  I   had  about  a   dozen  of  these 

prisoners  to  try  for  various  offences.  Disorderly 

conduct,  assault,  throwing  missiles  on  the  street, 

etc.  It  took  me  nearly  a   week  to  try  them,  but  I 

did  not  grudge  the  time  for  I   went  into  it  with 

great  formality,  inquiring  into  every  minute  de- 
tail in  order  to  get  a   complete  story  of  the  most 

typical  Irish  row  I   ever  had  to  deal  with. 
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Detective  Stories. 

ONE  of  our  detectives  gives  me  the  follow- inging  two  incidents : 

Some  years  ago  a   shop  was  burglarized 

in  the  city.  Two  detectives  were  sent  down  to  in- 
vestigate and  on  the  way  back  met  a   coloured  man 

who  kept  a   little  shop.  He  told  them  that  a   couple 

of  tough  looking  customers  had  been  in  his  place, 

just  a   short  time  before,  trying  to  sell  some  things 

which  he  felt  sure  they  had  stolen.  He  did  not 

buy  from  them  but  arranged  for  them  to  call  back 

in  two  or  three  hours.  ‘‘Now,’^  said  he,  ‘‘if  you 
Avill  just  keep  away  from  around  my  place  I   will 

see  that  you  have  them  safe  in  the  cage  before 

noon.^’ 
He  told  the  officers  that  these  men  were  in  the 

habit  of  shooting  crap  in  a   certain  lane  with  a 

number  of  others,  and  asked  them  to  arrange  to 

have  two  men  at  each  end  of  it  at  a   certain  time, 

the  two  nearest  to  where  the  game  was  going  on 

were  to  walk  out  where  they  could  be  seen.  There 
would  be  a   scramble  for  the  other  end.  Two  of 

2t9 
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the  men  would  have  white  marks  on  the  hacks  of 

their  coats.  ‘^Grab  the  fellows  with  the  marks 
on,  and  the  job  that  was  done  last  night  will  be 

cleared  np.’’ 
Shortly  afterwards  the  two  men  came,  as  they 

thought,  to  dispose  of  their  booty.  The  darkey 

had  been  watching  and  saw  them  coming.  He  rub- 
bed some  chalk  on  the  palms  of  his  hands  and  was 

ready  for  action. 

His  otfer  was  so  ridiculously  low,  that  they 

turned  in  disgust  to  go  away  and  just  as  they  did, 

a   big  black  hand  came  down  on  each  of  their 

shoulders,  with  the  remark,  ‘^Well,  boys,  it’s  the 

best  I   can  do  for  you.”  The  suggestions  were 
carried  out  to  the  letter.  The  two  men  were  caught 

with  the  goods  on  them.  When  taken  to  police 

headquarters  their  coats  were  carefully  brushed 

while  the  search  was  in  progress. 

I   do  not  think  that  they  ever  understood  how 

they  happened  to  be  caught  out  of  a   gang  of 

twenty,  when  they  were  the  only  two  that  had 

stolen  property  in  their  possession.  They  thought 

perhaps,  that  luck  was  just  against  them. 
*   *   *   * 

In  September,  1913,  a   shrewd  looking  gentle- 
man who  called  himself  Robert  Vincent  and  gave 

his  address  as  the  Prince  George  Hotel,  got  in 
touch  with  a   lumber  dealer  of  Toronto  named 
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Daniel  Madden  and  placed  before  Mm  a   very 

tempting  proposition  to  make  some  easy  money 

by  purchasing  a   block  of  stock  in  the  Wheloc  Re- 
inforced Cork  Boat  Company,  which  he  had  been 

fortunate  enough  to  get  hold  of  through  a   sick 

farmer  he  had  met,  who  had  no  idea  of  its  value. 

Said  stock  could  be  purchased  for  about  $5.00  a 

share,  and  he  knew  a   broker  in  Philadelphia  who 

was  buying  all  he  could  get  hold  of  for  $8.50  a 
share. 

Madden  got  somewhat  suspicious  and  consulted 

the  Police  Department,  with  the  result  that  two 

men  were  instructed  to  follow  up  the  matter  and 

keep  in  touch  with  developments.  The  result  was 

that  Vincent  and  the  sick  farmer  were  caught  in 

the  act  of  trying  to  sell  Madden  $20,000  worth  of 
stock  in  a   concern  that  never  existed.  Both  men 

were  locked  up  on  charges  of  vagrancy,  and  sub- 
sequently a   charge  of  attempting  to  obtain  money 

by  false  pretences  was  laid.  At  the  time  of  their 

arrest  they  had  more  than  $4,000  in  their  posses- 
sion, which  they  would  have  cheerfully  parted 

from  in  exchange  for  their  freedom  if  the  police 

had  been  purchasable.  Investigation  proved  them 

to  be  confidence  men  of  international  reputation. 

Vincent ’s  correct  name  was  Charles  Gondorf .   The 
sick  farmer  who  gave  his  name  as  John  Fair, 
turned  out  to  be  Samuel  Gerne  for  whom  the 
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police  of  the  United  States  had  been  searching 

for  more  than  two  years,  on  a   charge  of  getting 

$40,000  by  a   game  similar  to  that  which  they  were 

trying  to  carry  ont  here.  Gondorf  had  been  ar- 
rested in  New  York  City  on  this  same  charge, 

and  was  out  on  $25,000  bonds  when  arrested  here. 

These  men  during  their  criminal  career  had  got 

hundreds  of  thousands  of  dollars,  had  been  ar- 
rested several  times,  but  through  influence  of 

crooked  politicians,  bribery,  etc.,  they  never  had 

been  convicted  or  spent  more  than  a   few  hours  in 

jail  while  the  machine  was  put  in  motion.  The 

methods  which  had  kept  them  out  of  jail  in  the 

United  States  helped  to  keep  them  in  jail  in  Can- 

ada ;   for  although  represented  by  an  Ontario  law- 
yer from  Welland,  who  was  also  a   Member  of 

Parliament,  a   lawyer  from  New  York  City,  and 

also  one  from  Chicago,  not  to  speak  of  a   New 

York  politician,  and  a   gentleman  from  a   promin- 
ent bonding  company,  who  were  prepared  to  put 

up  twenty  thousand  dollars  bail  for  their  appear- 

ance, they  spent  six  weeks  over  the  ‘‘Don’’  on  re- 
mand or  awaiting  trial.  At  last  they  were  brought 

before  a   High  Court  Judge,  and  were  allowed  out 

on  five  thousand  dollars  bail.  Gerne  was  rear- 

rested and  taken  back  to  New  York  for  trial.  Gon- 

dorf got  out  of  the  country  as  soon  as  he  could 

get  a   train  to  take  him.  Neither  of  them  turned 
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up  for  trial  and  the  bond  was  handed  over  to  the 

Government.  Through  their  unceremonious 

treatment  in  the  Toronto  Police  Court,  they  must 

have  lost  their  prestige  in  their  own  country,  for 

shortly  after  their  return  to  New  York  Gondorf 

was  sent  to  Sing  Sing  for  five  to  ten  years,  and 

Gerne  from  one  to  three  years. 

In  carrying  out  their  bogus  stock  swindling 

transactions  they  had  one  of  their  gang  conduct- 

ing a   bogus  brokerage  office  in  the  ‘‘DriscolP^ 
Building  in  Philadelphia,  while  another  member 

of  the  outfit  was  supervising  a   phoney  boat 

factory  at  Linden,  N. J.,  where  the  unsinkable  cork 

boat  was  supposed  to  be  made.  With  the  excep- 
tion of  the  New  Jersey  mosquito  swamps,  the 

nearest  water  was  twenty  miles  away.  In  selling 

the  stock  the  intended  victim  was  always  requested 

to  call  up  by  ’phone  the  Philadelphia  broker,  and 
find  out  what  he  was  paying  for  it,  or  the  manager 

of  the  Linden  factory  for  information  regarding 

the  number  of  boats  they  were  turning  out.  The 

information  was  always  satisfactory. 
#   *   *   * 

One  day  I   was  trying  a   prisoner  for  stealing  a 

watch  from  a   man’s  pocket.  The  evidence  was 
very  clear ;   the  watch  was  traced  to  the  thief  and 

recovered.  The  counsel  for  the  defence  cross- 

questioned  the  complainant  with  great  vehemence. 
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and  asked  Mm  if  he  had  not  mislaid  or  lost  his 

watch.  The  witness  denied  this,  and  said  it  had 

been  picked  from  his  pocket.  The  counsel  vehem- 

ently argued  that  this  was  impossible  without  it 

being  noticed.  The  Crown  Attorney,  Mr.  Corley, 

was  sitting  close  alongside  the  counsel,  who  was 

intently  engaged  in  the  cross-examination,  and  he 

very  deftly  slipped  the  counsePs  watch  out  of  his 

pocket  without  his  knowledge,  and  took  it  around 

to  the  Chief  Inspector  in  charge  of  the  Court  and 

asked  him  to  hand  iLup  to  me  on  the  Bench.  I 

laid  it  on  my  calendar  till  the  counsel  had  con- 
cluded his  tirade  upon  the  witness,  and  looking 

at  the  clock  on  the  wall  of  the  Court  I   took  out  my 

watch  and  asked  if  the  clock  was  right.  The 

counsel  looked  for  his  watch  and  said, 

‘‘Someone  has  taken  my  watch.  I   had  it  a   few 

minutes  ago.’’ 

I   said,  “perhaps  this  is  your  watch,  it  was  hand- 
ed to  me  by  the  Inspector  just  now,  when  you  were 

insisting  that  no  one  could  take  a   watch  from  a 

man  without  his  noticing  it.  See  if  this  is  your 

watch.  ’   ’ 
He  knew  then  that  Mr.  Corley  had  picked  his 

pocket.  He  took  the  joke  very  good  naturedly, 

although  he  was  sometimes  chaffed  about  it. 



CHAPTEK  XXXIV. 

Miscellaneous  Incidents. 

The  following  report  appeared  in  The  To- ronto Neivs  March  3rd,  1913 : 

Sent  a   Lawyer  to  Say  He  was  Dead  ! 

Magistrate  Denison  called  upon  to  arbitrate 
the  McGrath  difficulties. 

The  comedy  in  the  Police  Court  this  morning  was  sup- 

plied by  the  well-known  headliners  Mr.  and  Mrs.  Mike 
McGrath.  Mrs.  McGrath  said  that  Mike  had  refused  to 

pay  her  the  $3.00  per  week  that  the  Court  had  ordered. 

“I  gave  her  $5.00  a   couple  of  days  ago/^  said  Mike. 

^^Go  on,  you  villain,  you  never  did,”  said  his  wife. 

^^She  stole  $300  off  me,  your  Honour,”  accused  Mike. 

^^Oh !   you  low,  low  thing !   I   never  did.  How  did  you 

make  your  money  anyway?  By  selling  ffiooze’?”  con- 
tinued his  better  half. 

‘d  didn’t  sell  booze.  It  was  you  that  wanted  to  sell  it, 

and  I   stopped  you,”  defended  Mike. 

^^Gaze  on  him,  your  Honour,”  continued  Mrs.  Mike, 

striking  a   dramatic  pose.  “The  grandfather  of  twenty- 

five.  Isn’t  he  a   nice-looking  bum?  He  sent  a   lawyer 

here  to  report  that  he  was  dead.” 

“Well,  he  isn’t  is  he?”  commented  Magistrate  Denison. 
225  'j  I   , 
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Mike  Pays  Up 

^^No,  Pm  not,  your  Honour,’’  verified  Mike,  ̂ 'and  I 

never  sent  a   lawyer  to  say  I   was.” 

^'Well,  will  you  pay  her  the  $3.00  f ’   asked  the  Magis- 
trate. 

“Yes,  I   will.  It’s  worth  it  to  get  rid  of  her.  I’ve  been 

keeping  her  whole  family  for  years,”  said  Mike,  as  he 
handed  over  the  cash. 

The  case  was  then  adjourned  until  called  on. 

An  elderly  Scotch  woman  was  arrested  one  day 

for  stealing  some  articles  in  a   department  shop, 

and  came  up  in  court  the  next  morning  for  trial. 

The  Police  Court  Matron,  the  late  Mrs.  Whiddon, 

was  looking  after  her,  and  the  woman  was  in  great 

distress,  asking  her  what  she  ought  to  do.  Mrs. 

Whiddon  said  she  might  get  a   lawyer  if  she  could 

pay  for  one.  The  woman  told  her  that  her  hus- 
band had  $200.00  in  the  bank  which  they  had 

saved  up,  and  she  asked  her  to  see  her  husband 

about  getting  a   lawyer.  Mrs.  Whiddon  found  the 

husband  waiting  for  the  court  to  open,  and  she 

advised  him  to  secure  a   lawyer  for  his  wife. 

canna  dae  that,^’  he  replied,  canna  af- 

ford it.’’ 

‘‘Your  wife  told  me  you  had  over  $200  in  the 

bank.” 
“Ou  aye,  I   ken  that,  but  that  was  saved  up  for 

an  emairgency.” 
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A   man  was  up  before  me  once  for  stealing  a 

sovereign  from  a   neighbour.  There  was  a   strong 

case  of  suspicion  but  the  man  insisted  the  sover- 
eign which  was  found  in  his  possession  was  a 

keepsake  which  had  been  given  to  his  wife  at 

their  wedding.  The  wife  was  called  to  corrobor- 
ate this,  and  she  swore  that  the  sovereign  had 

been  in  their  possession  since  her  marriage.  I 

asked  in  what  year  they  were  married,  and  when 

she  told  me,  I   said,  ‘   ‘   Then  this  cannot  be  the  same 

one  for  it  was  not  coined  for  several  years  after’’. 
I   convicted  the  thief  and  gave  the  sovereign 

back  to  the  owner. 

*   *   * 

I   have  often  received  peculiar  letters.  The 

following  is  from  a   poor  woman  whose  son  was 

up  for  some  small  theft : 

Toronto,  Oct.  12th, 
Colinel  Denison 

Ser 

Mrs.  Goaldstone  is  appealing  to  you  for 

leanisy  for  my  son  that  as  erred  and  strayed  like  a   lost 

sheep,  wieh  he  is  truly  sorry.  He  is  a   kind  good  boy  to 

me,  never  toches  drink  I   am  a   widdow  and  getting  old 

it  is  a   sad  blow  to  me  I   am  a   respectable  woman  and 

worked  nearly  20  years  for  the  late  Mrs.  .   .   .   and 

assist  in  the  pantry  meny  times  when  you  was  at  her 

diner  partyes.  I   lost  a   kind  good  friend  to  me,  as  }'Ou  are 

a   parent  be  lenient  to  j^our  humble  servant. 
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A   man  stole  a   good  suit  of  clothes  from  another 

man’s  house,  and  left  his  own  old  suit  in  place  of 
it.  He  escaped  and  was  not  arrested  for  some 

months,  and  was  then  brought  before  me  for  the 

theft.  After  hearing  the  evidence,  which  was 

strong  against  him,  I   asked  him  if  he  had  any- 
thing to  say.  He  claimed  that  the  complainant 

had  stolen  his  suit  first.  I   asked  him  if  he  had 

another  suit  of  clothes.  He  said,  ‘‘No.” 

I   said,  “Then  you  must  have  been  naked  when 

you  stole  the  complainant’s,”  and  I   promptly 
sentenced  him. 

*   *   *   * 

A   little,  old-fashioned  woman  unaccustomed  to 

the  ways  of  Court  was  in  the  witness-box  giving 
evidence  evidently  for  the  first  time. 

As  she  was  telling  her  story  to  the  Crown  At- 
torney, I   suddenly  asked  her  a   question.  She  was 

a   little  affrighted  by  this  unexpected  attention, 

and  making  an  old  style  curtesy  she  replied  with 

some  awe,  “Yes,  Oh,  Lord”. 

I   have  been  called  “Your  Worship,”  Your 

Honour,”  “Your  Reverence”  and  “Your  Ma- 

jesty”, but  seldom  has  anyone  shown  such  respect 
for  the  Court  as  this  old  body  did. 

A   Horse  Theft  Case 

On  one  occasion  some  years  ago  I   had  a   most 
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peculiar  case  in  connection  with  the  straying  of 

a   young  horse  belonging  to  a   widow  which  escaped 

from  its  pasture,  and  found  its  way  to  a   farm 

some  miles  away,  where  it  joined  the  farmer’s 
horses.  The  farmer  thought  he  recognized  it  as 

the  property  of  a   neighbour  v/ho  lived  not  many 

miles  away.  He  alloAved  it  to  pasture  with  his 

own  horses,  until  the  neighbour  would  come  for  it, 

through  carelessness  the  matter  lapsed  for  some 
weeks  and  when  he  told  his  friend  that  his  horse 

was  with  his  horses,  the  friend  denied  knowing 

anything  about  it,  and  said  his  horse  was  at  home. 

The  horses  were  very  much  alike. 

The  farmer  after  further  delay  and  further  ef- 
forts to  discover  the  owner,  sold  the  horse  to  a 

man  for  fifteen  dollars,  who  not  long  after  sold  it 

to  a   pedlar  for  forty-five  dollars.  The  pedlar 
used  it  in  his  business  for  a   considerable  time. 

One  day  the  railway  man  at  a   railway  crossing  on 

Bloor  Street,  saw  the  pedlar  driving  the  horse, 

and  was  satisfied  that  it  was  the  widow’s  horse 
that  had  been  stolen  or  had  strayed  away  months 

before.  He  told  the  widow  of  it,  and  she  asked 

him  to  tell  the  pedlar  if  he  saw  him  again,  to  call 

and  see  her  as  she  had  some  things  she  wanted  to 
sell. 

When  the  pedlar  came  to  her  place  she  recog- 
nized the  horse  at  once  as  tlic  one  she  thouglit  had 
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been  stolen  from  her  field.  The  pedlar  was 

charged  before  me  with  stealing  the  horse.  He 

said  in  defence  that  he  had  bought  the  horse  from 

a   man  he  knew  (some  time  before)  and  that  he 

could  procure  him.  When  this  man  was  brought 

before  me,  he  admitted  that  he  had  sold  the  horse 

but  said  he  had  bought  it  from  a   farmer  named 

Moffatt  for  fifteen  dollars.  Moffatt  was  sum- 

moned to  appear  in  Court,  and  told  of  the  horse 

having  strayed  into  his  place,  and  that  not  being 

able  to  find  the  owner,  he  had  sold  it  for  fifteen 
dollars. 

After  hearing  all  the  evidence  I   said,  ‘‘This 

horse  belongs  to  the  v/idow  and  always  has,’’  and 
I   told  Moffatt  to  pay  back  the  fifteen  dollars  to 
the  man  to  whom  he  had  sold  the  horse.  I   told 

the  purchaser  to  pay  back  the  forty-five  dollars 
to  the  pedlar  from  whom  he  had  received  it,  and 

said :   ‘   ‘   The  horse  will  go  to  the  owner.  ’   ’   This  was 
settled  in  a   few  minutes,  and  I   think  on  equitable 

principles  and  without  costs. 



CHAPTER  XXXV. 

Mrs.  Sweeney’s  Case  and  the  Handwriting  on 

THE  Wall. 

There  was  an  old  Irishman  named  Sweeney who  lived  in  a   street  principally  occnpied  by 

working-class  Irish  people.  He  had  only  one 
eye,  and  his  wife,  like  many  others  on  the  street, 

had  a   fluent  tongue,  and  a   vocabulary  liable  to 

excite  interest.  On  one  occasion  she  got  into  an 
altercation  with  one  of  the  other  women  on  the 

street,  and  very  soon  a   fight  began.  Almost  im- 
mediately each  woman  had  a   firm  grasp  of  the 

other ’s  hair.  They  were  pulling  each  other  about, 

when  the  other  woman’s  little  boy,  about  seven 
or  eight  years  of  age,  picked  up  a   stick  and  poked 

it  at  Mrs.  Sweeney,  saying,  Leave  my  mammy 

alone!  Leave  Mammy  alone!”  In  his  attempts 
to  push  Mrs.  Sweeney  away,  the  end  of  the  stick 

put  her  eye  out. 

This  ended  the  fight.  Mrs.  Sweeney  was  taken 

to  a   hospital.  The  boy  was  arrested  on  a   charge 

of  doing  grievous  bodily  harm,  and  was  bailed  to 

come  up  in  court.  Feeling  ran  pretty  high  in  tlie 
231 
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street.  I   knew  from  the  beginning  that  I   would 

not  send  so  young  a   child  to  jail,  but  the  woman 

was  in  the  hospital,  and  she  had  lost  her  eye,  and 
I   felt  the  matter  deserved  a   formal  trial. 

I   tried  the  case  with  great  deliberation,  ad- 

journing it  several  times,  waiting  for  Mrs. 

Sweeney  to  get  well,  and  for  feeling  to  become 

quiet.  I   heard  of  several  witnesses  being  present, 

called  them  and  heard  their  evidence,  and  when  I 

thought  I   had  exhausted  the  witnesses,  someone 

said  that  a   Mrs.  Lever  was  present  at  the  time. 

I   said,  must  hear  her  evidence’’,  and  I   ad- 
journed the  case  for  that  purpose. 

When  she  appeared  I   thought  she  was  worth 

waiting  to  see.  She  was  a   little  thin  pasty-faced 

looking  woman,  with  the  remains  of  a   black  eye, 

and  a   bright  little  pink  end  to  her  nose.  She 

wore  a   little  shabby  broAvn  circular  cape  or  short 

cloak,  and  a   pointed  conical  gray  felt  hat  with  a 

narrow  rim  around  it,  curled  upwards  and  from 

the  top  point  of  the  hat  stood  a   wilted  cock’s 
feather  in  anything  but  a   jaunty  style.  The  tout 

ensemble  was  perfect. 
I   asked  her  what  she  knew  about  the  affair. 

She  told  me  the  whole  story  very  clearly,  with  an 

evident  bias  in  favour  of  the  Sweeneys.  When 

she  had  finished  her  evidence,  standing  in  the 
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witness  box  close  to  me,  she  said  in  a   low  tone  in 

her  rich  Irish  brogue, 

‘‘This  is  a   sad  case,  your  Worship/’ 

“Yes,  it  is,”  I   said. 

“Oh,  yes,”  she  repeated,  “a  very  sad  case. 

Those  poor  people,  the  Sweeneys — do  you  know, 

your  Worship,  they  have  three  little  orphans.” 

“How  do  you  make  that  out,”  I   said;  “the  par- 

ents are  both  alive.” 

“Och!  sure  I   know  that,  yer  Worship,  but  what 
are  they  but  orphans,  with  the  parents  with  only 

one  pair  of  eyes  betwixt  the  two  of  them.” 

That  finished  the  case,  but  the  boy  was  re- 
manded for  sentence. 

The  Handwriting  on  the  Wall 

On  the  night  of  Monday,  May  18th,  1908,  the 

Grand  Trunk  Railway  station  and  the  Canadian 

Express  Company’s  office  at  Hawkstone,  Ontario, 
were  burglarized,  and  some  money  and  a   number 

of  railway  tickets  and  express  orders  stolen.  On 

the  following  Thursday  Mr.  Wilson  and  Mr.  Mit- 

chell of  the  Canadian  Express  Company’s  Yonge 
Street  office,  reported  the  matter  to  the  Toronto 

police,  stating  tliat  one  of  the  money  orders  had 

been  cashed  by  their  paying  teller  on  the  previous 

evening  by  a   woman  who  signed  her  name  as 

“Warren”.  The  numbers  of  the  stolen  orders 
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had  not  been  supplied  to  them  nntil  some  hours 

afterwards.  Consequently  they  were  without 

suspicion,  and,  remembering  so  little  about  it, 

they  could  not  even  give  a   description  of  the 

woman.  The  teller  did,  however,  remember  that 

while  he  was  in  the  act  of  paying  over  the  money, 

a   young  woman  employed  as  a   stenographer  with 

C oilier Weekly  stepped  up  to  the  wicket,  and 

gave  a   little  smile  of  recognition  to  the  woman  who 

was  getting  the  money.  It  was  quite  easy  to  find 

out  from  C oilier who  the  employee  was  that 

had  been  at  the  express  office  the  evening  before, 
but  when  interviewed  she  had  no  recollection  of 

the  person  wanted,  more  than  that  she  had  at- 
tended a   business  college  with  her  for  a   short  time 

two  years  previously,  but  she  had  never  seen  her 

since  until  the  evening  before.  She  promised, 

however,  to  try  to  recall  her  name,  and  when  seen 

a   few  hours  afterwards,  said  that  she  was  still 

unable  to  think  of  the  name,  but  did  remember 

having  seen  her  write  her  name  on  the  wall  of 

the  girls’  cloak  room  of  the  college.  The  spot 
was  very  minutely  described.  In  a   short  time  the 

name  was  found  on  the  wall.  The  principal  of 

the  college  remembered  something  of  the  girl  and 

thought  her  home  was  in  the  country,  and  that 

she  had  been  staying  in  Toronto  with  friends.  No 

entry  of  her  name  could  be  found  in  his  books. 
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The  city  directory  was  next  consulted,  and  showed 
that  there  were  five  families  of  the  name  in  the 

city,  but  none  of  them  called  Margaret,  and  Mar- 

garet was  the  one  wanted.  A   note  of  the  ad- 
dresses of  the  five  families  was  made.  It  was 

decided  first  to  visit  a   family  on  St.  Vincent 
Street  because  it  was  the  nearest.  When  this 

house  was  approached  it  showed  such  signs  of 

wealth  and  responsibility,  that  it  was  almost 

planned  to  leave  it  until  the  other  four  were  tried. 

It  was  finally  decided,  however,  to  inquire.  So  the 

door  bell  was  touched  very  gently,  and  almost  im- 

mediately a   refined  looking  young  woman  answer- 

ed. Miss  Margaret   was  very  politely  inquired 

for.  She  said,  That  is  my  name.”  After  recov- 
ering from  the  shock,  an  interview  on  a   very  im- 

portant business  matter  was  requested  and 

granted.  The  object  of  the  visit  was  explained 

without  ceremony.  Indignant  denial  was  the  first 

attitude.  Then  a   compromise  by  admitting  that 

she  had  passed  the  order.  Had  just  met  a   young 

man  at  ̂ ‘King  and  Yonge”  that  she  had  never  seen 
before,  who  requested  her  to  cash  the  order  and  re- 

turn themoney.  It  was  explained  how  very  unusual 

and  dangerous  a   thing  it  was  for  a   young  wom- 
an to  assume  a   false  name,  and  commit  forgery 

for  a   person  she  had  no  interest  in.  She  finally  de- 

cided that  it  was  unsafe  to  lie  any  more,  and  said 
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she  could  show  where  the  man  lived.  She  put 
on  her  hat  and  went  direct  to  a   house  on  Elm 

Street  and  walked  in.  She  was  closely  followed, 

and  two  men  were  found  in  an  upstairs  room, 

partly  dressed,  with  a   loaded  revolver  near  them. 

The  railway  tickets  and  money,  orders  were  all 

found  in  the  room,  excepting  the  one  which  had 

been  passed.  Most  of  the  money  had  been  spent. 

They  subsequently  admitted  everything.  One  of 

the  two  had  been  an  operator  and  station  master 

at  the  place  a   year  or  so  before  the  robbery.  Both 

were  brought  before  me  in  the  police  court  and 

ordered  to  be  taken  to  Barrie,  Ontario,  for  trial. 

They  both  pleaded  guilty. 

The  young  woman  had  been  a   friend  of  one  of 

the  men  years  before  when  they  were  both  attend- 
ing a   country  school.  When  she  wrote  her  name 

on  the  wall,  she  little  thought  that  she  was  laying 

a   trap  to  land  her  friend  and  one  of  his  chums, 

in  prison. 



CHAPTER  XXXVI. 

Mistaken  Identity  and  Inexpensive  Extradition. 

IN  October,  1898,  a   man  named  Mackenzie  was brought  up  before  me  charged  with  stealing 

goods  from  the  Grand  Trunk  Railway  sheds 

near  John  Street,  Toronto.  The  Grand  Trunk  con- 
stable swore  that  he  saw  Mackenzie  with  another 

man  close  to  the  sheds,  on  the  day  the  theft  took 

place,  and  a   second-hand  dealer  swore  that  Mac- 

kenzie had  sold  to  him  the  stolen  property.  The 

second-hand  dealer  was  positive,  but  Mackenzie 

vigorously  protested  that  he  was  innocent.  I   re- 
called the  constable,  and  he  repeated  that  he  had 

seen  the  prisoner  that  afternoon  on  the  top  of  the 

lull  near  the  freight  shed. 

Mackzenie  said,  ‘‘No,  you  did  not,  you  saw  me 
at  the  foot  of  the  hill.’^ 

Some  other  evidence  was  taken  and  I   was  still 

hesitating,  and  told  the  Crown  Attorney,  Mr. 

Curry,  that  I   was  not  quite  sure  about  it,  and 

referred  to  some  weak  point  in  tlie  evidence,  as 

to  the  identification.  Mr.  Curry  at  once  said, 

237 
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‘‘The  man  himself  says  that  the  constable  saw 
him  at  the  foot  of  the  hill/’ 

This  seemed  conclusive,  so  I   convicted  him  and 

sent  him  to  the  Central  Prison  for  eighteen 

months,  for  he  was  an  old  offender. 

He  was  sent  to  the  jail,  and  the  next  morning 

I   received  a   message  from  the  Governor  of  the 

jail,  saying  that  there  must  have  been  a   mistake, 

as  Mackenzie  had  only  been  released  from  the  jail 

the  day  after  the  theft  had  been  committed.  This 

was  investigated  and  found  to  be  correct.  I   tele- 
graphed at  once  to  the  Minister  of  Justice  to  order 

his  release.  The  man’s  lie  about  the  foot  of  the 
hill  was  the  only  cause  of  the  mistake.  The  real 

criminal,  as  we  discovered  later,  was  remarkably 
like  Mackenzie. 

Inexpensive  Extradition  System 

A   few  years  ago  a   jewelry  shop  in  Toronto 

was  robbed  and  about  five  hundred  dollars  ’   worth 
of  jewelry  stolen.  No  trace  of  thieves  or  property 

was  found  for  about  a   week  afterwards,  and  the 

Jew  that  had  been  robbed  was  getting  very  fidgety. 

About  this  time  the  Chief  of  Police  got  a   telegram 

from  a   town  in  the  United  States,  advising  him 
that  three  men  had  been  arrested  there  after  a 

running  gun  fight,  and  that  during  the  chase  they 

had  thrown  a   package  of  jewelry  in  the  river 
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but  had  still  some  on  them  when  searched.  Names 

and  addresses  were  given  but  were  not  familiar 

to  any  one  in  the  detective  department.  It  was 

thought  wise,  however,  to  send  a   man  to  have  a 

look  at  the  men  and  their  plunder. 

All  three  men  were  identified  as  Toronto  thieves 

with  police  records.  Some  pieces  of  jewelry  were 

also  identified  by  initials,  etc.  The  officer  in  charge 

of  the  station  was  present  at  the  identification  and 

asked  the  prisoners  whether  they  were  willing  to 

return  to  Canada  without  extradition  papers,  ad- 

vising them  at  the  same  time  that  the  only  way 

they  could  be  taken  out  of  the  United  States  was 

by  their  consenting  to  return  voluntarily,  or  by 

proper  extradition  process,  which  was  very  costly. 

He  was  informed  that  they  all  liked  the  .United 

States  and  didnT  much  care  for  Canada.  The 

Toronto  officer  was  then  asked  whether  these  men 

had  ever  been  convicted  of  crime  and  said  he  was 

informed  that  they  had  been.  After  thinking  for 

a   few  seconds,  the  Chief  remarked  that  the  town 

had  always  borne  the  reputation  of  being  able  to 

produce  thieves  enough  of  its  own,  without  har- 

bouring outsiders.  He  then  called  one  of  his  desk 

Sergeants  and  inquired  how  many  meals  they  had 

had  that  day.  (It  was  then  5.30).  He  was  in- 

formed that  they  liad  liad  two.  The  Sergeant 

was  then  instructed  that  in  future  they  were  to 
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have  but  one,  and  it  was  to  be  made  smaller  every 

day  they  remained.  The  prisoners  were  then 

ordered  back  to  their  cells,  and  the  Toronto  man 

had  to  go  home  empty-handed.  A   few  hours  after 
his  return  a   telegram  was  received  by  the  Chief 

requesting  him  to  send  officers  by  first  train  to 

bring  back  three  men  who  were  wanted  for  burg- 

lary— no  papers  required.  Two  men  were  sent 
after  them  at  once,  and  it  was  doubtful  if  any  three 

men  were  ever  more  delighted  to  get  out  of  the 

United  States.  They  talked  about  nothing  but 

roast  beef  all  the  way  home. 

All  three  were  convicted  in  Police  Court  and  got 
stiff  sentences. 



CHAPTER  XXXVII. 

The  Vakcoe  Mukder  and  Miscellaneous  Items. 

ON  the  morning  of  the  9th  November,  1899, two  burglars  entered  the  home  of  one  John 

E.  Varcoe,  who  kept  a   grocery  shop  on 

Queen  Street,  Toronto,  and  armed  with  revolvers 

intimidated  the  inmates  and  stole  what  money 

they  could  find.  Varcoe  attempted  to  resist 

them,  and  both  burglars  fired  at  him,  giving 
him  wounds  of  which  he  died  in  a   few  hours. 

Varcoe  had  lost  his  wife  a   year  before,  and 

his  little  four-year-old  girl  was  sleeping  with 
him,  and  was  so  close  to  the  pistol  that  her  face 

was  burned  by  the  powder  of  the  discharged 

weapon.  Some  of  the  inmates  had  raised  an  alarm, 

and  the  burglars  got  out  of  the  first  floor  windows, 

and  Constable  Dickson,  running  up,  called  on  them 

to  surrender.  One  of  the  burglars,  named  McIn- 

tosh, succeeded  in  getting  to  the  pavement  without 

injury,  and  attempted  to  run  away.  Dickson  fol- 

lowed him  and  fired  several  shots  at  him,  one  tak- 

ing effect,  from  which  he  died  a   few  days  after. 

The  other  man,  Williams,  as  lie  was  getting  out, 
241 
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was  struck  with  a   chair  by  Varcoe^s  brother,  which 
sent  him  to  the  pavement  heavily,  and  stunned  and 

injured  him  so  that  he  was  easily  captured  by 

Police  Sergeant  Willis,  who  ran  up  at  the  time. 

McIntosh  died  in  hospital,  and  the  hospital  sup- 
erintendent said  he  was  the  worst  man  he  had  ever 

met.  He  died  a   horrible  death,  raging  against 

everything  and  everybody.  Williams  was  tried, 

convicted  and  hanged.  Police  Constable  Dickson 

was  promoted  at  once,  and  is  now  Acting  Chief 
Constable. 

*   #   *   * 

When  the  late  Mr.  Dexter  was  License  Inspector 

he  had  a   young  Englishman  employed  to  go 

around  the  liquor  dives  of  the  city  and  obtain  all 

possible  information  regarding  their  business 

methods  and  transactions.  The  result  was  that  sev- 

eral persons  were  brought  into  court  charged  with 

violation  of  the  liquor  law. 

The  young  man  referred  to  was  the  principal 

witness  in  most  of  the  cases.  Consequently  the 

lawyer  for  the  defence  at  once  centered  his  ener- 
gies in  discrediting  his  evidence. 

After  the  Crown  Attorney  got  through,  this  wit- 

ness was  put  through  a   very  severe  cross-examina- 

tion, but  without  shaking  his  evidence  on  any  es- 
sential point.  An  attempt  was  then  made  to  try 

and  discredit  him  by  getting  a   history  of  his  past. 
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‘‘How  long  have  you  been  in  Canada T’  asked 
the  lawyer. 

“A  little  over  a   year/’  he  was  told. 

‘   ‘   How  long  in  Toronto  !   ’   ’ 

“Ever  since  I   came  to  the  country.” 

“Ever  in  jail?” 
“No.” 

“Ever  arrested?” 
“No.” 

“How  did  you  earn  your  living  in  England?” 
“Working.” 
“At  what?” 

“Book-keeping.” 

“Don’t  you  think  that  it’s  a   rather  a   long  step 
downward  from  a   respectable  book-keeper  to  a 

whiskey  informer?” 

“There  is  still  hope  so  long  as  I   don’t  take  an- 

other long  step  downwards  and  become  a   lawyer,  ’   ’ 
was  the  unruffled  answer. 

*   *   *   * 

About  two  o’clock  one  morning  two  inquisitive 
policemen  noticed  a   man  walking  along  Queen 

Street  West,  who  seemed  to  have  something  con- 

cealed under  liis  overcoat.  The  policemen  quick- 
ened their  walk  in  order  to  catch  up.  Tlie  man 

noticed  it  and  took  to  his  heels  down  a   side  street, 
but  was  soon  overtaken  and  searched.  Several 
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bottles  of  liquor  of  various  kinds,  as  well  as  a 

quantity  of  cigars,  were  found  in  his  possession. 

A   little  investigation  proved  that  he  had  just 

robbed  a   hotel  a   few  minutes  before  he  was  caught. 

When  one  of  the  policemen  was  giving  his  evi- 

dence in  the  case  he  told  the  Court,  that  while 

running  down  the  side  street,  the  prisoner  had 

pulled  a   bottle  of  brandy  out  of  his  pocket  and 

thrown  it  at  his  head.  The  Magistrate  inquired 

what  part  of  the  head  he  had  aimed  at.  The 

constable  yawned — perhaps  he  was  sleepy — he  had 

been  out  all  night,  and  replied  in  a   sort  of  sorrow- 

ful tone,  ‘‘If  it  was  at  me  mouth  he  missed  it.’’ 

Quaint  Expressions 

I   once  received  a   letter  addressed  to  me  at  the 

“Sitty  All”,  Toronto,  evidently  from  an  English- 

man who  dropped  his  h’s. 
A   witness  in  an  assault  case  said  the  defendant 

had  punched  him  in  the  face,  causing  a   large 

“ulster”  on  his  eye,  the  biggest  the  doctor  had 
ever  seen. 

A   woman  once  called  at  the  clerk’s  office  to 

complain  that  another  woman  had  used  “very 

“unseen”  language  to  her  (obscene).  Another 
witness  told  of  a   defendant  travelling  under  a 

‘   ‘   consumed  name  ’   ’. 
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The  well-known  ‘‘Ned’’  Clark  showed  his  Irish 

origin  by  informing  the  court  that  “Victoria  was  a 
more  remarkable  Queen  than  George  III  ever 

was”. 
A   constable  was  sent  to  make  inquiry  from  a 

prisoner‘s  employer  as  to  how  he  had  worked 
lately.  He  brought  back  the  report  that  the  man 

had  worked  ten  years  for  this  employer.  The  first 

eight  years  were  satisfactory,  the  last  two  years 

were  unsatisfactory,  the  last  six  months  he  was  a 

nuisance,  and  the  last  two  months  he  was  an  in- 
tolerable nuisance. 



CHAPTER  XXXVIII 

Edward  Levi  Baugh 

IN  the  year  1915  Col.  Stimson,  a   well-known stock-broker,  of  Toronto,  entered  action  against 
Edward  Levi  Baugh,  a   mining  and  real  estate 

broker  of  Montreal,  to  recover  $28,000,  the  balance 

due  on  the  purchase  price  of  mining  stock.  The 

total  amount  of  the  purchase  price  was  $30,000. 

In  this  action  it  was  proved  that  Baugh  had  pur- 
chased these  stocks,  although  he  claimed  that  he 

had  only  taken  an  option  and  had  never  under- 

taken to  purchase  them.  However,  on  the  docu- 
ment produced  the  Court  held  that  it  was  a 

straight  sale  and  gave  judgment  for  $28,000  with 

costs.  Baugh  appealed  and  the  judgment  was  sus- 
tained. This  brought  the  total  amount  of  the 

judgment  to  $30,000.  In  order  to  realize  on  his 

judgment  it  was  necessary  for  Stimson  to  appear 

in  the  Courts  of  the  Province  of  Quebec,  as 

Baugh  ̂ s  assets  were  in  Montreal.  About  the  time 
the  case  was  to  come  up  in  Montreal  Baugh  ap- 

peared in  Toronto,  in  company  with  an  officer  from 

the  High  Constable  ^s  office,  Montreal,  and  the  lat- 
246 



A   POLICE  MAGISTRATE 247 

ter  held  a   warrant  for  Stimson’s  arrest  and  also  a 
search  warrant  for  the  offices.  The  officer  applied 

to  the  Detective  Department  here  for  an  officer  to 

accompany  him  which  was  granted.  A   number  of 
letter  books  were  seized  and  taken  to  Montreal. 

When  Stimson  appeared  in  Court  in  Montreal  to 

answer  to  a   charge  of  obtaining  money  by  false 

pretences  he  was  confronted  by  his  own  letter 
book  and  asked  to  look  at  some  of  the  letters  there. 

Although  he  admitted  that  the  signatures  were  his, 

he  asserted  that  he  had  never  seen  the  letters  be- 

fore. These  letters  showed  that  Baugh  had  only 

taken  an  option  on  the  mining  stocks  and  had  not 

purchased  them  as  claimed  by  Stimson  in  the  civil 

action.  Stimson  was  found  guilty  and  in  order  to 

escape  the  penalty  he  agreed  to  forego  his  judg- 
ment and  this  was  accepted. 

Stimson  returned  to  Toronto  and  although  he 
knew  that  he  had  never  written  the  letters  that 

appeared  in  his  books,  yet  he  was  unable  to  ex- 
plain their  presence  in  his  books. 

About  six  months  afterwards  a   man  named 

Gariepy  arrived  in  Toronto  and  asked  for  an  inter- 

view with  Col.  Stimson.  The  interview  was  grant- 
ed, and  he  explained  that  he  had  been  engaged  in 

the  employ  of  Baugh  at  Montreal  as  stenographer 

during  the  years  1914  and  1915,  and  was  still  in  liis 

employ  and  had  just  come  to  Toronto  on  a   holiday. 
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He  said  the  reason  he  had  come  np  was  that  he 
wanted  to  make  a   clean  breast  of  what  had  taken 

place  in  connection  with  the  arrest  of  Stimson.  He 

told  how  Bangh  had  approached  him  some  months 

in  advance  of  the  arrest  and  explained  how  he  had 

been  fleeced  by  Stimson.  He  said  that  if  he  could 

get  possession  of  the  letter  books  of  the  Colonel, 

he  could  show  letters  that  would  prove  the  original 

transaction  was  an  option  and  not  a   straight  sale. 

He  then  asked  Gariepy  to  go  with  him  to  Toronto 

and  if  possible  get  possession  of  the  books.  The 

latter  agreed,  as  he  thought  Baugh  had  been 
wronged. 

Arriving  in  Toronto,  Baugh  registered  at  the 

King  Edward  Hotel  in  his  own  name,  and  Gariepy 

registered  at  the  Hotel  Mossop  as  J.  B.  Hender- 
son, Ottawa.  Baugh  got  in  touch  with  one  Pett,  a 

young  man  who  he  thought  was  still  in  the  employ 

of  Stimson.  The  three  met  in  Baugh ’s  room  at  the 
King  Edward  Hotel  and  Baugh  asked  Pett  if  he 

had  a   key  to  the  offices.  The  latter  informed  him 

that  he  was  no  longer  in  the  employ  of  the  Colonel, 

as  he  had  been  discharged,  and  was  not  on  friendly 

terms  with  Stimson.  Baugh  then  asked  where  the 

books  were  kept  and  the  locality  of  the  vault.  This 

Pett  gave  to  him  but  when  asked  if  there  was  any 

way  of  forcing  the  premises  he  refused  to  have 

anything  to  do  with  the  matter,  telling  Baugh  that 
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he  would  be  committing  a   criminal  offence  by 

breaking  into  a   man^s  office.  Blocked  in  that  direc- 
tion, Baugh  then  wanted  Pett  to  get  in  touch  with 

the  caretaker,  and  if  possible  get  him  drunk  and 

get  the  keys  of  the  office  from  him.  Pett,  instead, 
warned  the  caretaker  to  have  nothing  to  do  with 

them.  Baugh  impressed  Pett  with  the  idea  that 
the  letters  were  in  the  books  which  would  clear 

him.  Pett  did  not  warn  Stimson  of  what  was 

planned. 

Next  day  Gariepy,  who  was  unknown  at  the 

Stimson  office,  strolled  through  the  building  and 

learned  that  the  vaults  were  in  the  hallway  lead- 
ing to  the  offices  and  next  to  the  lavatory.  He  also 

saw  that  they  were  open,  and  stepping  quickly  into 

the  vault  he  sized  up  the  position  of  the  books  and 
also  learned  that  each  book  was  indexed  on  the 

back  with  the  dates  between  which  the  letters  were 

written.  He  then  returned  to  the  hotel  and  gave 

this  important  information  to  Baugh.  He  was 

instructed  as  to  the  dates  that  the  letters  were  sup- 
posed to  have  been  written  on  and  asked  to  get  the 

books  with  those  dates  on  them.  Gariepy  returned 

to  the  offices  and  going  into  the  vault  grabbed  one 

of  the  books  and  ran  into  the  lavatory.  Here  he 

placed  it  under  his  overcoat  and  went  back  to  the 

King  Edward.  After  looking  this  one  over  Baugh 
expressed  it  to  Montreal.  He  addressed  it  to  an 
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office  next  door  to  where  he  had  his  office  and  used 

a   fictitious  name.  He  then  returne.d  to  Montreal 

but  instructed  Gariepy  to  remain  in  Toronto,  and 

if  possible  get  two  other  books  which  he  required 

to  carry  out  his  scheme.  This  Gariepy  did  and  on 

the  next  day  he  stole  the  other  two  books.  He  then 

returned  to  Montreal.  On  the  last  day  he  was 

here  he  received  a   letter  from  Baugh,  evidently 

written  on  the  train,  warning  him  to  be  careful 

and  not  to  trust  Pett,  as  he  might  post  Stimson. 

After  he  arrived  in  Montreal  he  and  Baugh  went 

over  the  books  and  in  the  place  where  the  letters 

were,  which  Stimson  had  written  to  him,  showing 

the  sale  of  these  stocks,  he  and  Gariepy  planned  to 

put  other  ones  showing  that  it  was  an  option.  In 

order  that  they  might  have  sheets  with  the  page 

numbers  on,  the  same  as  the  ones  in  the  book, it  was 

necessary  to  buy  a   new  book.  They  then  found 

that  they  could  not  purchase  such  a   one  in  Mont- 
real and  it  was  necessary  for  Baugh  to  come  to 

Toronto,  which  he  did.  He  finally  located  a   place 

on  Adelaide  Street  where  this  style  of  book  was 

sold  and  he  purchased  one.  Again  he  returned  to 

Montreal.  Gariepy  claims  that  it  was  about  this 

time  that  he  really  became  aware  of  what  Baugh 

was  planning  to  do,  but  he  made  up  his  mind  he 

would  go  through  with  it.  When  they  came  to 

make  copies  of  letters  similar  to  the  ones  in  the 
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book,  they  found  it  would  be  necessary  for  them 

to  have  an  Underwood  typewriter  and  as  the  one 

they  had  was  of  a   different  make  they  rented  a 

typewriter  from  the  Underwood  Company,  but 

had  the  lease  made  out  in  the  name  of  the  Hy- 

gienic Ice  Company,  of  which  Baugh  was  the  Pre- 
sident. The  tape  being  new  on  the  machine,  it  was 

necessary  to  use  it  some  time  before  it  would  copy 

letters  dim  enough  to  match  the  ones  in  the 

books.  This  took  some  time.  It  was  then  neces- 

sary to  have  the  wording  of  the  letters  as  near 

perfect,  as  regards  the  language  used  by  the 

Colonel,  as  possible.  Gariepy  says  they  made  a 

dozen  copies  before  they  got  one  that  they 

regarded  as  satisfactory. 

After  the  letters  were  all  prepared  the  books 

were  taken  apart  and  the  new  letters  inserted  in- 

stead of  the  originals.  They  then  took  the  books 

to  a   bookbinder  named  Murray  and  had  them  re- 

bound. Now  everything  was  in  shape  except  the 

signature  of  Stimson  to  the  letters.  Finally  Baugh 

found  an  old  cheque  with  the  ColonePs  endorsation 

on  the  back.  Gariepy  traced  this  over  with  copy- 
ing ink  and  after  dampening  this  he  transferred  it 

to  the  letters. 

Everything  was  now  complete  and  again  Gari- 

epy came  to  Toronto  and  after  registering  at  the 

Prince  George  Hotel  as  Henderson  of  Ottawa,  lie 
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proceeded  to  secretly  place  the  letter  books  back 

into  the  vault.  This  he  succeeded  in  doing  without 

being  detected.  He  then  returned  to  Montreal 

and  Baugh  swore  out  a   warrant  for  Stimson  with 

the  result  as  stated  in  the  beginning. 

When  Gariepy  was  asked  where  his  evidence 

was  to  back  this  up  he  showed  that  all  the  time  he 

was  helping  Baugh  he  was  double-crossing  him. 
He  produced  the  telegram  from  Baugh,  and  also 

all  the  different  copies  they  had  made  when  they 

were  attempting  to  duplicate  the  letters  of  Colonel 

Stimson.  He  also  had  the  dates  they  were  in  Tor- 
onto, and  the  name  of  the  bookbinder  who  put  the 

books  together. 

When  this  state  of  affairs  was  brought  to  the  at- 

tention of  the  City  Crown  Attorney  the  latter  or- 
dered warrants  to  be  issued  for  Baugh  on  the 

three  charges.  Detective  Guthrie  was  given  the 

warrants  and  instructed  to  go  to  Montreal  and  as 

quietly  and  promptly  as  possible  get  Baugh,  and 

have  him  returned  here  as  it  was  thought  that 

Baugh  would  make  a   big  fight  before  leaving 

Montreal.  This  was  attempted,  but  it  was  found 

that  he  would  have  to  come  anyway,  so  his  solici- 

tor, Mr.  Laflamme,  who  had  been  called  in,  advised 

him  to  come.  He  appeared  before  me  and,  after 

hearing -the  evidence,  he  was  committed  for  trial. 
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Baugh  claimed  then  that  it  was  a   conspiracy  to 

get  him,  hut  when  confronted  with  all  the  docu- 
ments he  could  not  convince  the  jury  who  tried 

him,  and  he  was  found  guilty.  He  appealed  and 

was  granted  a   new  trial  but  again  he  was  found 

guilty.  He  again  appealed  but  the  conviction  was 

sustained  and  on  February  14th,  1917,  he  was 

sentenced  by  his  Honour,  Judge  Winchester,  to 

five  years  in  Kingston  Penitentiary.  This  case 

dragged  on  for  fourteen  months  from  the  time  of 
his  arrest. 

The  most  extraordinary  thing  about  the  case 

was  that  this  criminal,  one  of  the  most  daring  and 

cunning  otfenders  in  my  experience,  was  released 

by  the  Minister  of  Justice  in  three  or  four  months 

on  the  pretence  of  ill-health. 



CHAPTER  XXXIX. 

The  Children’s  Court 

IN  1892  we  instituted  the  Children’s  Court.  It was  not  really  a   separate  court,  but  we  set 

apart  a   small  room  in  the  lower  part  of  the 

City  Hall,  with  a   table  and  a   few  chairs,  and  I   was 

accustomed  to  go  down  to  that  room  to  try 

all  charges  against  children,  in  order  to  keep 

them  out  of  the  public  court.  I   allowed  no 

one  in  except  the  parties  immediately  in- 
terested in  the  case  being  tried.  The  child 

or  children  stood  in  front  of  the  table  op- 
posite to  me,  the  clerk  sat  at  the  end  of  the  table, 

the  Crown  Attorney  at  my  elbow.  The  represen- 

tatives of  the  Children’s  Aid  Society,  and  the  St. 
Vincent  de  Paul  Society,  were  both  present.  I 

would  hear  the  evidence,  and  the  parents  were 

generally  present.  If  I   felt  that  punishment  was 

necessary,  I   would  send  the  child  to  the  Children’s 
Aid  Society,  or  the  Roman  Catholic  School  for 

children,  for  a   few  days,  and  give  the  culprits  a 

scolding,  and  warn  them  to  behave  themselves  in 

the  future.  Sometimes  I   put  a   tine  on  for  the  par- 
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ents  to  pay,  if  I   thought  they  were  negligent  and 

required  a   lesson. 
When  the  Victoria  School  was  established  at 

Mimico  the  incorrigible  boys  were  sent  there. 

Reporters  were  not  admitted  to  the  Children’s 
Court,  and  everything  was  done  in  a   quiet  and  un- 

assuming manner,  so  much  so,  that  after  we  had 

been  doing  good  work  for  years  on  the  lines  still 

used,  it  was  not  generally  known  that  we  had 
such  a   court  in  Toronto. 

I   understand  that  the  Court  was  carried  on  for 

eight  years  before  any  court  of  the  kind  was  start- 

ed in  any  part  of  the  world.  In  1904  Sir  Howard 

Vincent  was  passing  through  Toronto,  and  came 
to  sit  with  me  on  the  Bench.  I   took  him  with  me 

into  our  Children’s  Court.  He  was  intensely  in- 
terested in  the  idea,  and  asked  many  questions, 

and  gathered  all  the  information  he  could  obtain 

about  it.  After  his  return  to  England,  he,  as  a 

Member  of  the  House  of  Commons,  brought  up  the 

matter  in  the  House,  and  succeeded  in  securing 

legislative  action  and  establishing  the  system  in 

England. 

After  this  a   certain  Judge  Lindsay  of  Denver, 

Colorado,  went  about  lecturing  in  favour  of  estab- 

lishing juvenile  courts.  I   imagine  he  was  sur- 

prised when  lie  found  one  had  been  established  in 

Toronto  some  fifteen  years  before  he  came  hei’c. 
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In  1912,  a   Juvenile  Court  was  established  form- 

ally by  law,  and  a   Commissioner  placed  at  the  head 

of  it,  with  a   large  staff.  Rev.  Mr.  Starr  was  the 

first  Commissioner,  an  excellent  and  kindly  gentle- 

man. He  died  not  long  after  his  appointment,  and 

the  late  Commissioner,  Mr.  Boyd,  was  appointed 
as  his  successor. 

Before  leaving  this  question  I   wish  to  pay  tri- 

bute especially  to  Mr.  Duncan  of  the  Children's 
Aid  Society,  and  the  late  Mr.  Patrick  Hynes  of  the 

St.  Vincent  de  Paul  Society,  for  the  excellent  ser- 

vice and  assistance  they  rendered  me  during  the 

eighteen  years  that  I   held  the  Court. 

I   am  under  the  impression  that  the  first  Special 

Women  ^s  Court  was  also  started  in  Toronto.  Sev- 

eral organizations  of  women  had  been  agitating 

for  a   separate  court  for  women.  Some  years  ago 

at  a   meeting  of  the  Police  Commissioners  the 

Mayor  mentioned  that  he  had  been  spoken  to  about 

it.  I   said  to  him,  ‘‘Let  the  Council  place  the  room 
next  to  the  Police  Court  at  my  disposal  and  I   will 

establish  a   court  for  women  at  once.^’ 

Very  soon  I   had  the  room,  and  at  once  estab- 

lished the  court,  where  the  women  are  tried  separ- 

ately, away  from  the  mob,  and  we  are  fortunate  in 

having  the  assistance  of  a   few  ladies  of  the  chari- 

table organizations.  We  also  appointed  two  wo- 

men to  act  as  constables  and  only  lawyers  and  wit- 
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nesses  engaged  in  the  court  are  admitted,  and  no 

reporters  are  allowed  in.  This  has  been  an  excel- 
lent regulation,  and  a   great  advantage  to  many 

girls  up  for  minor  causes,  and  for  the  first  time, 

and  to  many  who  may  possibly  be  retrieved.  Lady 

representatives  of  the  charitable  organizations, 

are  always  present,  and  I   often  appeal  to  them  to 

assist  in  cases  where  a   kindly  helping  hand  will 

prevent  a   young  girl  from  going  astray.  The 

comfort  to  a   judge  of  having  aid  of  this  kind  can- 
not be  overestimated,  and  I   gladly  testify  my 

gratitude  to  these  kind  ladies. 

After  this  Court  had  been  working  for  some 

time  and  had  attracted  a   good  deal  of  attention, 

the  Attorney-General,  Mr.  Foy,  meeting  me  casu- 

ally said:  ‘‘What  is  this  I   hear  about  a   Women ^s 
Court  being  established?  How  could  that  happen 

without  my  knowing  anything  about  it  ?   ’   ̂ 

I   replied,  “You  were  busy,  and  I   did  not  want  to 
bother  you,  as  it  was  no  trouble  to  me  to  establish 

it,  when  the  Mayor  and  Corporation  gave  me  the 

room,  and  I   was  not  bound  to  hold  my  court  in  any 

particular  room.^^  This  private  court  for  women, 
especially  for  young  women,  is  one  of  the  most 

satisfactory  institutions  in  the  city,  especially 

when  aided  as  we  are  by  the  Salvation  Army,  the 

representatives  of  tlie  Good  Shepherd,  the  Dea- 

conesses of  the  Church  of  England,  and  the  Pres- 
byterian Home. 



CHAPTER  XL. 

Some  Police  Court  Reporters 

For  some  ten  years  back  one  of'  the .ablest,  if  not  the  ablest,  Police  Court  re- 
porter we  ever  had,  has  been  reporting  for 

The  Evening  Telegram.  Mr.  H.  M.  Wodson  is  still 

engaged  by  that  paper,  and  writes  daily,  very 

humorous  and  interesting  accounts  of  the 

varied  stories  of  human  life,  which  are  un- 

ravelled day  by  day.  He  has  a   high  reputa- 
tion all  over  the  Province,  and  his  reports  of  the 

court  proceedings  are  read  from  one  end  of  the 

country  to  the  other.  Often  when  I   am  away  from 

home  and  meet  strangers,  they  refer  to  my  court, 

and  tell  me  they  are  constantly  reading  about  my 

work  in  the  Police  Court  inTheToro^ito  Telegram. 

In  1917  Mr.  AVodson  published  a   book  called 

‘‘The  WhirlpooP’  or  “Scenes  from  Toronto  Police 

Court.’’  It  is  a   remarkably  clever,  bright  book, 
and  most  interesting  to  the  general  reader,  and 

conveys  a   good  moral  lesson  to  all  who  read  it. 

While  these  Recollections  have  been  passing 

through  The  Canadian  Magazine  I   reached  the  age 
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of  eighty  years  and  the  day  before  my  birthday 

six  of  the  reporters,  who  regularly  attend  the 

Police  Court,  came  to  my  private  room  and  pre- 

sented me  with  a   copy  of  Viscount  J ellicoe  ̂ s  book. 
The  Grand  Fleet with  kind  wishes  on  my  birth- 

day. Mr.  Wodson  was  the  spokesman,  and  at  the 

front  of  the  book  was  inserted  a   neatly  printed 

page  with  the  following  inscription : 

A   TRIBUTE 

To  Colonel  G.  T.  Denison  on  the  occasion  of 

his  80th  birthday,  August  31st,  1919. 

Well,  Colonel,  you  have  had  a   day, 

Much  longer  than  most  men.  Sir, 

But  n’er-the-less,  we  do  not  pray 

That  you  should  say  ̂ 'Amen,  Sir.” 

Such  men  as  you  are  hard  to  find. 

Astute,  and  just,  and  bluff.  Sir, 

The  world  is  richer  for  your  kind. 

You’re  made  of  first-rate  stuff.  Sir. 

We’ve  watched  your  work  upon  the  Bench 
And  oft  extolled  your  sense.  Sir; 

And  felt  your  jokes  with  painful  wrench — 

Now  please  don’t  take  offence.  Sir. 

If  asked  to  guess  why  you’ve  held  out 
Against  attack  and  slam.  Sir, 

We’d  say  at  once  beyond  a   doubt 
You  do  not  care  a   damn,  Sir. 
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Athol  Gow, 

H.  R.  Drew, 
^^Telegram. 

S.  C.  Cain, 
^^Star.’’ 

Signed, 

Harry  M.  Wodson, 

"'Telegram.’’ 
Tom  Levine, 

”   “Telegram.” 

P.  D.  Daniels, 

“Times.” 

The  verses  were  written  by  Mr.  Wodson.  I   was 

very  much  gratified  at  the  kindly  and  friendly  feel- 
ing evinced  in  the  whole  affair,  a   feeling,  which  I 

thoroughly  reciprocated. 



CHAPTER  XLI. 

Assistant  Magistrates 

For  many  years  I   was  the  only  Police  Magis- trate in  Toronto,  and  when  occasionally 

absent  it  was  necessary  to  have  one  or  two 
Justices  of  the  Peace  to  attend  to  the  Court.  I 

have  had  the  assistance  in  this  way  of  a   number  of 

gentlemen  who  placed  me  under  great  obligations 

to  them  for  their  help. 

One  of  the  ablest  of  these  men  was  the  late  Al- 

derman John  Baxter,  J.P.,  who  for  many  years 

attended  the  Court  when  I   happened  to  be  absent. 

He  was  a   man  of  great  natural  ability,  with  plenty 

of  common  sense,  although  not  a   man  of  much  edu- 
cation. His  decisions  were  rarely  upset.  On  one 

occasion  the  late  Hon.  John  Hillyard  Cameron, 
the  leader  of  the  Bar  and  Treasurer  of  the  Law 

Society,  was  acting  before  Mr.  Baxter  in  a   case 
where  the  construction  of  a   statute  was  involved. 

Mr.  Cameron  argued  with  much  ability  and  ear- 
nestness in  favour  of  a   certain  construction  of  the 

clause.  When  he  had  finished  Mr.  Baxter  said 

very  coolly,  do  not  agree  with  your  view  in  this, 
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Mr.  Cameron.  I   construe  that  statute  in  this 

way’^  And  he  gave  the  decision  against  Mr. 
Cameron.  His  decision  was  carried  to  the  Court 

of  Appeal  and  Mr.  Baxter’s  ruling  was  upheld. 
He  was  much  pleased,  and  when  he  met  Mr.  Cam- 

eron he  said  to  him,  ̂ ‘Well,  you  see,  Mr.  Cameron, 

I   was  right  on  that  point”.  ̂ ^Yes”,  replied  Cam- 

eron, ‘H  thought  you  were  all  the  time.” 
There  were  a   number  of  other  Justices  of  the 

Peace  who  were  very  helpful  to  me,  and  I   wish  to 

testify  my  gratitude  to  them.  Neil  C.  Love,  J.P., 

J.  B.  Boustead,  J.P.,  Hugh  Miller,  J.P.,  Jacob 

Cohen,  J.P.,  were  the  foremost  among  them.  Af- 
terwards Rupert  E.  Kingsford  was  appointed 

Deputy  Police  Magistrate,  and  for  years  has  been 

working  with  me,  taking  a   share  of  the  work  deal- 

ing with  all  the  by-law  cases,  and  taking  my  court 
in  case  of  my  illness  or  absence.  Mr.  Ellis  has 

since  the  annexation  of  West  Toronto  Junction,  of 

which  he  was  Police  Magistrate,  been  also  of  great 

assistance  in  the  Court.  Mr.  Jacob  Cohen  was  ap- 
pointed to  act  as  a   Justice  of  the  Peace  some  years 

ago,  but  both  Mr.  Ellis  and  he  have  been  recently 

appointed  Police  Magistrates,  so  that  now  there 
are  four  of  us. 

I   must  express  the  satisfaction  with  which  I   look 

back  upon  my  association  with  all  these  men,  for 
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all  of  whom  I   hold  the  highest  esteem  and  confi- 
dence. 

I   must  also  refer  to  the  Clerk  of  the  Police  Court 

and  the  Assistant  Clerks,  who  have  always  given 

me  the  most  loyal  support  and  service.  Mr.  Mor- 
rison the  clerk,  and  Mr.  Webb,  the  assistant  clerk, 

have  been  invaluable  to  me.  And  the  various 

underclerks  who  have  been  employed  from  time  to 

time,  have  been  most  reliable  and  industrious  in 

fulfilling  their  duties. 

In  concluding  these  Recollections,  I   wish  to  draw 

a   comparison  between  the  conditions  which  ex- 
isted in  the  police  court  administration  at  the  time 

I   took  my  seat  on  the  Bench,  on  the  2nd  June,  1877, 

(forty- three  years  ago),  and  the  present  state  of 
atfairs.  In  1877  Toronto  had  a   population  of 

about  75,000.  The  number  of  cases  in  the  Police 

Court  in  that  year  was  about  5,000.  I   was  the  only 

Magistrate,  with  one  clerk.  Now  the  population 

is  more  than  half  a   million.  We  have  four  magis- 
trates and  seven  clerks  and  the  cases  in  the  Police 

Court  in  1919  were  30,170. 
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